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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

OVERALL RESULTS
Key performance indicator (Financial Ratio)

BREXR

FTEXRER MFBLEXR)

Year ended 31 March
BE=B=1+—HLEE

Notes 2022 2021

B 53 s —E- %
Revenue (HK$ 000) WA (F7E5T) 304,416 85,521
Gross profit margin (%) ENE %) (i) 5.8% 24.8%
Loss for the year (HK$ 000) FWEE (F2E71) 145,171 140,050
Loss per share (HK cents) FREE GBIl 0.59 0.65
Net asset value per share (HK cents) BREEZFE B (ii) 3.54 4.14
Notes: 5T -

(i) Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue and multiplying the
resulting value by 100%.

(ii) Net asset value per share is calculated based on the number of 20,319,072,320 ordinary
shares issued as at 31 March 2022 (31 March 2021: 20,319,072,320 ordinary shares).

For the current year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$304,416,000, representing a growth when compared with revenue of the
preceding financial year. The revenue for the current year is mainly generated
from the property development segment in IEF03 (“Zhenghe City”) of 0 IEF]
LB EEEABRAT (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group Company
Limited*) (“Liuzhou Zhenghe”). The Group’s business was heavily impacted by the
global COVID-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) in preceding financial year. In the
current year, with the gradual easing of the Pandemic, the construction works and
sales office resumed to normal operation. The increase of revenue for the year was
mainly resulted from the sales of car parking spaces and completed units and retail
shops held for sale in Liuzhou Zhenghe.

An overall gross profit of approximately HK$17,747,000 (2021: HK$21,201,000)
and gross profit margin of 5.8% (2021: 24.8%) were recorded for the current year.
Decrease in gross profit margin recorded in current year was mainly due to certain
defective commercial units in Zone E of Zhenghe City were selected for sale at price
below market price and thus drove down the overall gross profit margin.
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

The Group continued to incur losses of approximately HK$145,171,000 for the
current year (2021: HK$140,050,000). The substantial loss is mainly attributable to
(a) impairment loss of HK$17,294,000 on loan receivables; (b) impairment losses of
HK$44,773,000 on intangible assets in respect of IBS settlement platform system;
and (c) write-down of properties held for sale of HK$24,355,000 made for the
year. Moreover, as the contact lens business and leasing and trading of computer
equipment business are still under development, such businesses could not
generate adequate profit to cover the operating costs and aforesaid impairment
loss of the Group during the current year. The basic and diluted loss per share was
approximately HK$0.59 cents for the current year (2021: HK$0.65 cents).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND PROSPECT

International Business Settlement

Deconsolidated operation — EMI License business

International Business Settlement Limited (the “IBS HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group, engaged a software developer to develop Next Generation Settlement
Network (the “NGSN”™), a platform which is designed to build an alternative speedy
financial clearing and settlement channel for countries along the “Belt and Road”
in Asia, Europe, Africa and other regions, while providing convenient financial
services for multilateral trade. Initially, NGSN targeted to establish an efficient and
convenient business settlement and clearing platform in the European Economic
Area (EEA) by capitalizing on the local clearing system of the Single Euro Payment
Area (SEPA) (“European Platform”). However, under the impact arising from the world
trade environment, changes in financial regulatory trend and changes in China
and global political environment, full impairment was made by the Group for the
investment in the European Platform in 2019.

In 2021, there was a dispute on disagreement of acceptance of works over the phase
completion on the European Platform with the software developer and the software
developer claimed USD2,983,000 (approximately HK$23,226,000) service fee plus
interest due to late payments and related legal fee from IBS HK. IBS HK received an
arbitral claim and a winding up petition against IBS HK from the software developer.
Eventually on 21 February 2022, the High Court ordered that IBS HK be wound
up (the “Compulsory Liquidation of the Subsidiary”) pursuant to the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong).
The winding up was under process and a provisional liquidator was appointed in
relation to the winding up of IBS HK.

KEEAREEREELRERN145171,00087T (Z
T~ —1£F 140,050,000 7T) c EAKEFERH
7 (a)FE U & FURE E51817,294,0003 7T ; (b) A BE
Rt TR AN ETREERERE
44,773,000 7T ; Re(c)5F PO HURL 5 & 47 2£24,355,000
Broltsh HRBEREEENEERESS
HERBEBDRHEET BRAXEELIELER
WRFIRNEAEBNAFENSER AR i
BEFRE - AFENSRERKREEHEIBA50.59
B (CEZ—5 :0.6581) ©

KEEFORE kAR

Bl SHE Sy

UL S ABRETE — EMIFT A 382 7
FEEXENBASEREEEERRAE (MBS
5B ZERHHEERE T —REEERES
(Next Generation Settlement Network NGSN | » —1{&
SEEAMN BN FENSEMERT—F—E1 8
HGERBEBARENERBEERE BN
AZEBFRHEERENERRBEHNTESR) &4
NGSNEH 8|7 B —BRT S & (SEPA)BY AR 3t /B B
RAEPEBUNKE&(EFAR I — B E RN ER
BREETS (BUNFEEL AT E2IREZIR
B EmEENBEEERPEASIRKBURIRIE
NEECEENEET AEERR 22— NFHE
INFEENEEEREERIE-

AR AERARGRHEEMEN TS
IR ERSe TRRUTEE D I BB S B EIBSE B
FR R AR 75 E52,983,0003 7T (4923,226,00078 1) UK
A R E £ AF) B R ABRE AR E A o IBS
EREERG YR HBEBRENMHPRERL
FEEF BN E__F_A”"_+—H'8
LXRIRIE(AE (BRREBESO KA) (&8
EB5E32%) TR BIBSE B AR ((HWEBAT ARG
B BERMEETHEEMBRBERBERMET
—HEREBREA -
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

Given the above circumstances, upon the appointment of liquidator, all the powers
of the directors of IBS HK shall cease and the administration of IBS HK affairs
passes to the liquidator. Hence, the Group has lost control over the operations of
IBS HK and its subsidiaries, including a subsidiary which holds electronic money
institution license (‘EMI License”) to provide a small scale of fund settlement services
in Lithuania. The directors of the Group have determined to exclude the financial
position, results and cash flows of IBS HK and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) from the Group’s consolidated financial statements
as at 21 February 2022 and for the period from 21 February 2022 to 31 March
2022. The deconsolidation of Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had resulted in a gain on
deconsolidation of approximately HK$16,811,000 recognised in consolidated profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022. Prior to deconsolidation, the EMI License
business contributed revenue of HK$9,878,000 to the Group.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries has no material impact to the current core business operation and
financial position of the Group as the contribution to the business of the Group from
the EMI license is limited and all the significant payables have already been recorded
in the financial position of the Group prior to deconsolidation.

Continuing operations — Belt and Road settlement business

Despite the heavy blow experienced on the European Platform, the Group has
faith on the idea and concept of NGSN and continues seeking alternative model to
develop the platform. In mid-2019, the Group reorganized the management team
and employed experts and technical staff to give a second trial. In 2020, the Group
engaged a new software developer to assist the Group in developing platform for
cross-border settlement, trade and financial services between Russia and China.

Up to 31 March 2022, the total investment made by the Group on this new platform
amounted to HK$24,373,000. However, the development of this new platform was
severely affected by the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020.
In addition, the recent outbreak of military conflict between Russia and Ukraine has
led to broad sanctions and other restrictive actions imposed against governmental
and other entities in Russia, which in turn have caused and may continue to cause
an adverse impact on the development of platform. Impairment of HK$24,373,000
is required to be made for the platform during the year after considering the
uncertainties associated with the ongoing conflict and future realizable value.
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

Apart from developing the aforementioned settlement platform, in view of the
opportunity brought by the development of Central Bank Digital Currency (“CBDC’)
proposed by the PRC government, the Group also engaged a consultant to help
develop a cross-border settlement system in connection to the CBDC in 2021. Up to
31 March 2022, the total investment made by the Group for the system in relation
to the CBDC amounted to HK$20,400,000. However, the economic and political
challenges mean that after several years of localized testing there is still no clear
and concrete timetable for the launch of CBDC, the future realizable value of the
system is uncertain. As a result, full impairment on the investment amounting to
HK$20,400,000 was made.

The Group acknowledges that the development of alternative settlement channels
continues to be challenging and despite the challenges and difficulties facing the
Group, we will continue to work through the challenges.

For current year, revenue generated from this segment was HK$9,878,000 which
was contributed from the deconsolidation business of EMI license prior to
deconsolidation and total loss incurred was HK$41,265,000 (2021: HK$33,904,000).
The substantial loss was mainly due to aforesaid impairment made for intangible
assets.

Liuzhou Zhenghe (property development and hotel business segment)
Zhenghe City is a mix-used complex project located at No. 102, Xinliu Avenue,
Liudong New District, Liuzhou, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC,
which offers a wide range of properties, including villas, townhouses, commercial
buildings, office buildings, hotels and high-rise apartments developed by Liuzhou
Zhenghe.

Zhenghe City comprises two phases with Phase | providing a stack of residential
and commercial properties with gross floor area of approximately 485,000 square
meters. Phase Il will provide another stack of residential and commercial properties
with a total gross floor area of approximately 513,000 square meters. Both Phase |
and Phase Il have commenced construction and are under development. The Group
owned 100% interest in properties held for development and properties held for sale
in both Phase | and Phase I.

PREEEE EMUBE BT AN FEB P BB HE R B
EHRRIRITEMFE (TBDCY) FRHskBy 2214
KEEBRZZEZ—FTZSEEMEIHESR
(BDHNBIR BEGEERA - BE_ST - "_F=A4
=—+—H > ANEEMRBEGBDIRFFTENIER
& 7520,400,00078 7T © ZA T » 2~ £ [ Py [ ER AV A 7
RECABEE R > RBENAMACAIREE  HEE
HBDHBERKAEBRER Z2#BEA
BREEDAHEMA -HIL R EF IR EBIE
20,400,000 7T ©

FEBEARREZNBEEBENATT MR
i E A5 B R DB R 1% > M FIR i
B RES M-

MAFEMS > Lo EE W A9,S78,000/ 7T
KERIEGEE ARMEMIZFFAIBENL EEE AR
7 BEAERE 184126500080 (B - —4F ¢
33,904,000/ 70) c KIERSIE EZERNMBELE
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W IER] (WM ER % RBEEFE D)
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

@)  Details of the area of the properties under development and completed () ZEETYERCETYENERBFBNOT
properties are as follows:

Completed area

Saleable area of properties
Approximate remaining held for self-
gross unsold operating/
Site area floor area (note 2) own use
FEEE
B AR HEN B AN
B4 AHERR [z
A& E R EHEms (FFzE2) MEmE
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m)
(FFK) (FFHK) (FFHXK) (FFHK)

Phase I: —H
Zone A A& 76,000 97,000 15,000 -
Zone B Bl& 94,000 130,000 10,000 -
Zone C & 61,000 258,000 115,000 -
231,000 485,000 140,000 -

Phase II: —H:
Zone D D& 71,000 191,000 44,000 -
Zone E El& 30,000 140,000 80,000 31,000
Zone F Fl& 41,000 182,000 111,000 -
142,000 513,000 235,000 31,000
Total: 485t 373,000 998,000 375,000 31,000
Note 1:  The number of square meters (“sq.m”) are rounded to nearest thousand for skl FAK (FEAEK) BFLARERER

illustrative purpose only. BT I8 ZIERBEAR
Note 2:  Representing the gross floor area under development and saleable gross floor Wek2: BIRZZ2EZHF=RB=+—HERHPE
area of completed properties that were unsold as at 31 March 2022. FEEAEBETEHRHENYENT
HEREERE-
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

(b)  The progress of each phase in Zhenghe City are shown as follows: (b) FEHNIHZIAEEERUN TR
Property type Status
MERR AR5
Phase I:
_;H‘H :
Zone A Villas and high-rise apartment The construction works were completed and most of the residential units

A& buildings with retail outlets,
farmers market and car parking
spaces

NERESELAE FETEE
i RETHSREED

Zone B Villas and high-rise apartment
BE& buildings with retail outlets and
car parking spaces
NERSEBAE BHEZEEH
R AZEAD)

were sold in the past financial years. Farmers market attached with a total
saleable area of approximately 11,000 square meters are held for sale.
BERERIRBEBTIBASDEEEMENBFHBEFEELE - PR
Al HEERA#11,000F H KR EH IS REHE -

Previously, car parking spaces of approximately 8,000 square meters in this
zone were held for self-operating to generate stable recurring income and
thus were classified as the Group’s property, plant and equipment. During
the year, car parking spaces of approximately 4,000 square meters were sold
to the customers and it is expected that the remaining car parking spaces of
approximately 4,000 square meters will be sold. Thus car parking spaces in
Zone A were transferred to property held for sale.

JoAl > A&#8,000F HRFEAFIERE  MELRENKE KUK
A R DR A EEY)ZE BB R o £ 494,000 /5 KIFE
I BHETE P RTERAER T 494,000 5 K FE B HE o AL
AN EBUEEEATFEYE-

The construction works were completed and most of the residential units
were sold in the past financial years. Car parking spaces and retail outlets
with a total saleable area of approximately 19,000 square meters were sold
to the customers and revenue was recognized during the year.
BEIEEBRTIEAMPEETEMERNBEMREEHE BT
EEBELA#R19,000F 5 KNEEMRZEERHELETEREWRA
BRFERRE -
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Phase I:

Property type
MERE

Status
AR5

Zone C
(&

Phase IlI:

—H:

Zone D1
D1&

Zone D1
D1&

Residential and commercial
complexes and studio/office
buildings with retail outlets and
car parking spaces

FERBEGESIBRIEE/
WAKE (BFETEEHK
REBA)

Villas
lE

High-rise apartment buildings with
retail outlets and car parking
spaces

SEAE WATEEHKEE
1)

There are 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes and 3 blocks of
studio/office buildings in this zone.

AEAMEETEREEREBURIEIEE HAKE-

The construction works of 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes
and 2 of 3 blocks of studio/office buildings in this zone were completed and
most of the units were sold in the past financial years.
AE7MEFERBERSIEURIBILEE PWAKIEFI2EN R
RIRBBETEARDEMENBETHHREELE -

The construction works of the remaining 1 block of studio/office building is
in progress. The pre-sale permits were granted and acceptance certificates
of completion are expected to be granted in 2023. Car parking spaces with a
total saleable area of approximately 69,000 square meters are held for sale.
BRTIMETEE MAKENREIRNENRERP -FBELAIH
EREMIBETIREREZER/ AN S =FRE - ErIHER
TE#97369,000F S KEVE B THIFIEHE o

The construction works of the villas were completed. 16 villas with a total
saleable area of approximately 8,000 square meters were sold to the
customers and revenue was recognised in the past financial year.
AENERTZEET o420 & EEA 78,000 75 KB 161E 5l 22
BHEFTER BWABRBERBFER -

There are 5 blocks of high-rise apartment buildings in this zone.
refsESEAR-

The construction works of these 5 blocks of high-rise apartment buildings
were completed and most of the units were sold in the past financial years.
ZEESEABNERTIREEE T BAREDBAENBIEMEE
EHE-

Car parking spaces and few remaining retail shops with a total saleable area
of approximately 44,000 square meters in this zone are held for sale.

A& 48 7] & EAEA #344,000F ORI R B ALK /D EFiR T EEE S
TSR E -
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

Property type Status
YMEER AR
Phase I:
—H:
Zone D2 Villas The construction works of 36 villas are completed and were sold in the past
D2& llE = financial years.
J6IERIEMEERTRRER T HENBEVRFEHE
Zone E Hotel and high-rise apartment The construction works of high-rise apartment buildings were completed
El& buildings with retail outlets and and most of the units were sold in the past financial years. Retail outlets and
car parking spaces car parking spaces attached to this apartment building with a saleable area
BERSEBAE BHEZTENESH  of approximately 26,000 and 54,000 square meters respectively are held for
=B 1) sale.
EEAEMNERTIREEBIBERBPEMENBEFMBFEEL
& o ANAB P AT E B B #926,000F 75 K K 54,0007 5 KB E
EEHREBEATRFELE -
The construction works of the hotel building were completed and the pre-
sale permit was granted. The acceptance certificates of completion are
expected to be obtained in 2023. The Group plan to operate the hotel under
franchising arrangement instead of holding for sale. Construction area of
approximately 31,000 square meters of the hotel building are included in
property, plant, and equipment.
BIEBFHNERIRER I RAEFREEL - TRETRIKEE
SRR _E_=FE A EEAARBE AR ERHLER
IEMIEREL & BIEIEF T EEEL31,0007 5 KEFF A ZE
o 55 e 5% 4 o
Zone F Residential and commercial complexes There are 6 blocks of residential and commercial complexes in this zone.
Fi& with retail outlets and car parking @ B6IEET R EEGESIE o

spaces
FERBEFRGE GEZSEIEH
Y& E==R1)

The construction works of 3 blocks of residential and commercial complexes
were completed and most of the units together with the attached retail
outlets were sold in the past financial years.
SMEEERFEGSENRERETIREREB T AR DBUERTEN
TEEHENBEMREELE -

The construction works of the remaining 3 blocks of residential and
commercial complexes are in progress and pre-sale permits were granted.
The acceptance certificates of completion are expected to be obtained in
second half of 2022.
BRMETEREELREEBNERIRNENERPEEESFAE
BEE - TIRETHRNEER RN S _F THFIS-
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For property development segment in Liuzhou Zhenghe, an area of
approximately 44,000 square meters (2021: 7,000 square meters) was sold
and generated a segment revenue of approximately HK$292,042,000 for
the current year (2021: HK$75,733,000). A segment loss of approximately
HK$34,340,000 was recorded for the current year (2021: segment loss of
HK$8,925,000). During the current year, with the gradual easing of the
COVID-19 Pandemic, the construction works and sales office resumed to
normal operation. The increase of revenue for the year was mainly resulted
from the sales of car parking spaces and completed commercial units held for
sale. The increase in segment loss was mainly due to HK$24,355,000 write-
down value of completed properties held for sale in Zone E due to defects
found in certain units.

An external expert was engaged to help to assess the fair value of the
properties development project as at 31 March 2022. For those properties
which had completed the construction work and were held for sale, a market
comparison method by making reference to comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market was used. For those properties still under
construction, the value was derived by using a market comparison method
with the assumption that the construction works of the properties would
have been completed at the date of valuation and taking into account the
construction costs expected and costs that will be expended to complete the
development. No impairment loss is required for the year ended 31 March
2022 as the net realisable value is higher than carrying amount.

Liuzhou Zhenghe will continue to develop the Phase Il of Zhenghe City and
the Group is actively looking for other property development opportunities in
Guangxi or other provinces in the PRC.

The hotel business is located in Zone E1 of Zhenghe City with gross floor area
of approximately 31,000 square meters. In 2018, the Group entered into a
franchising agreement with a well-known international hotel franchisee to
operate the hotel under the franchising requested standards. The construction
works of the hotel building were completed but acceptance certificate of
completion was not yet obtained and no revenue will be generated until
commencement of operation of the hotel. Based on the latest estimation, the
commencement of operation of the hotel is expected to be in 2023.

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT
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EERHE

Contact lenses Business

The construction and civil engineering works of the production plant of Fujian
Unicon Optical Co., Ltd (“Fujian Unicon”) were completed in last financial year and
the construction of GMP clean room and electrical engineering works has been
completed in the current year. 3 production lines have been set up and put into
production in December 2021 and another 2 production lines are being installed
and are expected to be completed in mid-2022. According to the development plan,
7 production lines in total will be installed and are expected to be completed in
late 2022. By then, the full production capacity will reach approximately 21 million
pieces per month.

According to the Catalogue for Class Il Medical Devices Exempt from Clinical Trials,
issued by the China Food and Drug Administration (EI5R &8 R R EE EIEHE
/&), Fujian Unicon is exempt from clinical trials for its soft contact lens by ways of
comparison. As at 31 March 2022, Fujian Unicon has obtained 5 types of Medical
Device Registration for soft contact lens, and another 2 types of Medical Device
Registration are under application, which are expected to be obtained in second half
of 2022. With the gradual acquisition of the medical device registration, the product
categories will be gradually expanded, and further enhance the product category of
cooperation with customers and promote the release of production capacity. At the
same time, Fujian Unicon is preparing relevant documents and product technical
data for new products, and plans to submit 3 types of new device registration
certificates to the China Food and Drug Administration in the second half of 2022.
The acquisition of these certificates will become a major technological breakthrough
and a leading product of Fujian Unicon in mainland China.

The “I1S013485 Medical Device Quality Management System” certification is
progressing smoothly and is expected to be qualified in mid-2022. The certification
provides Fujian Unicon with compliance verification and more effective risk
management, helping to confirm compliance with national or international
regulatory requirements, thus laying a solid foundation for entering the
international market.

Since 2021, with authorization for major product categories with the latest
technologies in the market from Taiwan Unicon Optical Co., Ltd (non-controlling
shareholder of Fujian Unicon), Fujian Unicon has applied for 5 product registration
certificates, and has obtained 4 certificates, the remaining certificate is expected
to be obtained in the second quarter of 2022. At present, the Company’s R&D
department is preparing technical data for another 5 new product registration, and
plans to submit applications in succession from 2022 to 2023.

PRIERFETR

BEEBIMEAZARAT (BREBIRE) £E
BENERREIATIREEN LEMBEETKE
GMPEEERE T RUKRMEEIREENEAFE
T SREERER B —F+ AR
RALE FAMFREEQEEZELTRIRN
TR CFFREm-REEFRES ALK
TEGREZETFARN - " FFETH
B TEEEFERNERNIBE M-

BREEAXEREREEERRR/HE M RIVET
AR - SBRREMBE R S2EMTRZ
BB REIEBLEHRNETERRE R
TECTFZRA=+—H BREMEERRN
RIRIRISEBREMET 5 AMABRS
WEMEEHFD FRSR S _FT¥F
1S -FEE BRBMAMES IS EmmiER
BIFEAR EME—FERRETLGFENER®M
BN R EERERER - FF BREMREETERS
W EmBBERSX A U EmBRMER > W5t 85
TR CHETMHFRERRREREEEERR
BERX=HBMEMES - BLEZROEIE &
PR 73R B IRERTE PR RBER B R KA SRR AN 2

HEMe

Ns01348-E B2 M E E B IR R IFREEREIEF) -
TR S A FREB - ZIERN R ARE
BIMEREESREBREUREABUNRMEE
B EAREREEARHBEREERE  Bm
REBRABEMBESERR.

BT —FRR BEBAEERMEARRN
BRAE (BEREMERNIFERRR) REETE
ERARMZ T EERERRE BREMREE
RELEERLMBTENFLEES  &F &
ERARN S __FF_FERIF -BAI’ K
AT EFIERSIN D IEN EmEMEER
ME TABE T —_FE_T - -FEE
AR

13

Annual Report 2021/2022 R



Management’s Statement
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With the Medical Device Production Permit obtained during current year, Fujian
Unicon has commenced production of contact lenses since December 2021 and
obtained original equipment manufacturing (OEM) orders from PRC customers.
During the year, this segment recorded a minimal sales revenue of HK$2,159,000
(2021: HK$1,829,000) and recorded a loss of HK$40,598,000 for the current year
(2021: HK$13,752,000). The substantial loss for the current year was mainly due
to salaries, depreciation, and research and development expenses incurred.
It's expected that the sales will grow up when the remaining production line
commenced production successively. The new plant would not make any profit
contribution to the Group before the plant reaches the optimal production status. By
all means, the Group will try to expedite the process of reaching the design capacity
of the new plant so as to generate profit contribution as soon as possible.

Leasing and trading of computer equipment

In January 2022, the Group set up a subsidiary (the “Subsidiary”) with an
independent third party, Merak Technology Limited (“Merak”), to engage mainly in
the business of leasing of data storage equipment to customers who provide virtual
data storage space for end-users and trading of computer equipment. In view of the
fast pace development of the virtual world and the ever increasing amount of data
being generated online every minute of the day, the Board believes that the need
for secured, encrypted and reliable cloud distributed storage space is not only an
important element of the infrastructure for the healthy development of the virtual
world but will also increase sharply in the near future. The Group considers that the
Subsidiary is an attractive investment that will fit into the Group’s business strategy
and bring positive returns to the Group in the long run.

Pursuant to the agreement, the Group holds 51% and Merak holds 49% of the
Subsidiary and the Group agreed to contribute a non-interest bearing shareholder’s
loan in the principal amount of not more than HK$300 million to the Subsidiary to
develop and operate its business. The Group is primarily responsible for the capital
and administration matters of the Subsidiary while Merak is mainly responsible for
sourcing of equipment suppliers, and target customers and provision of technical
and engineering support for the maintenance of the equipment.
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EERHE

The Subsidiary planned to set up approximately 1,000 sets of server equipment
and auxiliary parts with specific specifications and configuration to connect to IPFS
system with capacity of 390TB each for the purpose of providing cloud data storage
services. The servers will be set up in Hong Kong which is planned to be conducted
in two phases. As at 31 March 2022, the Subsidiary completed the first phrase by
setting up 40 sets of servers and all 40 sets of servers were leased out to customer.
The leasing fees payable by customers to the Group consist of fixed rent and variable
rent components.

The second phase of setting up of approximately 960 sets of servers has been started
and is expected to be completed in six to nine months. The progress of the second
phase will be based on the actual demand from its customers and performance
of its business. It is expected that the leasing of the data storage equipment will
generate stable revenue stream for the Group and helps to maximize the return of
the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”).

As the set-up of the first phase of 40 sets of servers was completed and the 40 sets
of servers were leased out to customer in March 2022, the revenue generated for the
Group is relatively low for the current year. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the
revenue of this segment was approximately HK$219,000 and the segment profit for
the year was HK$129,000. The major expenses of this segment are rental expenses
incurred for data site.

Financing Business

A wholly foreign owned enterprise (the “WFOE”) in the China (Shanghai) Pilot Free
Trade Zone was established by the Group to carry out financing business in China
with a total registered capital of USD35 million (approximately RMB225 million). The
scope of business of the WFOE includes finance leasing, leasing, purchasing of leased
assets in domestic and foreign markets, disposal of residual value and maintenance
of leased assets, provision of consultation and guarantees for lease transactions and
engaging in commercial factoring business.
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Starting from 2018, the financial services business was affected significantly in view
of the challenging business environment in China. In the factoring business, our
clients experienced a severe adversity in this tough business environment in China
and have failed to pay interest payment since 2018, the debts were matured and
past due in July 2019 with no progress for recovery of any amount in arrears from
these receivables. During the preceding financial year, three out of six borrowers
were deregistered and after seeking for legal advice and assessing the quality of
collaterals, the Group balanced between the resources required to further pursue
for recovery and the possibility of actual recovery, it is decided that nothing can
be recovered by the Company. As such, receivables from these three deregistered
borrowers amounting to HK$63,110,000 were derecognised in the preceding
financial year.

In respect of the loan receivables (of which a plantation in Shanghai was pledged as
security of repayment of the loan amount) from finance leasing of the Group which
agreements were entered into in 2017, the borrower started to miss payments since
December 2018 due to lack of cashflow caused by the adverse business environment
in China which led to significant drop in purchase orders for the borrower’s
greeneries products from customers (which include property developers, property
management companies). As economic situation in China slowed down in 2018, and,
particularly, the property sector, some of the customers of the plantation began to
either delay payment or significantly reduce their purchases. In combination with
the outbreak of COVID-19 since January 2020 and lockdown measures, economy
in China (and worldwide) has slowed down further. The Company believes that
the recoverability of the pledged assets in connection with the finance leasing
business would be adversely impacted. As such, accumulated impairment loss of
HK$129,489,000 on loan receivables was made in the past financial years.

During the year, there had been no progress of repayment from receivable and the
adverse impact brought by economic downturn still exist. In order to safeguard
the interest of the Company, the Company visited the plantation site twice a year
and performed stock take of the collaterals to make sure the collaterals are in good
condition.
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EERHE

A PRC independent qualified valuer, Zhongnan Assets Appraisal and Real Estate
Appraisal (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd* (‘PRI & EFTHEEMEMGE BEMN) BRA
T]”), was engaged by the Group to assess the fair value of the plantation collaterals
as at 31 March 2022.

The valuation methodology adopted was market comparable method with reference
to comparable market price of similar items in the relevant market. Key assumptions
adopted include: (1) the products are to be sold in open market; (2) there will be
a continuous demand of the products; and (3) the products are free of restrictions
to sell. The fair value of the plantation collaterals as at 31 March 2022 was
approximately RMB99,871,000 (2021: RMB109,259,000).

As the Company does not have the expertise in running and operating the
plantation, the Company does not plan to take possession of the plantation. During
the year, the Company has been discussing with the borrower the settlement
schedule of the receivables and has been issuing notices of repayment to the
borrower each month after due date of the receivables. However, the Company has
not received any settlement from the borrower. The Company has obtained the
selling record of the plantation of the borrower and noted that the total sales for
the year ended 31 March 2022 was a few hundred thousand renminbi only. The
Company will continue to monitor the situation and, if necessary, take possible
actions to recover the loan.

An independent qualified valuer was also engaged by the Group to help assess the
recoverability of loan receivable. After assessment of the long overdue status of the
loan receivables since first default in 2018 and inactive response from the borrower
which show bare intention to pay, the Group prudently made a full impairment
provision on loan receivables and recognized an impairment loss of HK$17,294,000
for the year ended 31 March 2022 after considering the credit risk of the borrowers
and recoverable amount of collaterals.

The Company adopted the model of expected credit loss (“ECL”) under HKFRS 9
Financial Instrument (‘HKFRS 97) in determining the amount of the impairments
of loan receivables (‘Impairments”). HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for
impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition.
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As the borrowers failed to pay any of the receivables due years ago and without any
future repayment schedule, the ECL was measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

The Company has engaged Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited to issue valuation
report on the Impairments. The model of ECL under HKFRS 9 was used by the valuer
as the valuation methodology. The calculation formula of ECL is EAD x PD x LGD x
Discount Factor (which including exposure at default (‘EAD”), Probability of Default
(“PD”) and loss given default (“LGD”)). Key assumption applied for the valuation
includes categorising the loan receivables as Stage 3. As the borrowers failed to pay
any of the receivables as at the valuation date and without any future repayment
schedule, PD is set to be 100%. Based on the financial information of the borrowers
provided and follow up action carried out by the Company, credit assessment has
been performed and specific recovery has been applied. As such, LGD of 100% has
been assigned. The Discount Factor is 1, where no discount is applied.

The Board is of the view that a full provision of impairment loss had been made for
loan receivables and recognising an impairment loss of HK$17,294,000 in current
year is fair and reasonable.

During the year, this segment recorded interest income of approximately
HK$118,000 (2021: HK$117,000) as revenue and the segment loss was approximately
HK$19,607,000 for the year (2021: HK$60,509,000).

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of loan receivables was nil after
deducting accumulated allowance for impairment loss of HK$150,717,000. The
carrying amount of factoring receivables was nil after deducting derecognition of
HK$63,110,000 and accumulated allowance for impairment of HK$72,595,000.

The Group did not make any new loan during the year. Facing increasing market
uncertainties and affected by the downward pressure of the macro economy in the
long run, the Group downsized its financial leasing and factoring business, adopted
prudent and sound operation strategy and carefully conducted its business.
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Other operation-gold mine

On 14 May 2021, Pride Delight Limited (the “Vendor”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Vintage Gold Management Limited (the “Purchaser”),
a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level as it holds 10% equity
interest in the Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited (the “Target Company”), entered into
a disposal agreement. Pursuant to the agreement the Vendor agreed to sell and the
Purchaser agreed to purchase the sale shares, representing 90% of the issued share
capital of the Target Company, for a consideration of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,400,000). As a result, our 27% effective equity interest in the
gold mine in the Kyrgyz Republic was disposed to the Purchaser.

A gain of approximately HK$22,705,000 arose from the disposal. The equity transfer
was completed on 20 May 2021. Further details of the disposal are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 14 May 2021.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in note 37(a) and 37(b) to the consolidated financial statements
and above paragraphs headed “Deconsolidated operation — EMI License business”,
“Leasing and trading of computer equipment” and “Other operation — gold mine”,
there were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies during the current year.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Finance position, liquidity and gearing

As at 31 March 2022, the total assets and liabilities of the Group were approximately
HK$3,159,851,000 (31 March 2021: HK$3,363,492,000) and approximately
HK$2,439,782,000 (31 March 2021: HK$2,521,991,000) respectively. The Group
recorded a total equity of approximately HK$720,069,000 as at 31 March 2022 (31
March 2021: HK$841,501,000).

The Group recorded net current assets of approximately HK$130,520,000 as at 31
March 2022 (31 March 2021: HK$289,728,000). The bank balances and cash as at 31
March 2022 was approximately HK$522,507,000 (31 March 2021: HK$632,707,000),
of which most were denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

The Group’s current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current liabilities) was
1.06 (31 March 2021: 1.12).

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total borrowing amounting to approximately
HK$929,464,000 (31 March 2021: HK$875,888,000) which were denominated in
Renminbi. 80% (31 March 2021: 82%) of borrowings are due within one year, 12% (31
March 2021: 7%) of borrowings are due more than one year but not exceeding two
years, and 8% (31 March 2021: 11%) of borrowings are due more than two years but
not exceeding five years. The breakdowns are as follows:

(i) Secured bank borrowings amounting to approximately HK$233,080,000 (31
March 2021: HK$198,180,000) with floating interest rate; and secured other
borrowings amounting to approximately HK$143,101,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$139,118,000) with fixed interest rate of 6.5%;

(i) Unsecured other borrowings amounting to approximately HK$466,546,000 (31
March 2021: HK$454,227,000) with fixed interest rate ranges from 3% to 18%;

(iii)  Interest free loan due to non-controlling interests and ultimate holding
company amounting to approximately HK$60,446,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$58,737,000) and approximately HK$1,645,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$1,666,000) respectively; and

(iv)  Interest bearing loan from non-controlling interests amounting to
approximately HK$24,646,000 (31 March 2021: HK$23,960,000) with floating
interest rate.
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As at 31 March 2022, committed borrowing facilities available to the Group
but not drawn amounting to approximately HK$111,964,000 (31 March 2021:
HK$168,288,000).

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings to total equity, as at 31 March 2022
was 1.29 (31 March 2021: 1.04).

Financial resources

During the year, the Group consistently employed a prudent treasury policy and
generally financed its working capital and funding requirements through internal
resources, borrowings as well as proceeds raised from equity financing exercise in
December 2016. The management believes that the Group will generate its liquidity
resources from business operations and will consider making use of further equity
financing when necessary.

Use of proceeds from fund raising activities

In December 2016, the Company placed up to 1,280,000,000 new ordinary shares at
a price of HK$1.25 per ordinary share (the “Placing”). The net proceeds raised were
approximately HK$1,587,200,000 and as at 31 March 2022, the total unutilised net
proceeds were approximately HK$491,000,000.

Due to the development of NGSN is slower than expected, the Group believed it
would be in the interests of the Company and its shareholders to re-allocate the
intended use of the un-utilised proceeds from the Placing to segments where
revenue can be generated sooner.
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of use of proceeds up to 31 March 2022 FREIIEE_ZT__F=B=+—HWNERBFT

and the reallocation of the proceeds: BREAGPMARTEFIENEN D
Un-utilised  Further revised
net proceeds allocation of
Utilised amount HERBAN un-utilised
EERTE FiemIESE net proceeds
Original allocation  Revised allocation Upto During Up to As at
of net proceeds  of net proceeds 31 March 2021 theyear 31 March 2022 31 March 2022
FRENFARY
EE EE B ERERERE
FGHIESEN  FBRERE g% Zg-C k- S ik
MERE WEETISE =A=t+-B RER =BA=+-H =B=+-H BETAE
HKS$ million HK$ million HK$ million HKS$ million HK$ million HKS$ million HKS million ~ Notes

BEET ABAR BEAT BEET BEAT BEET BEET Wi

Development of the Next Generation E3% F—H{B4E

Settlement Network: g

(i) Hardware and software () B R e 1110 1585 (633) (302) 935) 650 65.0 @

(i) Research and development (i) B & 3175 3.0 97 - 97) 33 33 (b)
Expand the settlement services BBIMET AR R RS

through EMI license BB - 300 - - - 300 S ©
Set up subsidiaries in Mid-Asia for ~ 7EFRE AL I E/A IS

application of payment licenses ~ FREEY THEER = 200 = = = 200 = ©
General working capital —hEEES 1587 2936 2370) (39.5) (276.5) 171 671 (/)
Potential investment opportunity in - & B8 EHE R EL I EER

the Fintech and other industry BEREKE = 567.6 (164.7) (673) (2320) 3356 3356 §]
Use in financing business e - 177 m7.7) = mz7) S S
Repayment of loan related tothe BB S £ ML LKA

property development business ~ BARIET = 3668 (366.8) = (366.8) S =

15872 15872 9592) (137.) (1096.) 4910 4910

The current expected timeframe and detailed breakdown for the un-utilised 758 & 5k Eh 3 PR 18 SR B AY 25 B3 78 HA B3 A5 2% R BA A
proceeds is as follows: HEBWR

@  Approximately HK$65,000,000 is to be applied to the hardware and software ()  %3965,000,00038 7o & FRFANGSNT & FUTE (4 &

for the NGSN platform and the expected timeline for utilising had been extend BHEESRSHARERER S - =

from March 2022 to March 2024, as the development of NGSN was severely BERE_E_IUE=F  REANGNAYZE

affected by the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 BZIB 2 EFFYLIR2IRIREDN

and the recent outbreak of military conflict between Russia and Ukraine; COVID- 19 IBEU R IR EN B B E L FE
NEBEEFE,

(b)  Approximately HK$23,300,000 is to be applied to the research and (b))  #3923,300,00058 718 FR FANGSNIL AT /5 0 RO B
development on the technical side of the NGSN and the expected timeline BREHEAHARBRER S __F=H
for utilising had been extend from March 2022 to March 2024, as the EREZEZNE=H > REANGN %
development of NGSN was severely affected by the global outbreak of the BRIB S ZSFFPLUERINEED
COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 and the recent outbreak of military COVID- 19f| UEERRIEENHEEEEEHE
conflict between Russia and Ukraine; NEBREFE;
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Originally, approximately HK$30,000,000 is to be applied to further expand
the settlement services for commercial and individual customers through EMI
license by March 2022; and approximately HK$20,000,000 is to be applied to
set up subsidiaries in Mid-Asia for the application of EMI license or payment
licenses to provide settlement or payment services for commercial and
individual customers by March 2022.

As the EMI license business had been ceased due to deconsolidation
(please refer to Note 37(b) for details), the aggregate un-utilised proceeds
of approximately HK$50,000,000 previously allocated for the aforesaid EMI
business purpose had been further reallocated for the purpose of general
working capital.

Approximately HK$67,100,000 is to be applied to general working capital of
the Group for the coming two years; and

Approximately HK$335,600,000 is to be applied to investment opportunities in
the Fintech section (or other industry section) that the Board may identify by
March 2024.

(i) During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has decided
to re-allocate approximately HK$164,700,000 to establishment of
contact lenses business. The Group believed that it would be in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders to re-allocate the un-
utilised proceeds to segments where revenue can be generated sooner.
During the year, approximately HK$46,700,000 had been utilised by
contact lenses business segment for working capital and purchase of
equipment purpose.

(i)~ During the year, the Board further diversified its investment and
revenue streams and decided to further re-allocate HK$300,000,000 to
new segment which engaged in the business of leasing of data storage
equipment to customers and trading of computer equipment.

During the year, approximately HK$20,600,000 had been utilised by
data storage business segment for purchase of equipment purpose.

Share capital
As at 31 March 2022, the Company had 20,319,072,320 shares of ordinary shares in
issue and the total equity of the Group was approximately HK$720,069,000.
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Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2022, certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of approximately HK$275,708,000 (31 March 2021: certain property, plant and
equipment with carrying amount of approximately HK$248,265,000 and certain
properties held for sale with carrying amount of HK$146,246,000 respectively), were
pledged to secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group.

Contingent liabilities

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is any
default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued interests thereon
and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the Group is then
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of granting the relevant mortgage loans and ends after
the buyer obtains the individual property ownership certificate. As at 31 March 2022,
the guarantee given to banks for the above-mentioned mortgage facilities amounted
to approximately HK$517,488,000 (31 March 2021: HK$489,776,000).

Foreign exchange exposure

As part of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars, in order to minimise the foreign exchange risk, the Group
aims to utilise the fund for transactions that are denominated in the same currency.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICES

As at 31 March 2022, the total headcount of the Group, not including the employees
of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries was 190 (2021: 170). Total staff costs which
included the Directors’ emoluments for the year were approximately HK$46.1
million (2021: approximately HK$41.2 million). The employees’ salaries are reviewed
and adjusted annually based on their performance and experience. The Group’s
employee benefits include performance bonus, medical insurance, mandatory
provident fund scheme, local municipal government retirement scheme and
education subsidy to encourage continuous professional development of staff.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. Key risks and uncertainties
affecting the Group are set out as below.
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Property market and operation risk

One of the major business of the Group as a property developer in the PRC is
subject to extensive governmental regulations. The Group must comply with various
requirements mandated by the PRC laws and regulations, including the policies
and procedures established by local authorities. Policies and measures introduced
or which may be introduced by the PRC government and local authorities may
lead to changes in market condition and sentiment, including price instability and
an imbalance between supply of, and demand for, properties in Liuzhou City. The
PRC government implemented a series of regulations and policies on the property
market to exert direct and indirect influence to control the supply of land for
property development, raise the benchmark interest rates of commercial banks,
place limitations for commercial banks to give out loans to property developers
and mortgage loans to purchasers, impose additional restriction on foreign direct
investment, increase taxes and levies on property sales, slow down inflation of
property prices, and dampen property speculation.

A series of governmental policies and regulation measures on the real estate market
may tamper the Group’s ability to finance, acquire land for new development,
generate sufficient operating cash flows and positive profit. Further, the
implementation of the laws and regulations introduced by the PRC government
may lead to changes in market condition and sentiment, price instability and lack
of demand in the properties market of Liuzhou City. Any such changes could have a
material and adverse effect on the revenue, business operation and profitability of
the Group. The Group actively monitor changes of laws and regulations associated
with the business of the Group and consult legal staff or legal advisors to ensure the
Group’s compliance with policy, regulatory and governing requirements in order to
minimize the risks.
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Investment risk

Investment risk refers to the risk of loss or decrease in the investment income of the
Company resulting from the investment on developing the business of the Company.
Specifically, it refers to the following risks:

1. Investment target risk: It refers to the uncertainties in the growth and
development of the investment target, including but not limited to technical
risk, operation risk and financial risk;

2. Investment analysis risk: It refers to the risk of loss resulting from incorrect or
incomplete due diligence conducted in an investment project;

3. Investment decision-making risk: It refers to the risk of loss resulting from an
imperfect decision-making process and bias before any decision-making;

4. Project management risk: It refers to the risk resulting from insufficient
supervision or improper management after investment and failure to discover
and exercise control of the problems in an investment project in a timely
manner; and

5 Project exit risk: It refers to the risk resulting from exit from an investment
project with losses or inability to exit from an investment project.

The Company will formulate comprehensive procedures for approval and
supervision of investment projects through authorities such as the asset
management business investment decision committee, general manager office,
Board, general meetings, in order to minimize investment risk. The Company will
take reasonable steps in carrying out investment and enter into comprehensive
investment agreements to protect the legal rights of the Company.

Financial Risk

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, other receivables, bank balances and
cash, other payables, lease liabilities, bank and other borrowings and contingent
consideration payable. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. Particulars of financial risk management of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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Information security and data privacy risk

The Group’s settlement business involves handling a large amount of personal
data and commercial and/or operational data. The Group’s failure to maintain
control over customer, commercial and/or operational data may lead to a loss
of data, and a failure to prevent or detect a malicious attack on our system, may
result in reputational harm, regulatory investigations and potential fines. The
Group continues reviewing our data privacy policies and practices with reference to
changes in privacy laws and regulation in the places we operate in. The Group has
strengthened due diligence and controls with respect to third party data processors
and has taken compliance assessments by data privacy teams across operations
of the Group. In addition, information security is ensured through effective
management systems, encryption, access restrictions and process protocols.

Financial crime risk

The Group’s failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to
International Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Bribery and Corruption
may result in legal or regulatory penalties, material financial loss or reputational
damage. The Group has implemented certain financial crime risk management
activities, which include adherence to anti-money laundering and sanctions policies
and the application of core controls such as client due-diligence screening and
monitoring.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and complies with environmental
legislation and promotes awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees.

Further information on environmental policy and performance of the Group is set
out under the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group reviews the changes in enacted laws and regulations affecting the
operations on an ongoing basis and changes are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operating units when necessary. During the year ended 31
March 2022 the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations which are significant to the operations of the Group.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CONTRACTORS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a number of suppliers
and contractors after years of cooperation. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers and contractors regularly to ensure the product quality.

The Group has committed to providing satisfactory services to each customer in
order to maintain our brand competitiveness. The Group maintains close contact
with the customers and regularly reviews the requirements of customers and
complaint.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our gratitude to the shareholders
of the Company and business associates for their continued support, and extend
our sincere appreciation to all management and staff for their ongoing dedication,
commitments and contributions throughout the year.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors

YUEN LEONG

Executive Director

Mr. Yuen Leong, aged 64, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
1 January 2008. Mr. Yuen holds a master degree in mechanical engineering from the
Shanghai Jiao Tong University and was a senior research analyst of & %2 & Aff 25 3%
JB=0) (Fujian Provincial Research and Development Center*) from 1985 to 1991.
Mr. Yuen has over ten years of experience in corporate management and operation.

CHAN SIU TAT

Executive Director

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 51, has been re-designated from independent non-executive
Director to executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 September
2020. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive Director of the Company
from September 2016 to August 2020. Mr. Chan graduated from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 1994 with a major in Accounting. He is
a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Association Chartered of
Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan possesses over 20 years of experience in corporate
restructuring, financial capital planning and corporate management. He has been
an independent non-executive director of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited since
April 2022 (stock code: 1991) listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He was an assistant to the chairman
from 2011 to 2015 and an executive director and chief financial officer from April
2002 to August 2006 of CIMC-TianDa Holdings Company Limited (formerly known
as China Fire Safety Enterprise Group Limited) (stock code: 445) previously listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange where he was mainly responsible for
corporate strategy, restructuring and financial planning. Mr. Chan was a non-
executive director of Tongguan Gold Group Limited (formerly known as China Mining
Resources Group Limited) (stock code: 340) listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from November 2006 to May 2008. From 2007 to 2010, Mr. Chan was a
partner and chief investment officer in an international private equity fund. Prior to
working in corporations, Mr. Chan had around five years of audit experience with an
international accounting firm.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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LIU YU

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Yu, aged 38, was appointed as non-executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2022. Mr. Liu graduated from the Jilin University in 2005 with a bachelor’s
degree in optical information science and technology and received a doctoral degree
in aerospace information technology from Zhejiang University in 2016. Mr. Liu has
years of experience in new energy technology, big data analysis and information
system, and has long served as the person in charge and senior management of
Internet companies industry. He has more than ten years of experience in Internet
of Things, big data and industry information field. Mr. Liu presided over the research
and development of a number of provincial level big data intelligence systems, and
has deep industry knowledge in the application of artificial intelligence and big data
technology in the fields of industrial, finance, securities, investment and financing,
etc.. From September 2007 to October 2018, Mr. Liu held key positions in a number
of companies, responsible for projects such as research and development of wind
turbine, smart city technology projects and transportation big data platforms. Since
October 2018, he has been the general manager of a Shenzhen company engages in
smart city and big data technology related businesses.

YAP YUNG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Yap Yung, aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 20 August 2009. Mr. Yap graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in 1995 with a Bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering. He has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999. He
has also completed an advanced management course held by the London Business
School and the University of Cambridge in 2003. Mr. Yap has over 10 years of
corporate finance and audit experience gained from his previous employment. Mr.
Yap was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit manager from 1995 to
2002.
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Biographical Details of Directors

CHEN LANRAN

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Chen Lanran, aged 41, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 1 August 2019. Ms. Chen graduated with a bachelor’s degree
in finance from Fuzhou University in July 2002, and graduated in marketing from
School of Journalism and Communication, Peking University in July 2011. Ms.
Chen has over 15 years of experience in the marketing industry. Upon graduation,
Ms. Chen worked as a brand manager from 2002 to 2005 in Fujian Mobile
Communications Co., Ltd.. From 2005 to 2017, Ms. Chen worked as a brand manager
in China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd.. From February 2017 to present,
Ms. Chen is the principal of Fujian Yuyue Education Training Centre, and is in
charge of the overall planning, promotion and development of the campus, and its

expansion.

WONG KIN PING

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kin Ping, aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 September 2020. Mr. Wong has substantial experience
in the business of trading and merchandising. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Wong was a founder of a trading company which was principally engaged in general
trading business in Hong Kong. He was also the executive director of Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd (formerly known as Goldigit Atom-Tech Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 2362) listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from
2003 to 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the

Company and to the enhancement of shareholder value. The Company is committed

to building and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board and

the management of the Company have been continually reviewing and enhancing

its corporate governance practices with reference to the principles and the code

provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has complied with the CG Code
save for the deviation mentioned below:

(@)

32

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1 (formerly code provision A.2.1),
the role of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) should not be
performed by the same individual. However, the Company did not officially
appoint a Chairman or a CEO during the year. The responsibilities of the
Chairman and daily management of the Group’s business is handled by
the executive Directors collectively and supported by a team of senior
management, which is in turn supported by staff with relevant expertise and
experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity
of the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the
business of the Company, the Board will review the existing structure and
consider the issue of nominating appropriate candidate to fill up the role of
Chairman and CEO.

Code provision C.2.7 (formerly code provision A.2.7) stipulates that the
Chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive Directors without the presence of other directors. Since the
Company has not appointed a new Chairman, no meeting was held between
the Chairman and the non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) without the executive Directors present during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Code provision F.2.2 (formerly code provision E.1.2) stipulates that the
Chairman should attend the annual general meeting. The Company does not
at present have any officer with the title of Chairman. However, one of the
Directors presents at the annual general meeting held on 30 August 2021 was
elected as chairman thereof to ensure an effective communication with the
shareholders thereat.
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(d)  Code provision C.6.3 (formerly code provision F.1.3) stipulates that the
company secretary should report to the Chairman and/or the CEO. As the
Company did not officially appoint a Chairman or a CEO, the company
secretary reported to the executive Directors during the year.

Set out below are the details of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTOR’S DEALING IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding directors’ dealing in the securities of the Company. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and received confirmation from
all Directors that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board during the year and up to the date of this annual report comprises
the following executive Directors, non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Leong
Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu Yu (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yap Yung

Mr. Wong Kin Ping

Ms. Chen Lanran

The Company believes that the current Board composition is well-balanced and of
a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company. The biographical details
of the Board members are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are expressly
identified in all corporate communications where Directors have been mentioned
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board at all the times had at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director having appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related
financial management expertise. The total number of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board maintain a strong independent
element on the Board in order to exercise independent judgment.

The Company received, from each independent non-executive Director of the
Company, an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is satisfied with the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

Under code provision B.2.3 ((formerly code provision A.4.3) of the Listing Rules,
further appointment of independent non-executive Director who serve more
than nine years should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders. Mr. Yap Yung has served as independent non-executive Director for
more than nine years since August 2009. Further appointment of him should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. Mr. Yap Yung
has provided the Company with an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The nomination committee of the Company
has assessed the annual confirmation of independence and is satisfied with the
independence of Mr. Yap Yung. The Board has assessed and reviewed the annual
confirmation of independence based on the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and affirmed that Mr. Yap Yung remained independent of management
and free of any relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of
his independent judgment. In view of the aforesaid factors and the fact that the
experience and knowledge of the relevant individual in the business sectors in which
the Company operates, the Board would recommend Mr. Yap Yung for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Board diversity policy

In order to achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
considers the enhancement of diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
facilitating the achievement of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules with a view to enhancing the combination of competencies and
diversity of perspectives in the boardroom. The summary of the Board diversity
policy is disclosed as below:

- the Company acknowledges the Board should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business;

- the Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects of its
business and does not discriminate on the grounds of race, gender, disability,
nationality, religious or philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, family
status or any other factor;

- in deciding the Board composition, board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

- in forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into
account factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time;
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- all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity to the Board. The selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

- the ultimate decision will be based upon the merits and contribution the
selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

- the Nomination Committee will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, monitor the implementation of the Board diversity
policy, review the Board diversity policy to ensure effectiveness and
recommend any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating the business plans and strategies,
monitoring the business performance and internal control, approving investment
proposals and reviewing the finance performance of the Group. The daily operations
of the Group and execution of the business plans are delegated to the management
of the Group. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, Board approval
should be obtained. In addition, the Board has established Board Committees and
has delegated to these Board Committees various responsibilities set out in their
terms of reference respectively.

The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the guidelines was
noted.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors arising out of
corporate activities.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times. In addition, every Director should ensure sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors have satisfactory attendance
rates at both Board meetings and Committee meetings.
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Board meetings and general meetings

Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly with additional meetings if and when required. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, nine Board meetings and one annual general
meeting (“AGM”) of the Company were held. Details of the Directors’ attendance
records are as follows:

EFRTEERRRRE

EFRHECER

NERBE EFCTHEAEZ -NBE_"T
T TEHEZRA=+—HLEEE ARABETAR
EFEgRh—ARRBEFAE (RRBFX
) EFHFETHFEUT

Attended/Eligible to attend

HEAERLURE
AGM held on
Board 30 August
Meetings 2021
RIEZ—HF
NB=+H
BITZKRE
EEgEE BEXRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yuen Leong REhE 9/9 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BRAMESRE 9/9 11
Non-executive Director FEPITESE
Mr. Liu Yu (Note (1)) 2Rt (sE(1) 3/3 N/A 3 F
Independent non-executive Directors BIUIFHITEE
Mr. Yap Yung EBEE 9/9 11
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FREFERE 9/9 11
Ms. Chen Lanran fREABZ LT 9/9 11
Note: (1) appointed on 1 January 2022 izE: (1) WRIZBEZITHFE—B—BEZ#E

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

All Directors have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for a regular
Board meeting. Notices of regular Board meetings are sent to Directors at least 14
days before the meeting date. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
time is generally given.

The Directors have to declare their interests in the subject matters to be considered
in the relevant meeting and any Director, who or whose associates have any interest
in any proposed resolution, must abstain from voting and will not be counted in
quorum.
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The agenda together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information were
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management when necessary.

Directors can, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the expenses of the Company. The Board shall resolve
to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company.

Minutes of each Board meeting will be drafted by the company secretary of the
Company (‘Company Secretary”) to record the matters discussed and decision
resolved at the Board meetings and circulated to the Board for comment within
a reasonable time after each meeting. The final Board minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and are available for inspection by Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 (formerly code provision A.2.1) of the CG Code, the roles
and responsibilities of chairman and CEO should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company did not officially have Chairman
and CEO up to the date of this annual report. The responsibilities of the Chairman
and daily management of the Group’s business is handled by the executive Directors
collectively and being supported by a team of senior management which is in turn
supported by staff with relevant expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity of
the Company’s policies and strategies and in the interest of the shareholders of
the Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the business of
the Company, the Board will review the existing structure and consider the issue of
nominating an appropriate candidate to fill up the role of Chairman and CEO.

Appointment, Re-election and removal of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors
are laid down in the Company’s bye-laws.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
monitoring the appointment and succession planning of Directors and assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors. In selecting and approving
candidate for directorship, the Board will consider various criteria such as education,
qualification, experience, integrity and the potential contribution to the Group.
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The non-executive Director, Mr. Liu Yu, has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from 1 January 2022,
which can be terminated by either party by serving not less than one month written
notice to the other party.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has a service contract with a
term of service for one year and the contract will be renewed automatically for a
successive term of one year, each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current appointment term, unless terminated by either the independent non-
executive Director or the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, one-third of the Directors of the
Company for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
in every three years. If an independent non-executive Director serves more than
nine years, his/her further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the shareholders of the Company. Any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will be arranged a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction which includes provision of key guidelines, documents and publications
relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the
Company’s structure, businesses, risk management and other governance practices
and meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors
familiarise with the management, business and governance policies and practices of
the Company, and ensure that they have a proper understanding of the operations
and businesses of the Company.

The Company encourages its Directors to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional institutions
or professional firms and read materials on relevant topics so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.
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On 25 June 2021, the Company provided an in-house training seminar which was
conducted by an external counsel covering the company’s responsibilities and
compliance issues as regard to the amendments to the Listing Rules. All existing
Directors attended this seminar. In addition to this in-house training seminar and
reading materials, the Directors were provided with other materials in relation to the
regular updates to corporate governance practices, statutory requirements, Listing
Rules and other relevant topics related to listed companies to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three committees with defined roles and responsibilities
for each committee. Such committees are the remuneration committee
(the“Remuneration Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and audit committee (the “Audit Committee”). All committees were
set up with a written terms of reference, which are in line with the relevant CG
Code and available to shareholders on the Company’s website, to deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The committees will report their findings and decisions
and make necessary recommendations to the Board. Minutes of the committee
meetings will be drafted by the Company Secretary and circulated for the comment
to the members of the committee within a reasonable time. The final version of
the committee minutes will be kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes
are open for inspection by any Director. All committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

Details of each committee and work performed during the year are as follows:

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is mainly comprised of independent non-executive
Directors and the members are as follows:

Mr. Wong Kin Ping (independent non-executive Director and
Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (executive Director)

Mr. Yap Yung (independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chen Lanran (independent non-executive Director)
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the size,
structure and composition of the Board, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and succession planning of Directors with reference to the
Company’s corporate strategy and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, which
describes the procedure by which the Company will select candidate(s) for possible
inclusion in the Board. The Board considers the Nomination Policy could strengthen
the transparency and accountability of the Board and Nomination Committee and
election of Directors. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate before
recommending to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies, the Nomination Committee will consider: (i) character and
integrity of the proposed candidate; (ii) qualifications of the proposed candidate
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy; (iii) accomplishment
and experience of the proposed candidate in the business from time to time
conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member of the Group; (iv) commitment
of the proposed candidate in respect of available time and relevant interest; (v)
requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; (vi) Board
diversity policy and any measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board;
and (vii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee also ensures the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in line with the
CG Code and are accessible through the Company’s website.
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The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March
2022 to review, amongst other matters, the size, structure and composition of the
Board, review the suitability of the candidates to be nominated to the Board and
to consider the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors.
Individual attendance of each member of Nomination Committee is set out below:

REEZEENBE_T__F=-A=+—HL
FEBRTMAER gy HThal g8
RE-RBERENR RAROEFTRAZIRE
ARNBEEE TERERBIUIFATEFZEY
M- REEFEEEMEZER HEBREIWT

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Nomination Committee Members REEEEME HE SERUE

Mr. Wong Kin Ping FTEFRE 2/2

Mr. Chan Siu Tat feR/ DA 2/2

Mr. Yap Yung ERAE 2/2

Ms. Chen Lanran FREAELZL 2/2
Remuneration Committee FNEEE

The Remuneration Committee is mainly comprised of independent non-executive
Directors and the members are as follows:

Mr. Wong Kin Ping (independent non-executive Director and
Chairman of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (executive Director)

Mr. Yap Yung (independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chen Lanran (independent non-executive Director)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board regarding the Group’s policies and structure for remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group; determining the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management of the Group; and reviewing and approving
incentive schemes and performance-based remuneration. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March
2022 to review and determine the remuneration packages of the Directors of the
Company and make recommendations to the Board. The individual attendance of
each member of Remuneration Committee is set out below:

FMEEEREE S F=A=+—HLHF
EBRITMREH AR REERRABDESFZ
FMER TMERSFLEERZ -FNEE
EEMBEZERHFEEREINWNT

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Remuneration Committee Members HINEEERE HEAERLFRE
Mr. Wong Kin Ping ETREFERE 2/2
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BR/DEESAAE 212
Mr. Yap Yung BEBAE 2/2
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBLT 2/2

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors and the
members are as follows:

Mr. Yap Yung (Chairman of Audit Committee)
Ms. Chen Lanran
Mr. Wong Kin Ping

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to manage the relationship between
the Company and its external auditor and monitor the audit scope and the process,
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control system and
risk management and to provide advice and comments to the Board. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through on the Company’s website.
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The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31 March 2022
for considering re-appointment of auditors, reviewing the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the interim results of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2021 and discussing with the auditors of the
Company on internal control procedures and financial reporting systems, auditors’
independence, auditors’ remuneration and reviewing the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The individual attendance of each member of
Audit Committee is set out below:

BREZEENBE_T__F=-RA=+—HILF
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Attended/

Eligible to attend

Audit Committee Members BZEZEERE HESERLE
Mr. Yap Yung BEBAE 33
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBL T 33
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FTEFRE 3/3

Corporate Governance Functions

As at 31 March 2022, no corporate governance committee has been established.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board, with the help of the Audit
Committee, was responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance
of the Company and performing the corporate governance duties below:

developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Company;

- reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring any codes of conduct and compliance
manuals applicable to employees and directors of the Group; and

- reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Board is responsible for to prepare balanced, clear and understandable financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements. The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that (i) appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently, (i)
judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable and (iii) the financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibility of external auditor of the Company is to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of the Company.
A statement by the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibility is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to safeguard shareholders” investment
and the Group’s assets. No risk management committee has been established and
the Board, with the help of the Audit Committee, reviews the overall effectiveness
and oversees the management of the Group in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

The Board continuously monitors the Group’s risk management framework, reviews
the Group’s significant risks and conducts an annual review of the effectiveness
of the risk management system. The Board determines the nature and extent of
significant risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives of the Group.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include, among others,
the relevant financial, operational and compliance control and risk management
procedures or policies, a well-established organizational structure with a clearly
defined line of responsibilities and authorities. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to implement the policies adopted from
the Board from time to time. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to
confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each department.
The management had reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

The Company does not have an internal audit department. During the year ended
31 March 2022, Directors, through the Audit Committee with the help of an external
consulting firm, have reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. The Company has engaged an external consulting firm to conduct a review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the major operating subsidiaries
of the Group. Areas for improvement have been identified and appropriate measures
have been taken to provide assurance that key operational risks are identified and
managed.

Whistleblowing policy was established to facilitate employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has an established insider information policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries.

The Board with the help of the Audit Committee and the external consulting
firm, have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022, which covered all
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management of the Group and considered them effective and adequate, despite
having identified areas of improvement.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, BDO Limited (‘BDO”) was engaged as the external
auditor of the Company. The remuneration paid or payable to BDO in respect of
audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

=R EMEN &
BE_Z__F-HA=-+—RHLFE BBIUE
REREAMEFFMARAR (LEBS) BB
A B IR IZ BT o FALBUIR TS R IR IR R TS 2
NRENLEEROMEOT

Fee paid/payable

e ERER

HK$'000

Nature of service R#EEE FET
Audit services in relation to annual results BRI FEENZERTE 1,848
Review of interim financial statement ER P BRE 546
2,394

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Yau Tong (“Mr. Chung”) was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company since 1 January 2008. Mr. Chung is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Chung had complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year and had taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training for the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting by shareholders
and putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)") shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) deposited at the head office and principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza,
255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, to require a special general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at a special
general meeting.
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Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene a special general meeting for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at a special general meeting must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.

The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene a special
general meeting, the agenda proposed to be included and the details of the
business(es) proposed to be transacted in the special general meeting, signed by the
Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board has not advised the
Eligible Shareholders of any outcome to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene
a special general meeting, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in accordance with bye-laws, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

Making enquiry to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may submit their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing by addressing them to the Board by post or delivery to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The bye-laws of the Company are published on the websites of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Company. There was no change
to the bye-laws of the Company during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy and the
Board shall review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the
following ways: the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, publication
of all disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange on the websites of
the Company and Stock Exchange. The Company will continuously ensure the
effectiveness and timeliness of information disclosure to Shareholders and the
investors. The Board welcomes the views of Shareholders on matters affecting the
Group and encourages them to attend Shareholders’ meetings to communicate any
concerns they might have with the Board or the management directly.
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Shareholders of the Company and investors can mail any enquiries, comments,
suggestions and recommendations to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong, the Board or their delegates will reply and response to you promptly.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the
Company to be its goal. It is the policy of the Board, in declaring or recommending
a payment of dividends, to allow our shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on the recommendation of
the Audit Committee in order to promote greater dividend policy transparency. In
deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to the shareholders, the
Board will take into account of (i) general business conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company; (ii) the financial condition and results of operations
of the Group; (iii) the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans of
the Group; (iv) future prospects of the Group; (v) statutory and regulatory restrictions;
(vi) contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Group to the
shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the Company; (vii) taxation
considerations; (viii) shareholders’ interests; and (ix) other factors the Board may
deem relevant. The Board may also pay half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to
be settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is of
the opinion that the profits of the Company justify the payment.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the financial and
cash-flow position of the Group, the Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be recommend
or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The declaration of or
recommendation of declaration of dividends is subject to the absolute discretion
of the Board. Even if the Board decides to recommend and declare dividends, the
form, frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and
other factors of and affecting the Group. The payment of dividend is also subject to
applicable laws and regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents.
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International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) is an enterprise with diverse businesses
including property development, international business settlement, contact
lens business, leasing and trading of computer equipment business and
financing business. In view of the latest sustainability trends such as the
rising interest in ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) investments
and growing demand for sustainable products, the Group strives to develop
a holistic approach to ESG management and establish corporate procedures
to properly understand, identify, evaluate and manage the ESG-related risks
including climate-related risks it faces.

2021 was another difficult year with the continuous outbreak and widespread
of the COVID-19 pandemic (the “pandemic”).
experiences, the Group maintained its business continuity and enhance

Learning from its past

its resilience in the post-covid era by adjusting its business operations and
insisting on its visions to fight for sustainability amid the difficult times.
Leveraging its expertise and experience in its field to help its employees
and its host communities navigate through the global pandemic, the Group
has launched a series of programmes and developed processes that were
imminently required to protect and support its stakeholders, addressing
urgent community needs in response to the governments’ calls.

Although the pandemic diverted significant resources in this period, the Group
keeps pushing forward the sustainable business model for not only itself but
the whole society through strictly complying its ESG values, minimising its
environmental impacts, promoting its employees’ wellbeing and enhancing
the quality of its products and services.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

In strict compliance with the requirements under Appendix 27 —
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the Listing Rules,
the Group is pleased to present its ESG Report (‘ESG Report”) for FY2021/2022,
which demonstrates the Group’s approach and performance in terms of its
ESG management and corporate sustainable development for FY2021/2022.

Reporting boundaries

Adopting the operational control approach and determined by the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”), this ESG report covers the environmental
and social performance within the operational boundaries of the Group that
include its main business lines and reportable operating segments of property
development, international business settlement, contact lens business, leasing
and trading of computer equipment business, financing business and office
operations in the People’s Republic of China (“Mainland China”), Hong Kong
and Lithuania. For corporate governance section, please refer to page 32 to
49 of the Group’s 2021/2022 Annual Report. The reporting period of this ESG
report is for the financial year 2021/2022 (“FY2021/2022"), from 1 April 2021
to 31 March 2022, unless specifically stated otherwise.

Reporting principles
The Group has followed the following reporting principles, namely Materiality,
Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, in its preparation of the ESG Report.

Materiality: Materiality is the threshold at which aspects become sufficiently
important that the relevant information around them should be disclosed. As
such, the Group conducted an annual materiality assessment through online
surveys with key stakeholders and reported on the boundary and significant
ESG issues that may exert a great impact on the Group’s business in the long
run. More information can be found in the section of Stakeholder Engagement
and Materiality Assessment.

Quantitative: The application of the reporting principle of Quantitative
was reflected in the calculation and numeric presentation of the Group’s
environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPI”). Calculation
method, assumptions and conversion factors used are specified clearly in the
footnote of the corresponding performance tables.
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Balance: To portray a full picture of the Group’s sustainability performance
to its stakeholders, the Group was fully transparent on the critical elements
including both its outstanding achievements and rooms for improvement in
comparison with its previous performance.

Consistency: The Group adopted a consistent reporting framework and
a series of reporting techniques including the categorisation of business
segments for evaluation and the calculation methodology for GHG emissions
that were in alignment with its previous ESG Reports, aiming to add more
coherence to the entire reporting process and build a roadmap visualising
its sustainable growth to all. In case of any significant differences from
the previous reporting framework, clear explanation will be made at
corresponding places.

BOARD INCLUSIVENESS

At the Company, the way business operates is informed by the Group’s
purpose of advancing sustainable growth and opportunity. This purpose drives
the Group’s action in managing its environmental and social issues from its
operations to its business partners. This work is supported by a strong ESG
Management System, in which the Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”)
oversees at the highest level and throughout the management system.
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Overview of the ESG Management System RIE-HERELREERRAEE

Input from Input from
Stakeholders Audit
Engagement Committee

FpESHEEA BERZEENER

I

Identification of material
) ESG issues (including risks)
o HAERRE - HERELRSEE
Maintain (BERR) Develop

HEFF A BR

Board oversees, support

Planning to address
the identified issues and
to set goals and targets

Managing unmet

targets and continual and responsible at all levels

improvement EEeRFEET 3
; - 5 = = st 8RR E B R
BERENBRRFFHANE BB LiEREan BT BRI E
|
L be-mm------oo----. Implement
E : T
\ v

Performance evaluation
and reporting
RIFT GRS

T

Input from
external
consultants
ShEREERIIER R

Operational planning and
supervision of
policy implementation
EERRBRRITES

Annual Report 2021/2022 R

<



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR « tERERRS
Governance Structure ERERE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
S

EXECUTIVE LEVEL — AUDIT COMMITTEE
THED —B%EE8E

WITHIN THE GROUP i

FEEUA

MANAGEMENT
EEE

ESG
WORK GROUP
Ri-tEk
ERTF4

MAJOR REPORTING SEGMENTS

OUTSIDE THE GROUP
SESH

FEZH/OE
———) REPORT AND PROVIDE FEEDBACK ~————— COLLABORATION AND EXCHANGE INFORMATION
ERMAE AR WEAMBERES

54 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited ElEEEEEZERARAT



The Board is in charge of overseeing the Group’s businesses and takes the
lead on and assumes ultimate responsibility for the Group’s ESG affairs and
reporting. The Board reviews and monitors the Group’s performance against
its well-defined ESG strategy and ambitions. At the full board level, as well
as through the executive level such as the Audit Committee, the Group’s ESG-
related risks, including climate-related issues, are overseen and managed.
The ESG Work Group has been established to implement the ESG work plans,
while the Group’s management such as the Investor Relations Department
and the Company Secretarial Department of the Hong Kong headquarter are
responsible for the day-to-day liaison of the implementation of the Board’s
instructions, while regularly reporting to the Board about any market updates
or progress updates regarding the Group’s ESG performance. The business
units of the Group are responsible for implementing the ESG-related policies
set by the top management and regularly report to them the progress and
obstacles they met during the daily operations.

Management Approach and Strategy

To properly evaluate, prioritise and manage the Group’s material ESG-related
issues, in addition to the internal review of risk management approach
undertaken by the Audit Committee, the Board also gets information through
its engagement with both internal and external stakeholders via the annual
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment process. More details
regarding the process of how the Board evaluates and prioritises material
ESG-issues can be found in the sections Stakeholder Engagement and
Materiality Assessment.

In the meantime, to better facilitate the Board in grasping the complete
picture of the Group’s sustainability performance so as to make better
informed decisions on managing different material ESG-related issues,
external consultants are engaged to prepare a review material for the Board
every year which covers the analysis and results of the materiality assessment,
major environmental and social performances, climate-related risks and so on
so as to facilitate the Board in setting and implementing more effective ESG
management approach and strategy.
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ESG-related Goals and Targets

As an enterprise with its major businesses ranging from office operations
to manufacturing production as well as property development, the Board
believes that the Group’s major ESG issues should be the environmental
impacts caused during operations. To this end, the Group carefully considers
its past environmental performance and set a series of specific environmental
targets which are detailed in the section Environmental Sustainability.
To monitor the progress of such targets, environmental performance and
corresponding analysis will be summarised by external consultants every year
and submitted to the Board for review and endorsement. In such ways, the
Board can get better understanding of the Group’s current context thereby
allowing the Board to consider and make informed decisions when setting
future business strategies and business plans. In the future, the Board will
keep on reviewing the business scope of the Group and will be ready to
update the Group’s ESG goals and targets when necessary.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Adhering to its emphasis on the continuous engagement, the Group respects,
considers and actively responds to the expectations of its stakeholders
when planning business strategies. Aiming at strengthening corporate
sustainability approaches and performance, the Group has put efforts into
its stakeholder inclusiveness while also enhancing stakeholders’ awareness
of ESG and sustainability issues. The Group highly values the feedback from
its stakeholders and takes initiative to foster an intimate and reciprocal
relationship through various communication channels, examples are included
in the table below.

Table 1. Communication with Stakeholders

Stakeholders
FnE

Expectations and concerns
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EENFERE - HEREAFTERKEER
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TRBAMNREXRFAHET —RH AR
PIREER FEHNRREAIFEER—
MonEEZFERNER INBERRE
FHRIERFAKRBEDTETHR MIRE
EXgEM B - EFTOUUBEMT LR
EERRR EMBEFEEFERKERTR
BE R Rt B E B AF R A B RTE o K
o BEREREBRNAEENEBLE
ARG R TR B R BT A ERYIRIR 1L

RERBERRIER

FRESH
FEBERFNENTESE ERIEH
RERFEE-EBLEBOEFTHENSR
BonRtXrFEERHAERE &
ERERMNESRESEIFRE N REM
BMEMEHRRRE A REAKRAIFENLEZR
BRRH -AEESEERFNELRTHE
AR WA BZREEREIHERNHE
ERBEEREBIEFR RAER TR

RLAFHERE

Communication Channels
BRERE

Government and regulatory authorities -

BT R B B

regulations

- EBTEEER

- Sustainable development

-  IRE%E

- Occupational health and safety

- HBERERERZE
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Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Communication Channels
FinE FEHARRRIERS BEERE
Shareholders - Return on investments - Regular reports and announcements
fEER - KELOR -  THRERXMm
- Corporate governance - Regular general meetings
- EEA - THERERE
- Compliance with laws and - Corporate official website
regulations - REBHBE
- BEEEER
Employees - Employees’ remuneration and - Performance reviews
ES benefits - ERmE
- (EEFMEER
- Career development - Regular meetings and training
- BEEZEE - THgzERE
- Occupational Health and safety - Emails, notice boards, hotline, caring
- BERERERZ2 activities with the management
- BI-AHRE AR EEERE
Mt
Customers - High-quality products and services — Customer satisfaction survey
TR - EnEELKRRT - HPRPREERET

- Customers’ interests
- =Y

- Customers’ satisfaction

- EFRREE

Face-to-face meetings and on-site
visits

HHESRKRIRSFN

Customer service hotline and email

&P IR R K B
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Stakeholders Expectations and concerns Communication Channels
FinE FEHAR BRIERS BEERE

Suppliers - Fair and open procurement - Open tender
R - ATFRFEEREE - REEE

General public

A

- Win-win upstream and
downstream cooperation

- EBFLERTREAE

- Protection of intellectual property
rights
- IREFFERE

- Involvement in communities
_ iEs®

- Compliance with laws and
regulations

- EBTREER

- Environmental protection
awareness
- BRREH
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Materiality assessment

Since ESG risks and opportunities vary across different companies with various
backgrounds, business operation models and concerns, the Group takes a
step-wise approach and performs an annual materiality assessment to identify
matters that may impact both the society as well as the Group’s standing
and operational performance, through an outward- and inward-looking
perspective in evaluating material issues.

In FY2021/2022, the Group engaged its key stakeholders to conduct a
materiality assessment survey initiated by a third-party agency in order
to enhance the objectivity of the evaluation. Specifically, internal and
external stakeholders including customers, suppliers, business partners
and employees from various business units of the Group were selected and
invited for participating in an online survey. By means of the online survey,
the selected stakeholders expressed their views on a list of ESG issues of the
Group, with regards to the Group’s business development and strategies from
the stakeholder’s standpoint. The Group then comes up with a materiality
assessment matrix below, which reflects the prioritised ESG matters. This
assessment acted as a powerful tool in facilitating the Group to develop action
plans for better ESG management.

Stakeholder Engagement Materiality Matrix
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Environmental Impacts
RIRHE

9 O Operating Practices
EiEEA

Employment and Labour Practices

EBRKARBIER

© Community Investment
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O Leadership & Governance

BENMER

Importance to the Group
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GHG Emissions

mERASHER

Energy Management

AEIREIE

Water & Wastewater Management
KERMEEKEIR

Solid Waste Stewardship
ERSEEY EIE

Climate Change Mitigation & Adaptation
RIEEMCAR AR B

Renewable and Clean Energy

A BAENEZER

Labour Practices

BT ER

Employee Remuneration and Benefits

BB #r i Ko (2 F)

Occupational Health and Safety
BERREREZD

Employee Development and Training
BB % E RIS

Green Procurement

LREERRE

Engagement with Suppliers
BRI S A

Environmental and Social Risk Management of Supply Chain

HEENRERTERRER

Supply Chain Resilience
HpEsR M
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Product/Service Quality and Safety
ER/ REEERTR

Customer Privacy and Data Security

BRLRFRENEEZE

Marketing and Promotion

SN E

Intellectual Property Rights

TR AN B EE 1

Labelling Relating to Products/Services

Bt/ BRFS AR RE O AR B RE

Business Ethics & Anti-corruption
PR EEN R ER

Internal Grievance Mechanism
P30 ER ER A 1
Participation in Philanthropy
NmAEFFHNDH

Cultivation of Local Employment

REZ iz

Support of Local Economic Development
TR E SR

Business Model Adaptation and Resilience to Environmental,
Social, Political and Economic Risks and Opportunities
AR A HIRIE 1 E  BUAR S R R38R
T FE R0 TR AE 7

Management of the Legal & Regulatory Environment
(regulation-compliance management)

FREERRSENEHNEE (F25RED

Critical Incident Risk Responsiveness

REFHBEREHEEN

Systemic Risk Management (e.g. Financial Crisis)

AMCERER GIN : /EH)
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Through the materiality analysis, the Group identified “Product/Service Quality
and Safety”, “Customer Privacy and Data Security”, “Intellectual Property
Rights” and “Critical Incident Risk Responsiveness” as the ESG issues that were
of greatest significance to the Group’s business. The results were delivered
for review and endorsement of the Board. This review helped the Group in
prioritising its sustainability issues and highlighting the material and relevant

aspects, so as to align them with stakeholders’ expectations.

Progress on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

The Group’s approach to sustainability is guided by its sense of purpose: to
create long-term value for all and manage its business in a balanced and
responsible way. Seeing sustainability as one of its business principles, the
Group has emphasized on the following SDGs that are of great stakeholder’s
concerns on corporate sustainability stewardship. As a supporter of the United
Nations Global Compact, the Group has been committed to driving progress
towards achieving the global sustainability targets by playing a key role in
promoting SDGs locally and nationally.
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SDG 2: Agricultural land protection

In response to the principle of sub-targets in Goal 2, the Group made
investments in the exploration of feasible ways for environmental protection
and the improvement of business resilience to environmental hazards,
resource scarcity and other climate-related risks in its supply chain during
business, especially in the property development sector. The Group has been
working tirelessly to adapt its business to and stay at the cutting-edge of
sustainable property development by evaluating the level of vulnerability
of its business model, setting targets on energy and resource consumption
and importantly, championing innovations in the construction, delivery and
management of its villas, townhouses, commercial buildings, office buildings,
hotels and high-rise apartments.

SDG 3: Health protection

In recent years, the continuous pandemic led to a growing recognition of the
importance of health and safety. As one of its top priorities, the Group took a
series of measures to safeguard the safety of its people, business partners and
customers, such as providing anti-epidemic supplies and promoting the use of
digital communication.

In the meantime, the Group always pays attention to protecting its people
from occupational health and safety hazards. The provision of appropriate
health-care options enables the Group to safeguard the health and well-being
of all its employees. Meanwhile, the Group has also taken the responsibility
to protect the end-users from any potentially negative health impacts by
sourcing eco-friendly building materials, monitoring the use of resources in
the building environment and improving the management service quality.
The Group will continue to implement its internal policies so as to keep its
work-related fatality and injury rate at zero.
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SDG 4: Talent retention

The Group provides its employees with non-discriminative and open access
to vocational training opportunities and internship programmes. Aiming
to inspire higher motivational and professional levels of its employee, the
Group provides opportunities of continuous learning, upskilling and reskilling
to its newly hired staff and mid-career professionals. Apart from in-house
training programmes, the Group also encourages its staff to participate in
external training courses. To develop an ongoing learning culture within the
organisation, the Group motivates its employees to obtain more job-related
qualifications with incentives such as reimbursements. The Group aims to
further diversity its training courses that can equip its employees with more
capabilities and knowledge to handle difficult tasks.

SDG 5: Diversity & equal opportunity

To ensure all females of the Group are empowered with full and effective
involvement in the Group’s activities and with equal opportunities
for leadership at all levels of decision-making, the Group embraces a
diversified talent pool with the inclusion of an increasing number in female
representation. To raise awareness about gender equality, the Group’s human
resources policies promote equal remuneration for both women and men and
are in strict compliance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests.

SDG 6: Water conservation

Understanding the importance of the protection and restoration of water-
related ecosystems to the sanitation and hygiene of drinking water, the Group
is committed to enhancing water quality by reducing water pollution and
minimising the release of hazardous waste during its operations.

Before commencing, the contact lens business of the Group has already set
the water conservation target of reducing 50% water consumption during its
manufacturing process in the future. In addition, the Group has also adopted
a series of preliminary treatment process before discharge during production
to avoid any contamination of natural water bodies. More information about
the water conservation targets and progress, please refer to the section A.2.
Use of resources.
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SDG 8: Decent job creation

Adhering to the principle of responsible employment, the Group perseveres in
ensuring that the basic labour rights and healthy working environment for its
employees are upheld, with fair and competitive salary and benefits packages
provided with the support of various internal policies. The Group endeavours
to keep optimising its supply chain management in collaboration with its
business partners, aiming to transit to local procurement gradually that is
conducive to creating more employment opportunities for communities.

Stakeholder feedback

As the Group strives for excellence, the Group welcomes stakeholders’
feedback and advice on the improvement of corporate ESG approach and
performance, especially under the topics listed as the highest importance in
the materiality assessment. Readers are also welcomed to share their views
with us at https://www.ibsettlement.com/contact.php or via mail.

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Caring for long-term sustainability plays an important role in green and low-
carbon development in China. Reckoning that the planet is suffering from
severe threats including environmental degradation and water scarcity, the
Group strives to minimise its impacts on the environment in which it operates
and has incorporated environmental sustainability as an integral part of its
overall purpose. In FY2021/2022, the Group has controlled its emissions and
consumption of resources by strictly complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations in the PRC and other areas where the Group operates in
its daily operations, including but not limited to the following:

. Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({7

AREMBIRIRREED);

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution ((FPZE A R HEM B A RIS RHEED);

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution ((FZE A\ B H MBI IS RBHEED);

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes ({FRZE A R A E [E RS BE
BEYPSRIBIEFRAE));
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«  Llaw of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving Energy ({F1ZE A
RHMBEESHLIRETRE));

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact

Assessment ((FPEE A R EFBEIRIZZETEED) ;
. Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong);
and

. Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

This section will primarily disclose the Group’s policies and practices on
emissions, use of resources, the environmental and natural resources, as well
as climate change during FY2021/2022.

A.1. Emissions
In FY2021/2022, the Group was in compliance with relevant national
and local laws and regulations in relation to air, GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

In pursuit of minimisation of GHG emissions, the Group is dedicated
to climate protection and remains aligned with the national goal of
achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. In FY2021/2022, the Group’s
electricity consumption and use of fossil fuels for transportation
were the two major sources of GHG emission. The Group’s total GHG
emissions amounted to 654 tonnes COze with an intensity of 2.15
tonnes CO26/HK$ million. The air pollutants included sulphur oxides
(“50Y"), nitrogen oxides (NOxX") and particulate matter (PM) that were
mainly from the burning of fossil fuels for vehicles. Moreover, with
the completion of the plant construction and civil engineering works
for the contact lens business, the Group generated a total of 70.5
tonnes of non-hazardous solid waste and 34,659 m? of non-hazardous
wastewater, as well as 9,000 m* of hazardous wastewater with 20
m? of wastewater recycled. For more detailed information about the
quantitative data of the Group’s environmental performance, please
refer to Table E1 in the Appendix.
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Financing Business

Emissions from the Group’s financing business segment included
greenhouse gases (‘GHGs”), municipal solid waste and municipal
wastewater. In the financing business segment, the vast majority of
GHG emissions came from the use of electricity during daily operations.
To further reduce GHG emissions, several measures have been taken
to reduce electricity consumption in the office, which will be further
described in A.2.Use of Resources.

To lower the amount of solid waste and drive sustainable practices
during its daily operations in the office, the Group has implemented the

following practices:

. Recycle solid waste through waste classification;

. Encourage employees to bring their own lunchbox to reduce the
use of disposable items; and

. Advocate the reuse of office stationeries.

The non-recyclable municipal solid wastes are normally collected and
disposed of by the management team of the property building.

In FY2021/2022, the wastewater generated from the office of the Group
was mainly commercial wastewater, which was directly discharged
into the municipal drainage system and handled by the property
management team. Since the amount of wastewater highly depends
on the amount of water used, the Group has taken specific measures
to encourage practices of water conservation during daily operations in
the office, which will be further discussed in A.2.Use of Resources.
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Property Development

As a responsible enterprise, the Group is very cautious about all
the emissions related to the property development business. In
FY2021/2022, emissions from this business sector included air
pollutants, GHGs, wastewater, solid waste, dust and noise. The Group
has established various policies and implemented effective practices to
control and manage the amount of emissions and wastes during the
year under review.

Air Emissions and GHG Emissions

Given the business nature of the Group, a large proportion of air and
GHG emissions in this business sector arose from the usage of gasoline
in vehicles and the purchase and consumption of electricity. Committed
to taking actions to minimise its climate impact and responding to the
national call for accelerating decarbonization, the Group has focused
its efforts on energy conservation and implemented specific measures,
which will be further described in A.2. Use of Resources.

Wastewater

Understanding that construction projects inevitably generate
wastewater, which raises numerous concerns about the pollution
problems caused by inappropriate discharge, the following practices
have been carried out in particular to manage its onsite wastewater,
such as:

. Segregate domestic sewage from construction wastewater and
remove oil and residue by filtration before discharging into the

municipal sewage network;

. Set up internal wastewater treatment plant to treat wastewater
before discharging into the municipal sewage network;

. Use coagulant to enhance sedimentation efficiency;

. Perform regular self-monitoring to ensure that the effluent meets
the prescribed standards; and

. Maximise the water efficiency at all stages and reuse the
wastewater for cleaning as much as possible.
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Solid waste

Solid waste is unavoidable during most construction and demolition
practices. The Group has classified solid wastes during its construction
practice, including land excavation waste, broken bricks, mortar,
concrete and plastic package. To reduce solid waste emissions, the
Group has enacted several policies and implemented practices in
respect of the “3R” principles (reduce, re-use and recycle), including

. Reuse land excavation waste to backfill;

. Store construction waste at designated locations for
transportation and disposal regularly;

. Recycle residual materials from the construction sites, including
residual steel, wood and non-hazardous solid waste;

. Sell plastic packages to recycling stations for further handling;

. Use eco-friendly materials in construction operations, such as
materials with recycled content;

. Ensure that workers on site are in good awareness of the “3R”
principles; and

. Review onsite practices through regular monitoring.
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Dust

Dust generated from the construction site is also a threat to both
the environment and workers’ health. As such, the Group has taken
measures to control the dust, including:

. Clean vehicles’ wheels and underbody before leaving the
construction site;

. Use a sealed vehicle to transport dust;

. Set appropriate speed limits and reduce the frequency of
transportation through better planning;

. Rinse the ground or sprinkle water daily to settle the dirt and
avoid sludge accumulation; and

. Install pressurised dust reduction spray devices along the main
road of the construction site.

Noise

In FY2021/2022, the Group strictly complied with the national standards
in relation to noise emissions such as the Emission Standards for
Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008) and did
not receive any substantiated complaint about noise nuisance from
its nearby residents. As listed below, the Group has taken effective
measures to mitigate noise during operations:

. Take effective measures to lower the noise level around
construction sites, including the installation of noise enclosure,
noise barrier and vibration isolation facilities;

. Use equipment and construction methods with lower noise and
lower vibration; and

. Regulate certain operating periods for the use of equipment/
machinery.
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Contact lens business

The contact lens business was newly established by the Group since
FY2019/2020. As of the reporting date, although the manufacturing
process was not ready to commence, the construction works of the
plant and the main structure construction of the civil engineering have
commenced. With the enhancement in data collection method, a clear
picture of the Group’s environmental performance could be revealed
by including a majority part of the environmental data collected from
this business segment’s construction process. Meanwhile, in view of the
expected emissions that may arise from the plants’ future operations,
the Group has already prepared and enacted a series of measures for
future management which can being found below. The full disclosure
of more comprehensive environmental analysis will be presented in the
future reports when the contact lens business officially commences.

Air Emissions and GHG Emissions

The main sources of air and GHG emissions in this business sector will
probably be the usage of gasoline in vehicles and machinery, and the
purchase and consumption of electricity. To manage its air emissions,
the Group will formulate and implement internal standards that meet
or even exceed all applicable regulations. The manufacturing processes
may generate different types of air emissions in the future. For instance,
Nonmethane Hydrocarbons (NMHC) will be generated in the production
process, which will be handled according to the Emission Standard of
Volatile Organic Compounds for Printing Industry (DB35/1784-2018).
Specifically, NMHC will be collected and connected to the spray tower
for preliminary treatment, and then discharged through a 15-metre
exhaust pipe.

Hazardous waste

The hazardous waste that will be generated in this business segment
in the future mainly include waste ink (HW49) from the production
process, glycerol waste liquid used for the cleaning of liquid injection
machine pipeline (HW06), resin-containing experiment residue from
research and development (R&D) laboratory (HW06), and saturated
spray tower circulation waste liquid (HW49), etc. The hazardous solid
waste will be collected in a unified manner and handed over to
qualified organisations with Hazardous Waste Business License (f& &
[BE W) £85I 5%) for handling and disposal.
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Meanwhile, the hazardous wastewater primarily containing suspended
solid, organic matters and ammonia nitrogen generated from the
manufacturing process will be collected through the production
wastewater pipeline in the factory, pre-treated in the coagulation
sedimentation process and finally discharged via the municipal sewage
pipe network.

The Group has designated a full-time environmental protection
management team, which will be responsible for the monitoring
of compliance in operations with applicable environmental laws,
regulations and standards by performing Applicability Evaluation (&
FAMEETE) every six months, according to the Applicability Evaluation
Form of Environmental Protection Law Standards JR{R /A RIZAEE

FAIEEHER).

Emission controls
The Group plans to take various measures to manage and minimise
emissions from the contact lens plant and its operation, including:

. Reinforce the environmental awareness of employees through
training and the building of environmental management system;

. Record real-time air emissions and wastewater produced,;

. Implement the daily maintenance of equipment to prevent any
unorganised discharge of exhaust gas, wastewater and noise that
may be caused by equipment malfunction; and

. Adopt the pollution prevention and control measures as
proposed by the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to
guarantee that all discharges meet the standards.
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A.2.

PROGRESS

Endeavouring to realising environmental sustainability within its
business operations, the Group has put efforts in monitoring and
controlling its environmental impacts in FY2021/2022. When comparing
with the performance in the previous financial year, the Group’s Scope
2 GHG emission and non-hazardous waste disposed surged dramatically
mainly due to the increase in electricity consumption of the property
development business and the commence of the plants of the contact
lens business. However, the intensity of wastewater discharged
dropped by around 69% with the increase in the Group’s revenue due
to properties sales. The enhanced data organisation techniques and
disclosure scope drove radical changes in the Group’s environmental
performance. The Group will be committed to reinforcing the
monitoring of its environmental performance and implementing more
effective measures in emissions controls and resource conservation.

Use of resources

In FY2021/2022, the major resources that the Group used included
electricity, gasoline, water, paper, and packaging materials. The
resources used by the Group in FY2021/2022 are illustrated in Table E2
in the Appendix.

Electricity

The Group consumes electricity mainly for the daily operations in the
offices, construction sites, and contact lens plants. In FY2021/2022, the
Group purchased and consumed 725 kWh'000 of electricity from the
local public utility company for its daily operations. Aiming to manage
and control its electricity consumption pattern, the Group has enacted
business practices as indicated below:

. Affix reminders next to the switches of electrical appliances to

remind staff to turn them off when not in use;

. Install time-controlled switches to ensure electrical appliances do
not waste energy during unused periods;

. Be flexible in adjusting the temperature of air conditioners in the
offices according to the weather;

. Replace traditional lightings in the offices with energy saving
bulbs such as LEDs;
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. Clean appliances (such as refrigerator, air-conditioning and
shredder) regularly to maintain its efficiency;

. Procure equipment with Grade 1 Energy Label; and

. Hold regular education seminars and workshops about electricity
conservation among employees.

Considering the control of electricity consumption to be one of the
top priorities in the Group’s roadmap towards carbon reductions and
energy efficiency, the Group has laid great emphasis on promoting the
proper usage of the electrical appliances. Internal policies are set up
to embed the slogan of “Saving Electricity” into its business strategy. In
particular, all production machines, surrounding units, power supplies
and lightings should be turned off before the close of business at
17:30. The Group assigned internal task force to check and measure the
performance of energy consumption and ensure the effectiveness of
the implementation of internal policies. In the meantime, the Group
purchased eco-friendly device and facilities to promote energy saving.
For instance, solar panels have been installed at the contact lens plants.

Gasoline

The Group consumes gasoline primarily for transportation. In
FY2021/2022, a total amount of 44,000 L of gasoline were consumed
by the Group. The Group has been aware that the reliance on vehicles
powered by fossil fuels will lead to poor air quality and accelerate the
level of GHG emissions that worsen the environment. In transitioning
towards “low carbon and low consumption” business models, the Group
is committed to optimising its management of business trips by setting
up and implementing strict internal policies in its fleet management,
such as:

. Make use of telephone conferences instead of physical meetings
to avoid unnecessary travelling;

. Avoid the idling of vehicles and machinery at the construction
sites; and

. Explore the feasibility and practicality of replacing highly
polluting vehicles with electric and energy-efficient ones.
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Water

In FY2021/2022, the Group did not face any problem in sourcing
water fit for its purpose. During the year under review, the Group used
35,964 m* of water. As water is one of the most precious resources on
earth, the Group believes that water saving is the key to the long-term
stability of the Group’s business, hence the Group has set up policies
and implemented practices to preserve water resources during daily
operations, including:

. Promote and educate staff to save water;

. Affix “Saving Water Resource” posters in prominent places to
encourage water conservation;

. Adopt water-saving equipment with water efficiency labels;

. Adjust the water supply according to the season and resting time;

. Carry out regular check, maintenance and leakage test on the
water supply system;

. Recycle and reuse the wastewater as greening water and road
cleaning water; and

. Harvest rainwater for operations in the construction site.

The Group endeavours to optimise its operational procedures in the
contact lens plants and targets at reducing water consumption during
productions without compromising the quality of its products. The
Group has already saved and recycled 10% of the total water resources,
and is further targeting a decline of water consumption by 50% for the
hydration process.
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Paper

Nowadays, the realisation of digitalisation has a positive impact on the
ecosystem and delivers opportunities for the businesses to transform
into paperless operations. Since paper is mainly used for administrative
purposes in the Group’s offices, the Group has lowered its unnecessary
paper consumption through adopting eco-friendly approaches. In
FY2021/2022, a total of 1,254 kg of paper was consumed by the Group.
The effective measures adopted by the Group are highlighted below:

. Disseminate information by electronic means as much as
possible;
. Promote the idea of “Think before print” in the offices to remind

the staff to avoid unnecessary printings;

. Set double-sided printing as default setting;

. Place boxes and trays beside photocopiers to collect single-sided
paper for reuse and recycling; and

. Prioritise suppliers with more environmentally friendly paper
source during procurement.

Packaging materials

In FY2021/2022, the Group consumed 2 tonnes of plastic packaging
materials mainly due to the preparation for the start of the contact
lens business. The Group has enacted several practices to conserve such
materials and enhance the consumption efficiency including:

. Strengthen the recycling and promote the reuse of packaging
materials in various types to lessen the burdens on landfills;

. Encourage the practice of minimal packaging; and

. Seek more environmental-friendly packaging materials.
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Construction Raw Materials

Construction raw materials are mainly consumed by the Group in the
property development business, including metal, concrete and paper
materials. The Group has taken the following practices to improve
the utilisation efficiency of raw materials and strive for long-term
environmental stability of the Group’s business:

. Choose aerated blocks to reduce the weight of the walls;

. Adopt new polymer waterproofing membrane to prevent water
penetration;

. Use hollow glass tiles for insulation;

. Develop construction plans and utilise innovative construction
techniques to improve material use efficiency; and

. Choose responsibly sourced green construction materials
and locally sustainable construction materials to reduce the
embodied impacts related to energy, waste, carbon and water.

PROGRESS

In FY2021/2022, although the level of electricity consumption surged
due to properties’ sales activities in the property development segment,
the consumption intensities of other resources such as gasoline
and water decreased by 72% and 68% respectively. In view of the
commencement of the construction of the plants for the contact lens
business, the increase in consumption of electricity and use of plastic
packaging materials and paper are unavoidable in future financial
years. Nevertheless, the Group will continue to improve its operational
energy efficiency and the recycling of materials to conserve and
enhance its consumption performance.

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

BERMH
AEBMIEEMEMEEFTPHER
HEMEL BREEE RR I RMARMS
ke REBB B 7 U TR
RMEREREN L HFBEREE
EEXBHRPRIBERE -

« ERRBLUREREENES ;

- RAMESHFHAKEMNRLE
KEZE ;

« ERPERERFRERR

- FIERERRMRRBANEES
AR B EHE AR ; &

- EESaSEXRERENGEGEMMN
A R R AL 0 DU TEBE
R BEEY Rk ERNARE

B2 483
o

ERE

RIE—— /"B _BE - RES
TIEFEKFERYERE D BN EH
EEEMMIE A MRKEEMER
BUHFER E D B T PE72%5268% © EEL
B REBERNITRE T > HNRKRE
BEEENHERENBEME KR
SRR SR EIE M- REN
b AEREFHERSEEEEN R
MR BB U LB 4 R 3R FH HUHFE R
Ho



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHBS

A3. RIEKRRAER

A.3. The environment and natural resources

In FY2021/2022, the Group’s business operations did not cause any
significant impacts on the environment considering the Group’s
business nature and plans during the year under review. Through
analyzing the environmental implications of its business, the Group has
further focused on the self-examination in terms of its environmental
performance. Given the Group’s most significant environmental
impact by far has been from the purchase of energy resources, the
Group believes that it has a pivotal role to play in improving its energy
efficiency. Identifying the energy consumption and corresponding GHG
emissions as its major environmental impacts, the Group is dedicated to
furthering its reduction of electricity consumption and thus the overall
GHG emissions by setting up and implementing effective internal
policies that regulate the use of energy resources.

Abiding by the applicable environmental laws and regulations, the
Group establishes internal policies such as the Environment, Health and
Safety (EHS) measures. Embedding the concept of green building into
its construction projects, the Group aims to create more eco-friendly
and sustainable housing estates through its exceptional design and the
adoption of landscaping within the property boundary.

In addition, the Group encourages its employees to join tree
planting activities and eco-tours aiming to contribute to the carbon
sequestration for carbon offset purpose. Since establishment, the Group
has planted 580 trees already. The Group will keep on looking for more
green activities and engage its employees in learning and implementing
the sustainability principles through these activities.

Meanwhile, the Group advocates the “3R principles—reduce, reuse and
recycle” in the handling of used materials. For instance, the Group
paid attention to details and replaced the aluminium foil labels of the
contact lens that was originally printed with ink with the ones based on
laser engraving, so as to minimise the use of resources at source.

A BT — B BEKER
CEFERNSNEENEBEE R
2 AEENEREBITRHIRIES
MEMEATE - ZBDMEERY
RIENEE AEERE—TERSE
MERERFENER BT - ENAE
BiES A IRBENRERERAEN
BERERNRE  BEXREEMEEHE
REHERMUEHS @ EEREE
FeodBlsE R HERAENRE R EE
HRARTERIEZE AEERS
T38RI T K B HE A R AY A1 B B R 2k
HERERERNER  LUE— T RE
BHEE AMMREEEREEREBH
e

AEBRETERNRFREER B
HIEIRIE ~ BEEZ 2 (EHS)IEHEF A
BERR-EEFECREGORRAES
MATRRER  #FRANRFRED
XHENFAIBRTCREHER
AR EFFENER -

5 AEE B HIES 2 RE6E
BRI STE(RERBEFRM
FERIRIEE - BRI LUK AEEEE
T5801R 1 e AE BB RBES N E S 4%
B8 HEEBBELLHES
I EIT R g RIRA -

EE > AEBEREEAMHNEEL
RETRERI—BER - EREAR
BIRBE) Pl AEBETEME
5 IR St AR 2 ED R B BR T2 BR iR 80 6 1R
BENABOHZ LWIERELEE
BOEIRAVER o

Annual Report 2021/2022 R 77



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHS

78

Despite the fact that the Group’s business operations did not cause any
significant impacts on the environment during the year under review,
the Group is committed to setting up specific environmental targets
in fulfilling the increasing demand and expectations from regulatory
authorities and various stakeholders. The Group’s future targets and
actions are summarised in the table below:

Areas Targets
B BiR

BEFAERENEFZENRBRFEL
AERBENENEATE +5£H
RORFIERRREERUAERE
WREREFNEA DB RIBREH
E - AERMRKERRITEOHL
RE&E:

Actions

T8

Air and GHG Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, the Group

Emissions targets to maintain the intensity of air and GHG
EE B ZE S emissions in FY2022/2023 within the same scope at the
FEHEI same level.

u_v_ S IE I EARES AEEEB
BRI /TR =HMEMEARSEER
mgm&&iﬁ?mm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁo
Solid Waste Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, the Group
[EBEEEY) targets to maintain the intensity of non-hazardous solid
waste generated in FY2022/2023 within the same scope
at the same level.
NWZBZ— /B _HFEAEES AEEE
BEBKR _Z-_— /T _-HEHARSEER
EXNEREEREEYNE EERTAERKT
Electricity Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, the Group
5] targets to maintain the intensity of electricity
consumption in FY2022/2023 within the same scope at
the same level.

UWZBZ— /T2 _HERBEST AEEE
RERR_ZB__ /_ZT_=FHEEHEERN
BB IHFEREEREAER KT

Other Energy Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, the Group

Resources targets to maintain the intensity of gasoline and diesel
HgE)RE R in FY2022/2023 within the same scope at the same
level.

WZBZ— /B HEAEES  AEEE
EERN -/ —ZT_=ZFEHERBERN
RS R SRR B AR BRI K o
Water and Taking FY2021/2022 as the baseline year, the Group
Wastewater targets to maintain the intensity of water consumption
KEJRFEEK  and wastewater discharged in FY2022/2023 within the
same scope at the same level.
NWZ=_—/Z giiﬁﬁfﬁ%%fﬁﬁ ~EEH
RN B/ _E_=HMEHEHREER
E’\Jﬁﬁ7}<7§z§1§7}<ﬁFﬁﬂz%F£,‘Eh?‘$ﬁH7J<‘ AC
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The Group will continue to monitor and review its
emissions. Besides, the Group will control the level of
electricity consumption to further lower the Scope 2
GHG emission.
FEBREBEHEARBETEBNE - LI A&
BRI EEFENKFELUE—SRBREEE
mE R AR o

In order to achieve the target, the Group will continue
and further promote its waste classification practices in
respect to the “3R” principles.

RIEMBR AEEREEIE—TZ3RIFA
TRERENIR D FRIBR

The Group will continue to uphold its internal policy of
“Saving Electricity” in its business strategy

AEBRHEENEEBRBEARTE KB E)
BYPY BB AR o

The Group will continue to control the use of fuels by
following its internal policies regarding business trips
and explore the feasibility to replace current vehicles
with energy-efficient alternatives.
AEEREEFBETHRERARBERNAE
EBERESIARINMER TSRUBEFERYHENE
REERREEEWMATE-

The Group will continue with its commitment in water
saving by adopting water-saving equipment, recycling
and reusing wastewater as common practice in its
business operation.
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R o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHBS

A.4. Climate change A4, SIREE

With the increasing frequency of climate-related crisis witnessed over
the world, decarbonizing and achieving carbon neutrality has become
the consensus of more and more nations. As the world’s second
largest economy, China has taken initiative to take the corresponding
responsibility in carbon reduction, becoming the first developing
country to propose a carbon neutrality timetable — the well known
“3060” carbon target.

Aligning with the national policy of promoting green development and
economy as stated in the “14th Five Year Plan”, the Group has been
formulating strategies to strengthen governance and improve climate
risk management and performance. The ESG management team of the
Group has identified several paths to addressing the potential risks with
reference to the guidance from the Task Force on Climate-related Risks
(TCFD).
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SEES > R B Be 2 A AR P A B AR 2 AR
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TR RENTE R AR 5 E BN EAEAR AR
WEF A ELIRHRPRRER
(BDSREr A A1HY T 3060 J ik B 1E) B2
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AEEE T+HAERE RHAR e ES
BERREENEARER  ~E£H—
BHHIERERICAERREFARERR
EEARERR -AEENRE - HERE
AEEERESE RIEERMERE
AB(TCFD)AY3ES| B EEEET R
BET®RE

Annual Report 2021/2022 R 79



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHS

80

Risk Potential Impact

A% BERE

Acute Increase in frequency of extreme weather events such — Affect the structure of the Group’s properties and
Physical Risk as typhoons, storms and flood bring major safety hazards to its construction

ITRIEERE
[z

Chronic
Physical Risk
REAMER
2l

Transition Risk
EBARE R

Opportunities

i

BefE ~ R AR A KF MBI R REMEERIAR

Prolonged heat waves and changed in precipitation

patterns

REBFRKEREBRIVEE

Updates of policies and regulations have further
increased the environmental requirements especially
for the construction and the property development
business
BREERNEFEE—FIRSRFRER LH
EHHERERYEREEBNEK

Potential Opportunities

BIERE

workers and occupants
HEAEEMENRBILAREERET AR
FREREALZRZRER

Delay the transportation of goods, cause
disruption to the supply chain and affect the
stable supply of raw materials
EREYER S HEEPE T ER
MR TE 7

Suspension of work and electricity due to
extreme weather events leads to the delay in
project completion may cause the Group extra
operating costs
AiimRkaEHETEEERIBEETIIE
BrIRES I AL B EL BINSEMA
Continuous raining may lead to frequent
flooding which may cause higher maintenance
costs for the Group’s properties
FERRNEER KK IAE  ErEgE
A S E W) VAR S A ASIE 0

Prolonged heat waves may affect the working
conditions of the Group’s workplace and lead to
higher operating costs for maintaining optimal
temperature to protect the workers” health
ENEHRAEEEARERTIESAN
TR TERERFREREURETL
NBERAYVZE N2 E 0

Operating costs are expected to rise in response
to stringent regulations

TREIE E A g AR BB AR MIE M

Green Building
rrEEE

The Group plans to integrate energy and resource efficiency in project design and operations in its new
development projects, which is expected to reduce follow-up operating costs and develop new business
opportunities under the promotion of green buildings in the “14th Five-Year Plan”.
AEBEGFENEFBEBEEANANBER S NEEPEGERRERNE  EEEN+HARELA
THGOEENES TREBRBEEN S RBEEMEE-
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Although climate change is not going to impose direct severe impacts
on the Group’s business segments which mainly consist of office
operations, the Group is fully aware of the fact that climate change
may pose various severe risks to its operations relating to property
development and manufacturing. To mitigate or respond to the
impact of the climate crisis, the Group steps up the establishment of
precautionary measures and emergency response plans in regards of
working procedure under extreme weather event and contingency
plans for selecting alternative suppliers. Meanwhile, the Group is also
committed to taking into account the climate-related issues when
making important decisions such as selecting locations for new property
development.

In order to take further steps to manage the material risks, the ESG
management team of the Group is responsible for monitoring and
reporting the material risks regarding climate emergency to the Group’s
management with the help of the materials prepared by external
consultants. In the future, the Group will further its commitment to
developing more understanding regarding its climate-related risks and
opportunities within its operations and developing its internal policies,
metrics and goals in guiding climate actions.

VI. SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
Employment and labour practices

B.1.

Employment

The Group treats its employees equally, respects their opinions and
responds to their needs. The Group is committed to creating and
maintaining an appealing workplace and great career development
opportunities for all employees, while growing with its employees
together. In particular, the Group offers high standard benefits, exciting
chances for promotion, self-enhancement and career development,
which, in turn, can be beneficial to the sustainable development of
the Company. As of the end of FY2021/2022, there were 185 full-time
employees and 2 part-time employees working for the Group, with
a gender ratio of 67% male to 33% female. Table S3 in the Appendix
shows the breakdown of the distribution of the Group’s employees
by gender, age, position level, employment type and geographical
location.
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Gender and Age Distribution of Staff in FY2021/2022
ZE— ZEZ_MENE TR R EER M

Female

30BR AT [ 31E408%

Aged 30 or below Aged between 31 and 40
B 1= | B

Aged between 41 and 50 Aged 51 or above
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Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group’s human resources policies strictly adhere to the applicable
employment laws and regulations in Hong Kong, Mainland China and
other locations where the Group operates. In FY2021/2022, the Group
complied with the material relevant laws and regulations, including but
not limited to:

. Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A R +H]
B &5 8L ));

. Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARAMBATRERESL)),;

. Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China ({(FPZE A
EHNESBEREED); and

. Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FRZE A
EHMBETEREED).

Recruitment and promotion

The Group’s employment policies have been updated and adjusted
to cater for social changes. The Human Resources Department is
responsible for staff recruitment and promotion, in accordance with
the “Selection, Use, Education, Retention” GE~ A&+ &) talent
management system established by the Group. To attract a high-calibre
workforce, the Group offers competitive and fair remuneration and
benefits based on individuals' past performance, personal attributes
and job experiences. The promotion is proposed according to the
employee’s performance and qualification which are examined by the
Human Resources Department and approved by the supervisors.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHBS

BT LRI
REBHNANERBREKBRRETS
B FEAMEAEREMSENE
HNERARELIERER - R —
S B ME AEBBETEKX
MHEEREER  BIEERRER -

(ERIEG) EBEHFETE) ;

. (RBEIE®RM) (EFBEGF
608%%) ;

C (REARXMBASZEE) ;
C (REARHEMEMERER

. (FPEARANBEFHSR
) &

. (PEARHANMBEME SRR
EDe

HRERET
AEENEFRERE T EMRRBEU
BREMEEC ANERBRRBAE
ERZUNE-B-B-BIATEER
o BEREBEREN -ARSIEF
BT AEEERBEABERERE BEA
miE Rk TFERIEHARFZINRAF
BYFr BN R B A - BEATHIRIERE AN
BERBEBERDEREHENRER
M B FEMIEH

Annual Report 2021/2022 R 83



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHS

84

Compensation and dismissal

The Group is in full compliance with the regulations in relation to
minimum wages and working age in local operating regions. Relevant
policies and compensation packages are regularly reviewed by the
Human Resources Department with respect to the latest laws and
regulations. The Group constantly reviews its compensation package
and performs probationary and regular evaluations according to the
performance of its employees, salary structure in the Group, market
level and profitability of the Group to determine the adjustment of staff
salary, which are detailed in the Salary Management System G &
IEHIE) . The Group also complies with the employees’ social security
schemes that are enforced by the local government and provides its
employees with various benefits, including the performance bonus,
medical scheme, mandatory provident fund for employees in Hong
Kong and social insurance packages for employees in Mainland China.

The termination of employment contract of the Group is based on
reasonable and lawful grounds. The Group prohibits any kind of
unfair or illegitimate dismissal, and internal policies regulating the
procedures of dismissal of employees are in place for management.
For the employees whose behaviour is considered a serious violation
of the Group’s regulations or serious dereliction and malpractices that
have caused significant damages to the Group, the Group will terminate
the employment relationship with the corresponding employee after
investigation and verification in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations. In FY2021/2022, the turnover rate of the Group was 75%.
More information about the turnover of employees of the Group can be
found in Table $4 in the Appendix.

Working hours and rest period

The Group has set up and implemented its policies to determine
working hours and rest periods for employees in accordance with
relevant laws, including:

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FZE A R FH0
B& 815 ));

. Legal Protection of the Rights and Benefits of the Peasant
Workers ({25 Eh{RFE BZ 2 %45 )); and

. Rules of the State Council on Working Hours of Workers and Staff

Members ({75 FRRATS B T TERFBIFRE D).

In addition to the statutory holidays, employees are also entitled to
additional leave benefits such as marriage leave, maternity leave and
bereavement leave.
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Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination

With its ambition to become an inclusive employer, the Group
is committed to creating a fair, respectful and diverse working
environment by promoting anti-discrimination and equal opportunity
for all. The internal equal opportunity policy covers all business sectors
and aspects related to training, promotion opportunities, employment
and dismissal. Decisions regarding these aspects are made irrespective
of the age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family status, race,
national or ethnic origins, nationality, religion or other non-job related
factors of the employees. Having zero tolerance to any workplace
discrimination, harassment, or vilification, employees are encouraged
to report any incidents involving discrimination to the Human
Resources Department via the grievance mechanism of the Group.

Other benefits and welfare

The Group believes that a solid package of employee benefits can help
retain talents and unite its employees. Aiming to make employees
feel welcomed and inspired them to do their best, the provision
of corporate benefits for employees are stipulated in the policies,
including providing subsidies for vocational education and medical
services. A range of activities including outing, mountaineering
competition, sports matches and dinner gatherings have also been
organised by the Group.

During the year under review, the Group did not hold any physical
activities due to the social distancing rules under the pandemic
prevention and control requirements. Nevertheless, the Group still
stayed connected with its staff using platforms such as WeChat and
internal mails to care for their mental health amid the difficult times.

In FY2021/2022, the Group abided by the relevant laws and regulations
in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, welfare and other benefits that have a significant
impact on the Group.
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B.2.

Health and safety

To provide and maintain a secure working environment, the Group
has implemented its policies and effective practices in line with
the material relevant laws and regulations in the operating region,
including:

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

. Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of Construction
Projects ((3£3& T2 Z 2B IREHG));

. Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance ({T{51RBE1E

BIH);

. Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China ({H%E
ABHMBEZEEEX))

. Occupational Disease Prevention Law in the People’s Republic of

China (REARHEMBEBZERIEE)); and

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Rights
and Interests of Women ({PZE AR EMNHIF L #Em RIE
ED).

Given the business nature of the Group, it is imperative that a pervasive
health and safety culture and robust occupational health and safety
management system should be in place to equip its staff with the
right skills and knowledge to work safely and deal with any safety-
related emergency in an effective manner. To this end, in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations, the Group has established a
series of risk identification and management procedures under the
oversight and supervision of internal task forces such as the OHS
Management System, which are then implemented by the relevant
departments of each business unit. The Social Security Management
Centre, for instance, is responsible for identifying the hazards and
risks in the working area, investigating, and reporting any accident
to the local authorities and putting forward countermeasures when
hazards are identified. The Safety Quality Department is responsible
for monitoring the classification, pinpointing the source, evaluating
the impact of occupational hazards and taking effective preventive
measures. The Project Management Department carries out tests on the
hazardous materials or components on a regular basis and optimises
the production process accordingly.
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The Group has long been committed to minimising and eliminating its
employees’ exposure to potential occupational health and safety risks,
maintaining zero fatalities and zero life-threatening or life-altering
injuries and illnesses. The Group provides training about occupational
health and safety to its employees before they are on board and
prepares suitable personal protective equipment (‘PPE”) in working
areas. To ensure the effectiveness of internal policies, designated
employees perform regular checks and keep a record on the execution
of health and safety-related rules onsite. Sufficient well-stocked and
unlocked first-aid boxes are provided in every working area and all
emergency exits in the workplace are unblocked.

Relevant material is regularly publicised in group chats and bulletin
boards to raise employees’ awareness of workplace hazards. Safety
drills are arranged to ensure that all personnel are well-prepared
and capable of handling such situations in case of any emergencies.
Furthermore, the Group has taken special steps to address worker’s
health and safety issues, including but not limited to:

. Perform emergency response drills, fire drills and safety
inspections;
. Forbid smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace;

. Provide counselling for stress release; and

. Organise health and safety training for the staff every year.

Every year, the Human Resources Department arranges physical
examinations for all employees, and all canteen workers are required to
hold a health certificate before starting work.

In the past three years, including FY2021/2022, the Group recorded
zero work-related fatalities. Meanwhile, during the year under review,
attributed to the effective implementation of the Group’s occupational
health and safety management system, there were zero work-related
injuries recorded and thus zero lost days due to work-related injuries.
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Response to the pandemic

In 2021, the continuous outbreak of the pandemic was still causing
significant disturbance to society, businesses and families. In light
of this, the Group is committed to prioritising the safety of its
employees through implementing a series of policies as guided by local
governments in the post-pandemic era. In particular, a specific team
was formed to perform risk assessments and supervise the application
of appropriate measures in response to any emergency. The Group
also set up and strictly implemented the Epidemic Prevent and Control
Measures (1B EEFEZE) , including:

. Allow flexible working schedules and make use of digital
communication technology to enable work from home;
. Provide anti-epidemic supplies to employees;

. Remind employees of maintaining personal hygiene and require
staff to wear face masks properly;

. Practise social distancing in all working areas to prevent mass
gathering; and

. Promote good ventilation in all workplaces and conduct thermal
screening at the entrances of all working areas.
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B.3.

Development and training

Employee development is a fundamental enabler of the Group’s long-
term success. The Group believes that training helps to enhance the
Group’s integrated competitiveness and good reputation, as well as
employees’ working capacity and professional skills, thereby setting up
the Educational Training Control Measures (313 3l 1% 572 %) that
guides the arrangement of training courses that best suit its staff.

The Group provides induction training to newly hired staff to give them
a better understanding of the corporate history and culture, Group’s
internal policies and its business development. For experienced staff,
the Group designs relevant training programmes for them according
to their roles and positions. For instance, the Group has organised
training courses for its directors on topics such as internal control, risk
control management and regulatory updates. Making full use of the
online video learning platform, the Group regularly organises sharing
conferences for different departments to foster a continuous learning
culture that could strengthen employees’ professional knowledge as
well as benefiting the Group.

To equip its colleagues with the skills they need to thrive, the Group
also supports its employees to participate in professional courses held
by external organisations for enhancing their competitiveness and
expanding their capacity through continuous learning. The Group offers
financial assistance to qualified workers to attend external seminars,
programs, or courses that will directly and substantially increase their
knowledge and skill corresponding to their present job duties.

In FY2021/2022, 249 employees of the Group received training with
a total time of over 1,700 hours. Details of the number of employees
trained and average training hours are presented in Table S5 and Table
S6 in the Appendix.
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B.4.

Labour standard

In FY2021/2022, the Group strictly abided by national laws and
regulations in its operating regions to prohibit any child and forced
labour employment, including but not limited to:

. Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong (Cap. 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong);

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A R +H0
EU&5 8074 )); and

. Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour ({22 LE{$FR
BTRE)).

In addition, internal policies such as “The Prohibition of Child Labour
Policy and Remedial Procedures” have also been formulated in line
with the requirements of the SA8000 Standard. To combat illegal
employment of child labour, underage workers and forced labour,
the Group’s Human Resources Department is responsible for the
background check and document verification of candidates before
confirming the employment. The Human Resources Department is also
responsible for monitoring, updating and promoting the compliance
of corporate policies with the latest relevant laws and regulations
that prohibit child labour and forced labour. The Human Resources
Department is responsible for reporting its employment information to
the relevant government department every 6 months.

Once the Group finds any case against the labour standards, the
employment contract will be immediately terminated and the
responsible staff for the employment procedures are subject to
disciplinary actions when the management deems necessary.

In FY2021/2022, the Group was not in violation of relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES HEEN
B.5. Supply chain management . (HEESEEIR

The Group is committed to eliminating environmental and social risks along
its value chain, and thus strives to forge a reliable and effective supply chain
management system which takes into account ESG-related considerations
so as to maintain a sustainable, resilient and reliable supply chain. For all
operating subsidiaries of the Group, monitoring the quality of engaged
suppliers and supplied goods should be conducted on a regular basis.

Supplier Engagement and Risk Management

The Group has set up a specific department and team to oversee the
procurement of construction materials and is responsible for identifying
the eligible suppliers/contractors through public tendering and strategic
cooperation. To maintain a good relationship with its suppliers/contractors,
the Group is committed to holding engagement meetings and communicate
frequently using WeChat and email with its suppliers, in which issues such
as green building materials, eco-friendly practices and analysis of the latest
government policies can be discussed.

To minimise environmental and social risks along its value chain, the
Group performs due diligence before selecting and engaging any potential
suppliers. The Group implements a Supplier Evaluation System and conducts
Graded Evaluation on its suppliers. Onsite inspection, supplier audits and in-
field verifications are performed annually to ensure that its suppliers can
deliver on their commitments of responsible practices. In any case where
risks such as labour rights violation or noncompliance with environmental
laws are identified, the Group will ensure it is not going to collaborate with
such suppliers, and not allow them to attend the next bidding. For selected
suppliers, the Group requires them to provide relevant qualifications and
certificates that can prove their strong competency to meet the technical
requirements, a good track record and the fulfilment of environmental and
social responsibilities.

The Group chooses suppliers according to the bidding rating, industry
recommendation and market reputation. The Group also conducts onsite
inspections of completed projects by prospective suppliers to evaluate their
technological capability as part of the supplier selection process. Qualified
suppliers will be included in the “List of qualified suppliers” and are subject
to annual qualification inspections performed by the Quality Control
Department of the Group. Once the eligible tender is selected, the relevant
department needs to work closely with the selected suppliers in the execution
of development plans as well as overseeing the quality of and the progress for
the completion of each project.
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The suppliers are subject to the Group’s ongoing quality control procedures
at different stages of the construction process, which includes the test on
the quality of supplied materials. For example, the suppliers/contractors are
required to obtain the acceptance from Electric Power Supply Bureau as an
evaluation of standard in power supply and the acceptance from the Institute
of Quality Inspection and Construction Bureau as an evaluation of standard in
construction projects.

To guarantee sound and stable partnership with its suppliers, the Group signs
Quality Agreements (B 21#%%) and Long-term Strategic Cooperation (&7
B BE 5 1E) with its core suppliers that enables stable supply and quality of
supplied goods/services. All incoming materials are all under strict inspection
as required in the Group’s Quality Assurance System (FA1RES %) .

Green Procurement

Green procurement policy is a practice aiming for minimising the
environmental footprints along the supply chain. In this case, the Group
prioritises the engagement with suppliers whose supplied goods/services or
production process are characterised by eco-friendly elements. To further
promote responsible sourcing throughout its value chain, the Group is
currently planning to gradually shift towards local procurement of tools,
fixtures, raw materials, packaging materials and chemicals.

In FY2021/2022, the Group collaborated with a total of 246 suppliers, with 201
located in Mainland China, 2 located in Hong Kong, 12 located in Lithuania,
4 located in the USA and 27 located in other oversea countries. The Group’s
suppliers engagement and management policies applied to 100% of its
suppliers, which are implemented by the procurement team and monitored
by the corresponding business unit.
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B.6. Product responsibility B.6. EmEIT

Quality Assurance and Recalling Procedures

To deliver high-quality product that satisfy the customers’ needs, the Group
has established various quality assurance processes for its different business
segments so as to ensure the quality of the products and services it delivers
are up-to-standard while any nonconforming products can be recalled
efficiently to protect customer’s rights.

International Business Settlement & Financing Business

The Group has set up different steps to monitor the information security,
response quality and system stability. Operation teams are built to run
rigorous assessments such that threatening or vulnerable areas can be
effectively addressed to ensure the system is constantly operating in a safe
manner. Regular meetings are held to identify and resolve any problems that
arise during the services.

Property Development Business
As a property developer, the Group has strictly abided by the laws and
regulations of the government including:

. Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of Construction Projects

(ERIEZ2EEEERG)D)

. Road Traffic Safety Law of the PRC ((FZEARHMBEIERIBL S
EN;

. Construction Law of the PRC ({1 A R HFEZEZE L )); and

. Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction Projects ({2
RIZESEEED).

The Group has set up product quality targets, formulated the technical
standards and proposed construction plans at the preliminary stage of each
project, with reference to the 1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems.
Besides, the operation department regularly checks whether the progress
of the construction sticks to the project plan. Once any material deviation
is spotted, decisive measures are taken to adjust the construction plan
immediately. The Engineering Department is responsible for other quality
assurance-related issues by carrying out regular evaluations on the property
quality during all stages of projects, while relevant government agencies are
also engaged at all aspects of the construction process to guarantee that the
final products meet corresponding requirements.
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The professional team of the property development business segment of
the Group has the responsibility for safety management throughout the
whole process of construction projects and operations. The Group sets up a
reporting mechanism and contingency plan for any public emergency in the
construction site to ensure an efficient and timely safety incident reporting
system. The project manager and professional engineers inspect and appraise
the quality of contractors’ work regularly, thus the safety and quality of
the Group’s properties are monitored at all stages of construction projects
to ensure that they consistently meet the high standards and stringent
requirements.

Meanwhile, the Engineering Department is responsible for the quality
assurance acceptance of all construction projects after completion and will
deliver the properties only after the final projects meet relevant standards.
After delivery, qualified property companies are entrusted to inspect the
quality of the properties from time to time, while property facilities such
as elevators are maintained regularly by third-party elevator maintenance
companies.

Contact Lens Business

Upholding its Quality Policy (&5 %t) of “Service with quality; Win
together; Products with care” ((BE R - REE R EEES), the
contact lens business segment of the Group is oriented to continuously meet
customers’ expectations and regulatory requirements. From order review,
overall management planning, implementation of production, inspection
to delivery, all employees are in constant pursuit of quality improvement
in accordance with the promulgated work specifications, so as to provide
competitive and premium products and services.

To ensure that the quality of its products and production comply with the
requirements of relevant regulations, the Group is committed to upholding
its standards according to the Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) and
the 1SO 13485: 2016 (Medical devices — Quality management systems —
Requirements for regulatory purposes). The Group was granted with the
domestic Medical Equipment Sales Permit in March 2020, plus three types
of Medical Device Registration for soft contact lens and a Medical Device
Production Permit in FY2021/2022. A complete quality management system
has been established in accordance with relevant laws, regulations and
standards, which were clearly listed in its internal policies “QQA001 Quality
Manual”. In case that any products failing to meet relevant standards are
delivered, the Advisory Notice (B2 14%8H]) will be published and the
product will be recalled with reference to the Product Recall Control (Z &
B E#EHIF2 ) . During the year under review, the Group did not have any
products recalled for safety and health reasons.
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Promotion and Advertising

The Group has issued an internal guideline to ensure that its Marketing
Department provides accurate descriptions and information to customers
about its products and services and conforms to the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to marketing and advertising such as the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((PZEARFLFEESE)).
Any misrepresentation or exaggeration of offerings in the Group is strictly
prohibited. The legal counsel of the Group is responsible for reviewing
the sales and marketing materials before releasing them to the public.
Meanwhile, the legal counsel provides legal advice for the protection of the
intellectual property rights of the Group.

Customer Satisfaction and Complaint Handling

To improve customer experience and maintain satisfaction level, the
Group has established the after-sales services department in the property
development business segment for collecting the feedback from customers
and responding to the inquiries received during the satisfaction surveys.
Through efficient dialogue and mutual understanding with its clients, the
Group is dedicated to continuously improving its business performance and
delivering top-notch services and products to its clients.

In the meantime, the Group also pays great attention to the concerns raised
by its customers and performs customer satisfaction surveys regularly. An
effective complaint-solving mechanism is established to minimise the risk of
disrupting customers’” operation. Once any complaint is received, faults will be
identified and repaired in a timely manner. During the year under review, the
Group did not receive any substantial complaints regarding its products and

services.

Data Security and Customer Privacy

The Group’s privacy protection strategy is to safeguard the interests of all
customers though appropriate information collection, use and storage of
personal and sensitive information in accordance with legal requirements,
regulations and contractual obligations. Fully complied with the Hong Kong’s
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Group ensures that sensitive information collected from customers would
only be used for the purpose for which it has been collected. Employees who
have access to this information are required not to disclose customer contact
information to any third parties without prior consent. To enhance data
security, all data collected is treated as confidential and stored in an encrypted
database to prevent unauthorised access, collection, leakage, hacking, abuse
or misuse of personal information.
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Meanwhile, in the newly commenced contact lens business, to lower the risk
of the leakage of business information and customers’ data, the Group has
introduced a software named TIPTOP ERP, which helps the Group to further
meet the operational demand of its re-export business and enhance the
enterprise firewall and office network security.

During the year under review, attribute to the effective implementation and
monitoring of the Group’s internal policy by the designated department, the
Group did not receive any substantial complaints regarding the breaches of
privacy laws and data leakage.

Intellectual Property Rights

To protect its intellectual property rights, the Group requires its employees
to keep trade secrets and other proprietary intellectual property rights
confidential, as well as actively applying for trademarks for any new
innovations developed by itself.

Given the business nature of the Group, the labelling-related issues are not
material or relevant to the Group during the year under review and thus
not being discussed in this report. In FY2021/2022, the Group complied with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to health and safety, advertising, and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

Anti-corruption

The Group strives to build and maintain a strong culture that incorporates
compliance into daily operations and business principles which regulate the
individual behaviour across the Group. The material and applicable laws and
regulations that the Group strictly abided by during the year under review
included:

. Anti-Corruption Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FREE AR
MERBBED);

. Law of the PRC on Anti-money Laundering ({FRZE A R H M B /2 4582
JE)); and

. Hong Kong's Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).
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The Group’s stance on corruption and bribery is expressed through its high
value of employees’ honesty and integrity, and the strict enforcement of the
code of conduct by the Human Resources Department to maintain a high
standard of business ethics among employees according to the Group’s Anti-
Corruption Policy and the Employee Handbook. The Group has zero tolerance
on any form of corruption, suspected impropriety, misconduct or malpractice
within the Group. Monitored by the Human Resources Department, all
employees are expected to discharge their duties with integrity and self-
discipline, and required to abstain from engaging bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering activities or any activities which might exploit their
positions against the Group’s interests and affect their business decision or
independent judgment in the course of business operations. If employees are
presented with gifts or souvenirs in official functions, they should report the
offer to the Company and seek direction on handling the offer from the Head
of Human Resources by filling the “Report on Gifts/Advantages Received”.

Taking a strong stance against corruption and bribery, the Group extends its
anti-corruption efforts throughout its supply chain. Employees responsible for
procurement are required to sign and comply with the Integrity Responsibility
Letter (BE;Z & 1E2), while the Group monitors the whole procurement
process through its Monitoring System, in which the reports are formulated
and the relevant process is reviewed through external audits.

The Group’s Whistleblowing Policy is an effective grievance mechanism which
puts out any irregularities or wrongdoings while protecting the whistle-
blowers from fears of reprisals or inappropriate reactions. Employees can
initially report to their respective Head of Division/Department for any
concerns. The grievance scheme also applies to external stakeholders such
as all parties involved during the procurement process. They can voice their
concerns to the Chairman of Audit Committee via mail or email to the Group’s
designated mailing addresses for whistle-blowers. When a report is received,
the Audit Committee will investigate the case timely and confidentially. Where
criminality is suspected, a report will be made to the relevant regulators or
law enforcement authorities when the Group’s management deems necessary.
Credit to the effective implementation of its preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, the Group has zero concluded legal case regarding
corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees during the year
under review.
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In FY2021/2022, the Group organised various anti-corruption seminars
and training courses for its directors and employees in order to raise their
awareness and sensitivity on observing law and discipline. For instance, a
1-hour Promotion and Interpretation of “Measures for the Administration
of ‘Clean’ Government” {EEBEREIEHH L)) was held for the Group’s
staff to strengthen their knowledge and awareness towards proper business
ethics. During the year under review, the Group was not in violation of any of
the relevant laws and regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering that have a significant impact on the Group.

COMMUNITY

B.8.

98

Community investment

The Group understands and values the stability and prosperity of local
communities, which support the Group’s long-term success. The Group
has always been paying attention to the importance of creating values to
all, and thus dedicated to following ethical practices and paying respect to
communities and the environment, in promoting the development of its
transparent and growing business.

Despite not having any community campaigns this year due to anti-pandemic
controls and lockdowns, the Group will continue to assist in flourishing local
communities and maintaining its social licenses to operate in these areas. In
the future, the Group will proceed with partnering with local communities
to promote local procurement, employment, and community investment to
support their development.
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APPENDIX
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Table E1. The Group’s Total Emissions by Category in
FY2021/2022 and FY2020/2021%°

Emission Category

73 €Y bl

Air Emissions

BE R BFK

GHG Emissions

= RS HEK

Non-hazardous Waste

BEEY

Hazardous Waste

BEEEN

Key Performance
Indicator (KPI)

REBERMIER

SOx
ek vy
NOx
AA16Y)
PM
kY]

Scope 1 (Direct Emissions)?

#HE— G0’
Scope 2 (Energy Indirect
Emissions)*

#E— REREEH
Scope 3 (Other

Indirect Emissions)®

#E= (At °

Total (Scope 1,2 & 3)
et EE— kD)
Solid wastes®

& BS RE4°
Construction Waste
EERERY)
Wastewater’

BEX

Solid wastes

& ASBEY)
Wastewater

EEK

Unit

Kg
T

Tonnes of CO2e
M_SERES
Tonnes of COe

M_SERES
Tonnes of COe

L= ot = =
Tonnes of COze
WA IEREE
Tonnes

T

Tonnes

T

m3
K
Tonnes
T

m3

=

AR

. KgR

RAKERR T -— """/

T ——

FR_BZE"EZ-UERER
D HAaBERES
Intensity’ Intensity?
(Unit/HK$ (Unit/HK$
Amount in million) in Amount in million) in
FY2021/2022  FY2021/2022 FY2020/2021° FY2020/2021
r-g8=-/ R-_E_%¥
RZIEZ—/ HMENEE RITZT/ HENEE
—$_C (BfL/ k-t ({1
MENHE BE#ET) MENHE BE#T)
0.65 2.14x103 0.65 0.01
36.84 1.21 x 10 34.55 0.40
2.71 8.91x 103 2.54 0.03
178 0.58 91 1.07
443 1.46 52 0.60
34 0.11 10 0.12
654 2.15 153 1.79
61 0.20 1 0.02
10 0.03 6 0.06
34,659 113.85 31,110 363.77
= = 8 0.09
9,000 29.56 8,000 93.54
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Intensity for FY2021/2022 was calculated by dividing the amount of air, GHG
and other emissions respectively by the Group’s revenue of approximately
HK$304,416,000 in FY2021/2022;

The amount and intensity in FY2020/2021 were extracted from the data in the
ESG report set out in the Company’s ESG report for FY2020/2021;

The Group’s Scope 1 (Direct Emissions) included only the consumption of
gasoline in motor vehicles and the GHG removed by the 580 trees planted;

The Group’s Scope 2 (Energy Indirect Emissions) included only electricity
consumption;

The Group’s Scope 3 (Other Indirect Emissions) included other indirect emissions
from paper waste disposed at landfills, and electricity used for processing fresh
water and sewage by government departments, as well as business air travel;

The solid wastes included domestic and commercial wastes;

The total amount of wastewater generated by the Group was primarily based on
the direct measurement together with appropriate estimations assuming 100%
of the fresh water consumed by the Group will enter the sewage system in areas
where an accurate recording of the amount of wastewater was hard to obtain;

The methodology adopted for reporting on GHG emissions set out above was
based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report— Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs™ issued by the Stock Exchange, The GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard and the 2006 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories; and

With the completion of the plant construction and civil engineering works for
the contact lens manufacturing plants, its environmental performance from
construction process was also included in the calculation of FY2021/2022, which
led to dramatic surges in emissions of various environmental aspects. More
environmental information of the contact lens business will be included in the
future reports when the contact lens business officially commences for a more
comprehensive picture.
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Table E2. Total Resource Consumption in FY2021/2022 and RR2 B — /TEEMERZZEE
FY2020/2021* S B —MEBERERES
Intensity’ Intensity?
(Unit/HKS (Unit/HKS$
Key Performance Amount in million) in Amount in million) in
Use of Resources Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2021/2022  FY2021/2022 FY2020/2021>  FY2020/2021
—F_—/ R-_B_%®/
g —E-—
RIBEZ—/ HENEE WRIZEZE/ HENEE
k- St (Bfi,/ —E-— (Bf1/
BRER RS AR B MENYE BEAT MENEE BEAT)
Energy Electricity kwh’'000 725 238 81 0.95
BETR BN BT REF
Gasoline L 44,000 144.54 44211 516.96
b Ft
Diesel L 226 0.74 - -
bl Ft
TOTAL® kwh’'000 1,154 3.79 509 5.96
K BT REF
Water Water m? 35,964 118.14 31,110 363.77
K K IR
Paper Paper Kg 1,254 412 50 0.58
#aR IR F
Raw materials Paper Tonnes - - 0.6 0.01
[EAti MR i
Steel Tonnes 1,350 4.43 2,290 26.78
1 irs
Concrete Tonnes 650 2.14 1,040 12.16
KB i
Gravel Tonnes 3,500 11.50 5,500 64.31
wha i
Packaging materials Plastic Tonnes 2 6.57x107 - -
BIEEM I eb S ir3
1 Intensity for FY2021/2022 was calculated by dividing the amount of resources 1 T — /T HFENEEBRBARER
that the Group consumed in FY2021/2022 by the Group’s revenue which was %@E\_v /== __B#fﬁﬁﬁ/é BN
approximately HK$304,416,000 in FY2021/2022; EREMUAERE-_SE— T2
Eﬁfiﬁﬂu&]\é@304A1eﬂooﬂ%iE%%Hj;
2 The amount and intensity in FY2020/2021 were extracted from the data in the 2 ZEIR /TR —UMENEEKREERM
ESG report set out in the Company’s ESG report for FY2020/2021; HEAANBDZEIE /T —HENE
ﬁ.ﬁﬁ&éﬁﬁiﬁﬁkﬁ.ﬁﬁ&am
WEHIE
3 The total energy was calculated based on the conversion factors as stated 3 TR AR S Th AR 45 Bk 32 P T 25 B9 (U faT 4R B
in the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on faiﬁz HERERRE MR IRIZRARE
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange; and BERISRERIES| ) PN BE 758
B/l &
4 With the completion of the plant construction and civil engineering works for 4 BERFTRENERIBEEERIRER

the contact lens manufacturing plants, its environmental performance from
construction process was also included in the calculation of FY2021/2022, which
led to dramatic surges in use of resources of various environmental aspects.
More environmental information of the contact lens business will be included
in the future reports when the contact lens business officially commences for a
more comprehensive picture.
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Table S3. Number of Employees by Age Group, Gender, RSB EFN_T-_— """ "&
Employment Type, Position Type, Geographical Locations of The FRRFRAR R~ EEEE BT
Group in FY2021/2022' a5 - HIBMU BRI SN E T AR
Unit: Number of employees Age group
Bl : BTA# FHHE R
Aged Aged

Aged 30  between  between  Aged 51

Gender or below 37and40 41and50 orabove Total
305% NE HNE 515%

faall AT 405% 505 SMAE “aEt
Male 27 57 31 10 125
St
Female 12 27 19 4 62
74
Total 39 84 50 14 187
st

Employment type
EELEER

Full time 185
i
Part time 2

e

Total 187
st

Position Level

g bl

General staff 118
—fRBT

Middle-level managers 39
FAREIEE

Senior management and directors 30

SREEERES

Total 187
@it
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Geographical location

IR E

Number of
Locations employees
25 BT A
Hong Kong 15
BHE
Beijing 8
b=
Liuzhou 22
N
Shanghai 5
s
Fujian 134
Cip e
Chongqing 3
BE
Total: 187
st
1 The employment data in headcount was obtained from the Group’s Human BMIHERREAEEEES T 2ME35]

Resources Department based on the employment contracts entered into
between the Group and its employees. The data covered employees engaged
in a direct employment relationship with the Group according to relevant local
laws and workers whose work and/or workplace was controlled by the Group
within the reporting scope, excluding the employment data from IBS-HK and
IBS-Lithuania. The methodology adopted for reporting on employment data set
out above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report—Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

INEFBER EAEENANEREE
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R ERUEAEREERERBAENESN
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#8510
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Table S4. Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group, Gender and RU_E-— "B _BEREHR
Geographical Locations in FY2021/2022' HB MR BB BRI DB TRk
ok
Unit: Number of employees Age group
Bl : BTAH FH AR
Aged Aged
Aged 30  between  between  Aged 51
Gender or below 37and40 41and50 orabove Total
305% NE NE 515%
il BV 405% 505% S E M5
Male 39 23 19 3 84
BMH
Employee turnover rate 114% 40% 61% 30% 67%
BImKRLER
Female 18 27 12 0 57
e
Employee turnover rate 150% 100% 63% 0% 92%
BIMAKLEX
Total 57 50 31 3 141
483t
Total employee turnover rate 146% 60% 62% 21% 75%
METmARLE=
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Geographical locations

IR &

Employee Employee
Locations turnover turnover rate
2L BITRRAH BTIRKEEE
Hong Kong 0 =
A
Beijing 0 -
=R
Liuzhou 23 105%
WP
Shanghai 0 -
g
Fujian 118 88%
Fipes
Chongging 0 -
BE

The turnover data in headcount was obtained from the Group’s Human
Resources Department based on the employment contracts entered into
between the Group and its employees. Turnover rate was calculated by dividing
the number of employees who resigned in FY2021/2022 by the number of
employees in FY2021/2022. The above data includes the operations of the Group
within the reporting scope, excluding the employment data from IBS-HK and
IBS-Lithuania. The methodology adopted for reporting on turnover data set out
above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report—Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

TRBBERREAEREAES T 2]
UNEBER REEENANERIE
BeoRrkhtRE@B_BE_— /8-
TENETIEBEMBGU T —_— /"%
T HENETIAMGHESE U EHE
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ERARBIEFT IR AT E R B S P8
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Table S5. Number and Percentage of Employees Trained in the

Group by Gender and Position Type in FY2021/2022'
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RSB — T A ERMER RS
REERE SHNEZIENE T AS KRB DL

Total number of employees trained 249
BB THEY
Total number of employees in FY2022 187
—E_HMEETHAY
% of employees trained? 133%
BEREINETIRS
Unit:Number of employees Position Type
Bfi:BTAH™ BRI
Middle- Senior
General level  management
Gender staff managers  and directors Total
BREED
’|§BU _HQEI EF‘%&%}E &ﬁg uw%“-
Male 114 23 12 149
Bt
Percentage of employees trained 46% 9% 5% 60%
BRENETIRNT
Female 89 9 2 100
pegi
Percentage of employees trained 36% 4% 1% 40%
BERENETIEA
Total 203 32 14
43
Percentage of employees trained 82% 13% 6%

BREISIEN

1 The training information was obtained from the Group’s Human Resources
Department. Training refers to the vocational training that the Group’s
employees attended in FY2021/2022. The methodology adopted for reporting
on the number and percentage of employees trained set out above was based
on “How to Prepare an ESG Report— Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social

KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange;

2 The training data from IBS-HK and IBS-Lithuania has been excluded from

calculation; and

3 Since the training data includes also the staff who left the Group during the year,

the percentage of employees trained in FY2021/2022 exceed 100%.
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Table S6. Training Hours Received by the Employees of the Group %S6._ T _-— " _IFEXRERZMN

by Gender and Position Type in FY2021/2022' 1) Be B 75 £E 51 21 o3 BY 32 B B 2
Unit:Training Hours Employee Category
B ER e EELER

Senior

Middle-level ~ management

Gender General staff managers  and directors Total
BREEE

5 —RET HREEE REF st

Male 709 335 110 1,154

Bt

Average training hours 10 n 5 9

THENES

Female 510 92 38 640

pegid

Average training hours 1 10 5 10

AR li53 2

Total 1,219 427 148 1,794

fmst

Average training hours 10 N 5 10

THEINES

1 The training information was obtained from the Group’s Human Resources 1 BIHBEREEENANERDRES
Department. The methodology adopted for reporting training hours set out MRS B TR BATIRAH AT RS
above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report—Appendix 3: Reporting MR EMmE (NARERIRR LB RER
Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange; and WE—MER= L ERREBIEIRERIS

3105 &

2 The training data from IBS-HK and IBS-Lithuania has been excluded from 2 éséﬁ‘}%&lBSﬁF’@%E'\J%E}II@%ﬂEM)\%

calculation. °
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VIII. REPORT DISCLOSURE INDEX

Aspects ESG Indicators
Bm ESGIS1Z

VIII. SRS E RS

Description

Bt

Page
BR

A. Environmental I£1%
A1: Emissions General Disclosure

A1 HERRAD — AR EE

KPI'A1.1

KPI'A1.2

KPI'A1.3

KPI'A1.4

Information on:

(@)
(b)

the policies; and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

RIS

(@)
(b)

BR ;&
BTHETAREAZENERZRNAN  REBRERK
BEREBHHAKREIHBEES - EERBESERYNELES
BEK -

Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other pollutants regulated under

national laws and regulations. Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide,
methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and
sulphur hexafluoride. Hazardous wastes are those defined by national
regulations

BERetmaEasaty matMkEMZREZOERERES
NsE - RE=EREBAEZSK - BFx-—82a  f &k
1Y 2@ kALK - EEEMEHBEREAREMREZ
BEEEY

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.
BEm iR 8 S AR R BB

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in

tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,

per facility).

Bz @E) RMERBEE @ED) REREHME CUESTE) &
B BE (MUSESEN BIERKE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FRELAEEEYEE UEHE) kK WER) BE WU SESE-
BIERMEH) ©

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

FREEESEREYEE QM8 k(MER) ZE MUSESB -

(S|

B E) °
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BE ESGHS 1R 1t BR
KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 78
HIPRET L AV BEN R B IR R E B F B AR PR EREN B 2 B o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a 67,78
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BRIEASRBEEEYNG E RMEHAPMETINREB SRR AE
B ZE B ERPTERER 2 B o
A2: Use of Resources  General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other 72
raw materials. Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage,
transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
A2 ERfEA —ARiREE BMERAER (BEER KREMEMRD) NEHR 3 BERATARE
E-#E B BT -ErREF-
KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) 101
in total (kwWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
RENEDNER K, SEEER QB fIh) B2 UTET
8 REE MUSESEN  SEREHE) o
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 101
per facility).
MEKEREE MUSESEN SERZHHE) °
KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 78
them.
M PRET LMBE R E AN B R R A ER ZF BRI 5 o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 74,78
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
B SKREGE A ACR LI B EREE Uk LA KN @ BIE RS
EEZ L BIRFT KRR §R o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 101

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

RpmPTAEEMENEE UESE) k WER) SEEBUGE-
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BmE ESGHS 1R 1Rt BR
A3: The Environment  General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and 77
and Natural Resources natural resources.
A3 IRIBERRAER —RIEE BEBTABIRERRAE RSN EATEEES -
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 77
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HLEHHIRRERRABE RNEAXERERNEEBRTZENTT
& o
A4: Climate Change General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues 79
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
A4 RUREME — Rk HH RSB RIEEHETAELERENEAREERBEEN
B o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 80
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BB EEHETAEERENEAREERAEE  REEBZ
ER BRI TE)
B. Social 1 &
Employment and Labour Practices {E{E K& % T &R
B1: Employment General Disclosure Information on: 81
B1: {B1& — R R @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
RS
@ BE; &
b) BFHETABEAZENERZERRG ABEMEFNE
REBREEREA LN RA-TERE S0 REKR
Uk EMAEFEREFNER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or parttime), 102
age group and geographical region.
R EEEE QN2 B - FicMER RE S DI IESEH -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 104
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1E R ERHBS

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BE ESGHS 1R 1t BR
B2: Health and Safety General Disclosure Information on: 86
B2 . REREZR —RRINEE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
TEFER
@ HE;K
by BFHETABEAZENERZEEIR NEFRHEHEZ2
TRRIERREREREHEHELBENELR
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three 87
years including the reporting year.
BE=F (BREREFE) SEFRTITHAABRIEEX.
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 87
EITHEEEAITFEHC
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they 86
are implemented and monitored.
P ERAN AV IR ZE (2 RR B 2 48 I WURARRBI I T REE R A%
B3: Development and  General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties 89
Training at work. Description of training activities. Note: Training refers to vocational
training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer
B3 ! FEKIFH — ARk BERARAERERITLIFHENM M AR AN ER - #iiFiliE 8 -
5T IR ZE I T EiEHE N ERNRINEERE
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g. 106
senior management, middle management).
EMkEERR WESREERE -PREREE S0NZIREET D
tbo
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 107

category.
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IRIR « t1E R ERHS

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BmE ESGHS 1R 1Rt BR
B4: Labour Standards  General Disclosure Information on: 90
B4 . 5 T ZA —RRINEE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
HERERY :
@ BE; &
) BFHETAFBEAXENEREIRERRG AEHRPLE
TRaHs TER .
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 90
forced labour.
R TR B H A LU R E T Kaaflss T e
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 90
T B IRER BN R HERA BB U P ERERRY 25 BR
Operating Practices 2 15
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 91
Management
B5 . fHIESEEIR —RIRE ERMHERENIRRE R ERRBR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 92
s o HEREEmEE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 91
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
g RS A EEAIES > MERNTEREANNHERME Uk
MR TREER G %
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 91
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
A BB R RS EIRENIRIE R S RENVIEH) LU IERT
TREZRFE-
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 92
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and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
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IRIR « t1E R ERHBS

Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BE ESGHS 1R 1t BR
B6: Product General Disclosure Information on: 93
Responsibility — R R @  the policies; and
B6 : EmET (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
GENi =
@ BE;K
b) BFHETABEAZENEMZERRG ABEBTIRME
EmRBENEEREZE - EBS - RERLEETURBH
BB o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 94
health reasons.
BERREXEREHPRLZ 2 HREREAMEBRKNE Db
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 95
dealt with.
R RAN E R ARV SR 8B LU IR 75 0% ©
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 96
property rights.
3t B A B e ARPE R 8 AE A RARY B B o
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 93
HiLE ST BERERLBIKRERF -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are 95

implemented and monitored.
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BmE ESGHS 1R 1Rt BR
B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure Information on: 96
B7 . RES —RRINEE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
TEFER
@ HE;XK
b) BFHETABEAZENERZERRG RB B
BB BRI BB
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 97
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RBEARHETANEEERETEBEENE SHARGNHE
K afFahfE R o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how 97
they are implemented and monitored.
ML S R o U BRI TR EE R A %
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 98
HirmEERETIRHENRESE
Community 1t &
B8: Community General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 98
Investment — R R communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
BS : (&I E consideration the communities interests.
BRUHE2ERTRETAEEMTHERENRFRELEEHEE
B & AR o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 98
needs, health, culture, sport).
EISHERE WHE  RESE - FLIHER EE -XE-8B5) °
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 98
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Directors’ Report
SHEHRS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022,
including an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
are set out under the section headed “Management’s Statement” in this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations
of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s environmental and social-related key performance indicators
and policies, a discussion on the compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Company and the Company’s relationship
with its employees, suppliers and customers are provided in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the Group’s affairs as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statement on pages 135 to 138.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
March 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 13 the consolidated financial statements.

FABER (EF) MAREHE"T - "F=
A=+-HLEFEZEFERTHARNTZER
AR E M BT

EXE YL R
FAAA—EREERAT -HEIBEMBEAT
FEEBIE M B REM 00

FEERBE_Z__F=-A=+—HILFEZ
EHOE BEERVBRBRRRERONAE
BERAFEZRE) BRAEERETIZRAMKR
TEARAAI R 2 57 o ;e B B A S B 3£ 755 K 2R B) AE 34
Bz #NAFEREEBRS) —H o Ib5
MmN AESTERE 27

FEERMBFERNZEEEZBREEMRZ S
1 B R G M BRI EET ©

ARBZIRFERAGHEARRRIRIERREER
BERETHARBDRERTEZEBERERZ
S URERFRRAERE - HEBRER ZH
BEHNAFRNIRZ - HERERREI—H

FakDik
FEEBE_Z__F=RB=1+—HLEFEZ#¥
BhAEEHEZARZEHIHNH135F138
BZEREMBRR

EETERANBE_Z__F=F=+—HLt
FEZEMRE -

(ERNEVY
BMEEEZNE BERRENEFEZEE
HERN R AR B REME3.
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EREHRS

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Details of completed properties held for sale and properties under development for
sale of the Group are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particular of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2022 is set out in notes 23 and
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out on
page 139 this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, the Company has no distributable reserves. However, if
necessary conditions for share premium reduction are met in accordance with
applicable laws and the bye-laws of the Company, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution will become approximately HK$699,893,000 (2021: HK$772,858,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 240 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report
SHEHRS

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Yuen Leong
Chan Siu Tat

Non-executive Director:
Liu Yu (appointed on 1 January 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Yap Yung

Wong Kin Ping

Chen Lanran

Pursuant to Bye-law 83(2) of the Company, any director of the Company appointed
by the board either to fill causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting. Thus Mr. Liu Yu who was
appointed as director of the Company pursuant to Bye-law 83(2) of the Company
shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”). Mr.
Liu Yu, being eligible, offered himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

In addition, pursuant to Bye-law 84(1) of the Company, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the directors of the Company for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years. Pursuant to Bye-law
84(2) of the Company, any director of the Company appointed pursuant to Bye-law
83(2) shall not be taken into account in determining which particular directors of
the Company or the number of the directors of the Company who are to retire by
rotation. Accordingly, Mr. Chan Siu Tat and Mr. Yap Yung will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Mr. Chan Siu Tat and Mr. Yap
Yung, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Under Code Provision B.2.3 ((formerly code provision A.4.3) of the Listing Rules,
further appointment of independent non-executive Director who serve more
than nine years should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the
shareholders. Mr. Yap Yung has served as independent non-executive Director for
more than nine years since August 2009. Further appointment of him should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. Mr. Yap Yung
has provided the Company with an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The nomination committee of the Company
has assessed the annual confirmation of independence and is satisfied of the
independence of Mr. Yap Yung. The Board has assessed and reviewed the annual
confirmation of independence based on the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and affirmed that Mr. Yap Yung remained independent of management
and free of any relationship which could materially interfere with the exercise of
his independent judgment. In view of the aforesaid factors and the fact that the
experience and knowledge of the relevant individual in the business sectors in which
the Company operates, the Board would recommend Mr. Yap Yung for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM.

Biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 29 to 31 of this annual report.
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DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the Director’s
duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company or
an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors and officers of the Company
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance covering the potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers in connection with the discharge of their responsibilities throughout the

year.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the change of the information of the Directors is
as follows:

With effect from 4 April 2022, Mr. Chan Siu Tat has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
1991), the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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SHEHRS

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors”
in this annual report, there was no change to any of the information required to
be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of
rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the date of the 2021 interim report of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES AND
CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, none of the directors of the Company or any
of their respective associates have engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group or have any other conflict of interests with
the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief
executive and their associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) (a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

() Long position in shares and underlying shares of the associated
corporation

BREXRTFEREETBEER —HMRESE
S BERRB T - —F RS 2 AHERE
LEHRAB13512QFF @ E ()R KRB (QRBTIH

EFENHRFEHB 2GR HmER

BE_E_—_F=-B=+—HLEEE AQAE
ERAMNRESBCHEARELSHAERE
BEARTFUAEGTERTF 2 AEMERNEARE
EEAMEMF mEE

EENKRMRERRMNDZELS

TR THF=A=+—H EFKEESTHRA
BURBEEZHBAREIADREEREZE (T
R RABHRBPERG (5B 5 RIAERAL) $EXvED)
2RO FES (REES R E RO EXVERET
8D EABAARNB Rz ERR XA (8
BIRBEZ S RAEROZZE R REREER
RIEBEB 2 R IUXA) 5 HbRBEZE S RAER
) 583521& BrE AZIRFT B S R R XA ;
F()RIE LT ABESETHEF R NIRETA]
HEBBRMARNB KMz Em kBl T

(i) MREBZEEROREREREZERE

Number of ordinary shares (long positions)

BEREE 17 R)

Approximate
percentage of
issued share

Total number of
shares held in

Name of associated associated  capital of associated

Name of Director corporation Personal interest corporation corporation

REEZEERFEZz  (GHEECEEERT

BExts 1EEEE BT PN 57 Refp4eg  RAEZBATIL

Yuen Leong Long Grand Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 300 30%
RS RBRERAE (EE1) BmEA A
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Notes:

) Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu
and as to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong. Long Grand Limited holds more than 50% of
the issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly, by virtue of the SFO, (i)
Long Grand Limited is an associated corporation of the Company and (i) Mr.
Yuen Leong is deemed to be interested in this associated corporation of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), (a) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted on 5 September 2014 by the Company. The
share option scheme is designed to award employees for their performances and
details of the share option scheme are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the share option scheme during the year, and there is no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2022.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow
subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL FERRZEERKE

SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital W -Z - _"F =B =+—H > IBEBELRATL:E
of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the K HEEEHI 336K R EF B 2 R E M~

Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO. TIANLTHABHEERRE B E(TIRAS%I A L
e o
Approximate
percentage of the
Capacity in which Number of Shares issued share capital
Name interests are held interested of the Company
EEAF
BEERER BETRE
LSy RNERZEZSM Z R & E ZEA B S
Long Grand Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 10,347,283,880 (L) 50.92%
REBEBRAE (1) EmEAA
Yam Yu (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation 10,347,283,880 (L) 50.92%
£5F (MfFEE1) RREGEE 2 #m
Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. (Note 2) Beneficial owner 2,540,190,000 (L) 12.50%
Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. (Fff5£2) BEEEAA
Luo Feng (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 2,540,190,000 (L) 12.50%
g (ffrsk2) RREGEE 2
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,000,000 (L) 6.30%

TRHEEZEEEERNARAR (HE3) RIEGEEZED

Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 () 3.15%
REEFEE #m

China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Interest in controlled corporation 1,280,000,000 (L) 6.30%
Limited (Note 3) REEFEEZ #m

HREIEE (B8 ERARAE (ME3)
Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (S) 3.15%
R2EGSEEZ #in

China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (L) 3.15%
Co., Limited (Note 3) RRAEFAE 2
hEISE (B EEEERHERAD
(MF%3) Person having a security interest in 640,000,000 (L) 3.15%
shares

R TEAE R 2 @A

Interest in controlled corporation 640,000,000 (S) 3.15%
PRIEGEE 2

()  denotes long position Ln FBHEE

(S denotes short position () EXAE
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Notes:

O Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu and as
to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong. By virtue of Mr. Yam Yu's 70% direct interest in Long Grand
Limited, Mr. Yam Yu is deemed or taken to be interested in the 10,347,283,880 shares
held by Long Grand Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

@) Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. is legally and beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Luo
Feng. By virtue of Mr. Luo Feng's 100% direct interest in Power Trend Asset Holdings
Ltd., Mr. Luo Feng is deemed or taken to be interested in the 2,540,190,000 shares held
by Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. for the purposes of the SFO.

3) China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. has 100% control of China Cinda (HK) Holdings
Company Limited, which has 100% control of China Cinda (HK) Asset Management Co.,
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant
interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March
2022.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On 14 May 2021, Pride Delight Limited (“Vendor”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Vintage Gold Management Limited (‘Purchaser”)
entered into a disposal agreement (‘Disposal Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to purchase 90% of the issued share
capital of Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited (“Target Company”), for a consideration
of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,400,000) (“Disposal”). As at
the date of the Disposal Agreement, the Purchaser held 10% equity interest in the
Target Company (of which the Company indirectly held 90% and accordingly was the
Target Company’s substantial shareholder). The Purchaser was therefore a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level. The Disposal constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company. The Target Company and its 30% held associates,
Fastmind Investments Limited and Acme Day Limited, are principally engaged in
investment holding of a mining company, Tunlin Limited Liability Company. The
Board considered that the Disposal offered a prime opportunity for the Group to
realize a considerable gain from its investment and a gain of approximately HK$
HK$22,705,000 arise from the Disposal. The Disposal was completed on 20 May
2021. Further details of the Disposal are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 May 2021.

None of the “Related parties transactions” as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 constituted discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.
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To the extent of the above connected transaction and the above “Related parties
transactions” constituted connected transaction as defined in the Listing Rules, the
Company had complied with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

In 2020, 1BM (China) Co., Ltd. (“IBM (China)”), a company who provide computer
software engineering services to the Group to develop the platform for NGSN in
international business settlement segment, filed an arbitral claim against a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group (namely, International Business Settlement Limited,
the “IBS HK”) for payment of outstanding service fees of USD2,983,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,226,000) plus interest due to late payments and related legal
fee. The disputes was caused by disagreement of acceptance of works between IBM
(China) and the Group over the phase completion on NGSN platform.

On 23 November 2021, 1BS HK received a petition (the“Petition”) from IBM (China) in
the matter of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32, Laws of Hong Kong) filed in the High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “High Court”) under Companies Winding-up Proceedings
No. 427 of 2021 that the IBS HK may be wound up by the High Court on the ground
that the IBS HK is insolvent and unable to pay its debt. Eventually on 21 February
2022, the High Court ordered that IBS HK be wound up (the “Compulsory Liquidation
of the Subsidiary”) pursuant to the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32, Laws of Hong Kong). The winding up was under
process and provisional liquidator was appointed in relation to the winding up of I1BS
HK.

Given the above circumstances, upon the appointment of liquidator, all the powers
of the directors of IBS HK shall cease and the administration of IBS HK affairs
passes to the liquidator. Hence, the Group has lost control over the operations of
IBS HK and its subsidiaries, including a subsidiary which holds electronic money
institution license (‘EMI License”) to provide a small scale of fund settlement services
in Lithuania, and hence deconsolidated I1BS HK and its subsidiaries (“Deconsolidated
Subsidiaries”) from the Group since 21 February 2022. To the best knowledge of the
Company, the deconsolidation of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries has no material
impact to the current core business operation and financial position of the Group as
the contribution to the business of the Group from the EMI license is limited and all
the significant payable amounts have already been recorded in the financial position
of the Group prior to deconsolidation.
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As at the date of this annual report, there was no outstanding or pending litigation
and arbitration for the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer and five largest customers for the year ended 31 March
2022 accounted for approximately 16.35% (2021: 72.44%) and 44.71% (2021: 87.94%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue for the year.

The Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers for the year ended 31 March
2022 accounted for approximately 38.99% (2021: 64.42%) and 88.06% (2021: 92.16%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

According to the understanding of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest customers or suppliers
at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES
The Company has not redeemed any of its securities during the year ended 31 March
2022, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or, sold any of
the Company’s securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out under the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the
date of this annual report.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited (“BDO”) acted as the auditors of the Company for the financial years
ended 31 March 2020, 31 March 2021, 31 March 2022. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022 have been audited by
BDO.

BDO will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO
as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 28152239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS SETTLEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(BEREEEEERERAQE)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Business
Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 135 to 239, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

126

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EETHEER11158
KRAFD254&

HEFBEEFERARABIURR

(I EFRZEA AT ZBIRAAE])

R

AAZ BT (LUT 78 T3 FY)) B EIN3E
BIBMBIREXEEEERBERAD (U THHE
ER8)) REKBAR CUTHBIEERE) /Y
REMBRE WYBRREER T "F=
B=+—HBNGEeUHRAREBEZALFE
iR EmkEMEERER GEEoEFET
MiEaRERER  UNGEMBHRERWE &
BXIBEBREE

HARD ZEFGEEMBRREREE B IS
ANERHBI(EBMHFRSEIDEEMP SR
BT SEER-_S-_FZB=+—HW&ESE
MHERRRBEZ A LFENGEY BREFE LR
BRERE WEEREBLEFHIKESS
Hhtte

BERMNER
HZAERBEEBSTHMA ST EMI(EBETE
ANETES -RMAEZFER TRENEEEHE
FIRE LB B SHE S M B RRVEE — 8
PFE—P - RIBEBBE ML EMI(E
FEstemEETR) CUTERISTAL) - RFIBIL
R EEE UEETTRIFHNHEMEXERS
EoZFIRE > HFIFFESHNES RIBETEK
BEMAEMANBFEREHER



Independent Auditor’s Report
RV 2

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of properties held for sale

We identified the impairment assessment of properties held for sale as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant management estimations
involved in determining the net realisable value of properties held for sale.

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
properties held for sale amounted to HK$1,802,459,000 at 31 March 2022.

As discussed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable
value is the estimated selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are determined based on best available information and
latest market conditions. Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price
arising from any changes to the property market conditions in the People’s republic
of China (“PRC”), there may be write-down on the properties under development for
sale and completed properties held for sale.

The management of the Group determined the net realisable value by reference to
the independent valuation report prepared by an independent qualified professional
valuer, for which significant management estimations are required in determining

forecast selling price and cost of completion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of properties held for sale (Continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
included:

. Understanding and evaluating the appropriateness of the provision policy
adopted in relation to properties held for sale and assessing whether the
provision policy is properly and consistently implemented,;

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

. Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the performance of property markets,
significant assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation and the
management’s critical judgmental areas;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation
models;

. Comparing the selling price estimated by the management of the Group to
publicly available information and checking the pre-sale agreements entered
into by the Group, on a sample basis; and

. Assessing the reasonableness of cost of completion by comparing the inputs

to signed construction contracts and entity-specific historical information, on a
sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of factoring receivables and loan receivables
We identified the impairment assessment of factoring receivables and loan
receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant
management estimations involved in determining the assessment of loss allowance.

As disclosed in notes 21 and 17, the Group recognised a full impairment at factoring
receivables and loan receivables as at 31 March 2022. Loss allowances amounting
to approximately HK$72,595,000 and HK$150,717,000 have been provided on the
factoring receivables and loan receivables respectively.

Management applied judgement in assessing the expected credit losses. Receivables
relating to customers with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables are assessed individually for provision of impairment
allowance. Expected credit losses are also estimated by grouping the remaining
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for likelihood of recovery, taking into account the nature of the customers, its
geographical location and its ageing category, and applying expected credit loss rates
to the respective gross carrying amounts of the receivables. The expected credit loss
rates are determined based on historical credit losses and are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information such as macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
included:

. Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

. Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the significant assumptions and inputs
adopted in the valuation and the management’s critical judgmental areas;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of factoring receivables and loan receivables
(Continued)

Understanding and validating the credit control procedures performed by the
management, including its procedures on periodic review of aged receivables
and assessment on loss allowance of receivables;

Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation

models;

Evaluating the reasonableness of the assumptions and inputs adopted,
including the historical settlement pattern, correspondence with the
customers, evidence from external sources including market research
regarding the relevant forward-looking information such as macroeconomic

factors;

Testing on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement of factoring receivables
and loan receivables against bank receipts;

Evaluating management’s assessment of the management of the Group on
the valuation of any collateral held for receivables that are credit-impaired, by
comparison with market prices based on the location and use of the collateral
and the prices of similar products nearby. We also evaluated the timing and
means of realisation of collateral, challenged the viability of the Group’s
recovery plans and evaluated other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contract terms; and

Comparing the recoverable amount determined by the management of
the Group with the carrying amounts of factoring receivables and loan
receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BAZ RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV 2

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BAZ RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate Number P05443

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
traifm REMEENER

For the year ended 31 March 2022

HE_Z__#=HF=1t—BLl=FE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TFHET
Revenue WA 6 304,416 85,521
Cost of sales and services HE MARFE R A (286,669) (64,320)
Gross profit el 17,747 21,201
Other income, gains and losses HAURA -~ W e 518 8 29,066 13,330
Selling expenses HEER (3,855) (9,347)
Administrative and other expenses THREMER (99,806) (89,521)
Impairment loss on property, M- E KR ERERE
plant and equipment 13 - (8,177)
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net FENE R EEEF5E 17 (17,294) (57,397)
Impairment loss on intangible assets BT EERERE 14 (44,773) =
Write-down of properties held for sale FEYEMR M (24,355) =
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRIEGREARWB AR 2 W= 37(b) 16,811 =
Write-off on trade and other receivables T FE UK B8 5 AR 1B Ry AL FE UK
iR1E - (5,632)
Finance costs C=ya%:N 9 (5,431) 2,579)
Loss before taxation PRI AR 1B (131,890) (138,122)
Income tax expenses FriSMFs 10 (13,281) (1,928)
Loss for the year FRAEE 1 (145,171) (140,050)
Other comprehensive income for the year FEREMEEUTA
Items that may be reclassified subsequently AJSE BB EH FETIEZEZ
to profit or loss: HH :
Exchange differences arising on translation of BB EFRIFEIRKREE 2
financial statements of foreign operations bE 7 =28 23,739 2,225
Total comprehensive income for the year FARAZEUNALEZE (121,432) (137,825)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
o fam R EH 2 R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 ®HE_ZE"_"F=-A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —=—_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E TExT FHEx
Loss for the year attributable to: FE(LEAESIE ©
Owners of the Company KNBIEE A (119,137) (132,284)
Non-controlling interests JEEHI R (26,034) (7,766)
(145,171) (140,050)
Total comprehensive income for the year  FE{LERDEURALLEE :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZFE DN (100,873) (122,161)
Non-controlling interests JEIT S (20,559) (15,664)
(121,432) (137,825)
Loss per share—Basic and diluted (HK cents) SgE518—E AR i#E GE1) 12 (0.59) (0.65)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EREMEARR

Asat31March202 W -_E_-__F#=B=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FET FET
Non-current assets ERHEE

Property, plant and equipment Y BB Rk B 13 492,035 393,114
Intangible assets EmELEE 14 1,339 1,355
Prepayment FETRRIE 15 242,520 278,057
Interests in associates E’:\Hﬁﬁﬁ’z}j 2R 16 = =
Deferred tax assets RIS E E 18 41,510 38,592
777,404 711,118

Current assets MENEE
Loan receivables FERE = 17 = 17,632
Properties held for sale FEY=E 19 1,802,459 1,976,719
Inventories F&8 12,107 146
Trade and other receivables FEUR B 5 BRI R EthFEUR AR 18 20 45,013 24819
Factoring receivables FEWRIE RN IE 21 - -
Restricted bank deposits ZRHIERITER 22 361 351
Bank balances and cash RITHEERIRE 22 522,507 632,707
2,382,447 2,652,374

Current liabilities mENaE
Trade and other payables FE(T B 5 BR I8 K E fth FE (T AR 1B 23 610,303 714,161
Borrowings B3 24 654,872 636,369
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JE AT JE 42 51| 4 7 TR 1B 25 85,092 82,697
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE R ARG A BIFRIA 25 1,645 1,666
Tax liabilities mEaRE 30,684 29,830
Contract liabilities =EV=NE 26 865,629 891,651
Lease liabilities fHeEas 27 3,702 6,272
2,251,927 2,362,646
Net current assets RBEEFE 130,520 289,728
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRHERE 907,924 1,000,846
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EREMIEINRER

Asat31March2022 R=E__&#=HB=+—H

2022 2021
—s-— =
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i FET FET
Non-current liabilities ERHERE
Borrowings EEN 24 187,855 155,156
Lease liabilities HEaRE 27 = 4,189
187,855 159,345
Net assets BERE 720,069 841,501
Capital and reserves P& 7 e k1
Share capital [N 28 20,319 20,319
Reserves EX] 653,142 754,015
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ZA<A TR AE(G#E TS 673,461 774,334
Non-controlling interests JESTEHIE 46,608 67,167
Total equity s 720,069 841,501
On behalf of the board of directors REREEE

Yuen Leong
=s=
RUT

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
O ma R

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE_ZE " " F=HA=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATGER AEL
Capital Non-
Share Statutory Share  Contributed  redemption  Translation Accumulated controlling
capital reserve premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
BXEE

RE EERE  ROEE  ERR i BEEE  RHER BE R ag
HKS 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TER TER TEn TER TER TER TER TER TER TER

(Note 28) (note b) (Note 29) (note a)
(Mizk28) (HizE) (Mzk20) (GiE2)
At 1 April 2020 RIZZZEMA—H 20319 1,45 9,009,799 51,655 3781 13,968 (8,204,272) 896,495 82,831 979,326
Exchange difference arising on translation of BEBNERMERRESLZ
financial statements of foreign operations ERER - - - = = 10,123 = 10,123 (7,899) 2005
Loss for the year FREE - - = = = = (132,284) (132,284) (7.766) (140,050)
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2ENAEE - - - - - 10123 (132,284) (122,161) (15,664) (137,825)
At 31 March 2021 RISZ-5=A=+-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 24091 (8,336,55) 774334 67,167 841,501
At 1 April 2021 RIEZ-EMB—H 20319 1,45 9,009,799 51,655 3781 24091 (8,336,556 774334 67,167 841,501
Exchange difference arising on translation of BEBNERMERRESLZ
financial statements of foreign operations ERER - - - = = 18,264 = 18,264 5475 3739
Loss for the year FREE - - - - = = (119,137) (119,137) (26,034) (145,171)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2ENAEE - - - - - 18,264 (119,137) (100,873) 20,559) (121432)
At 31 March 2022 RZBZZF=B=+-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 42355 (8,455,693) 673,461 46,608 720,069

Note a:  The capital redemption reserve represents amounts transferred from contributed  Fffsta: BABRHGHIENERAATRMDEESH
surplus upon the repurchase of the Company’s shares. BEREE I8 o

Note b:  According to relevant laws and regulation of the PRC, an entity established under ~ Ffi5fb: RIFEFEMEREEESEIR  RIBTPE AL

the PRC Company Law is required to make an appropriation at 10 percent of the THNERBERBAEASB RGN ZH
profit for the year as shown in the PRC statutory financial statements, prepared in Bl 7% TE B #5 3R AR P R B M B9 1 0% 88 88 22 0%
accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the PRC, to the EHE BEHEGFEZIZEREMELAN
statutory reserve until the balance reached 50 percent of the registered capital 50%4 Lk o ATER B IEA BB A B A
of the entity. The reserve appropriated can only be used to make up losses or to RGNz B MER > MAT AR DK

increase the registered capital of the entity and is not distributable.

Annual Report 2021/2022 R 1 39



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —E " " F=F=+—HILFE

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RESEEFMSEZRERE
Loss for the year FREBR (145,171) (140,050)
Adjustments for: HAELUTER :
Income tax expenses FRSHRRISZ 13,281 1,928
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERREBZINE
plant and equipment 12,230 8,541
Amortisation of intangible assets B E Y 149 74
Impairment loss/(reversal of) on FEW & 5 AR 18 & H 1 FE IR BRTE
trade and other receivables, net WIEESTR, (B[R] P48 933 (693)
Impairment loss on property, Y2 BB KR R E 1R
plant and equipment - 8,177
Impairment loss on intangible assets mILEERERE 44,773 =
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net FEW BB ER 1B FEE 17,294 57,397
Write-down of properties held for sale FEWMEZMOHR 24,355 _
Write-off on trade and other receivables IEEFEW S 5 AR IE &
HAthFEWIRIE - 5,632
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB ATk (22,705) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEME MEREEZ W@
plant and equipment - (745)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIEEHNB AR WS (16,811) =
Government grant recognised BEERBATER (4,156) (8,361)
COVID-19-related rent concession COVID-191EREFE 1B = - (287)
Bank interest income fﬁﬁﬂ SUA (856) (3,524)
Exchange (gain)/loss, net = (UKE) 51 B 58 (735) 904
Interest expenses 7T<'J %F'aﬁi’i 5,431 2,579
(71,988) (68,428)
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale ~ fF& 4% RL ~ (E0) 275,873 (187,516)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other FEUNE 5 ERIB R EthFEUR AR 1B
receivables ggam R (20,344) 28,298
Increase in inventories FEEN (11,802) (146)
Decrease in loan receivables FEWERURL = 570
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables FE{Y 8 5 BRIB K H M FE (T BRIE
Grz) /18 (154,078) 216,109
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities aHamd (Rl /18m (50,884) 23,526
Cash (used in)/generated from operations =i (FrH) FrfSHRE (33,223) 12,413
Income taxes and land appreciation BTSRRI ER > 558
taxes paid, net (99) (2,050)
Government grant received BN E B 4,156 8,361
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM REEE) (FRA) FRieZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES & HEE (29,166) 18,724
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2022 BiE _E " " F=H=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
BEE FHET TFAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  REEFEFIEZHERE
Interest received BUF & 856 3,524
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BE BV B K2 H (27,810 (73,656)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME -MEKRREBEFENIE
plant and equipment - 1,216
Purchases of intangible assets BETEE (30,529) (1,364)
Prepayment for purchase equipment ﬁ%ﬁ % R B TR R
and software (44,217) (47,493)
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal HEWB AR EEXZ
of a subsidiary RWERAFEE 37(@) 23,400 =
Net cash outflow arising from the BIEEHIEABEEN
deconsolidation of subsidiaries REMHFEE 37(b) (15,999) =
Release of restricted bank deposits PR IR GIERITERR = 18
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  REFZEIFTAZRE /348 (94,299) (117,755)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BB REIFRSZHER=E
Interest paid BNFE (27,304) (18,911)
New borrowings raised HMEEREW 97,736 73,198
Repayment of borrowings BEE™ (68,889) (34,582)
Advance from non-controlling interests KRB I w2 B 68 804
Repayment to ultimate holding company BERKERABIFRIE (21) 9)
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEaBENAEH D
the lease liabilities (6,276) (5,543)
Repayment of advance from third parties BEF=FE8XR = (752)
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM RhEEEN (FRA) Fiisz
FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFEE (4,686) 14,205
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEBYRLFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (128,151) (84,826)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNzZRERBFEEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 632,707 710,845
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON  IRERIREEEYERESH 2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -4 17,951 6,688
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBERFEEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR
represented by cash and bank balances IR RIBITHEEFAR 522,507 632,707
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tR e MR R MIEE

31 March2022 —E-="F=A=+—H

1. GENERAL

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The immediate and ultimate holding company is Long Grand Limited,
a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”"), which is owned by
Mr. Yam Yu and Mr. Yuen Leong (a director of the Company) of 70% and 30%,
respectively. Its registered office is at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place of business is at Unit 3103, 31st Floor, Sino
Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. The principal activity of
the Company continues to be investment holding. Detail of the principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs—effective 1 April 2021

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group:

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform-
Phase 2

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

None of these amendments to HKFRSs has a material impact on the Group’s
results and financial position for the current or prior period. The Group has not
early applied any new or amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on the

date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1

HK Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

HKFRS 17 and amendments to
HKFRS 17

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current®

Presentation of Financial Statements —
(lassification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract!

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Reference to the Conceptual Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Insurance Contracts®

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41"
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HREER)) @
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CaE) BN
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EEMHBIREER HISERZ R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective (Continued)
L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

e Effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

. The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or contribution of assets
occurring in annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
and HK Interpretation 5 (2020), Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
is based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify
that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain that rights are in existence if
covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period. The amendments
also introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the
transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

HK Int 5 (2020) was revised as a consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1
issued in August 2020. The revision to HK Int 5 (2020) updates the wordings in
the interpretation to align with the Amendments to HKAS 1 with no change in
conclusion and do not change the existing requirements.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a

definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates

are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement

uncertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted. However, the
HKICPA retained the concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard
with the following clarifications:

. A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new
developments is not the correction of an error.

. The effects of a change in an input or a measurement technique used to
develop an accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they
do not result from the correction of prior period errors.

The HKICPA added two examples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing
HKAS 8, which accompanies the Standard. The HKICPA has deleted one example
(Example 3) as it could cause confusion in light of the amendments.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition
exemption. Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition
exemption for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit. For example, this may arise upon recognition of a lease liability and the
corresponding right-of-use asset applying HKFRS 16 at the commencement date of a
lease.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction (Continued)

Following the amendments to HKAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the related

deferred tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset being

subject to the recoverability criteria in HKAS 12.

The HKICPA also adds an illustrative example to HKAS 12 that explains how the
amendments are applied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period an entity recognises:

. A deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with:

- Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

- Decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the related
asset

. The cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, as
appropriate) at that date

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the

amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling such items, and the
cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or loss.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs
that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either
be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour and materials) or an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation
of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract).

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

The amendments change the requirements in HKAS 1 with regard to disclosure of
accounting policies. The amendments replace all instances of the term ‘significant
accounting policies’ with ‘material accounting policy information’. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of

Accounting Policies (Continued)

The supporting paragraphs in HKAS 1 are also amended to clarify that accounting

policy information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions

is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may

be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or

conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy

information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself

material.

The HKICPA has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate
the application of the four-step materiality process’ described in HKFRS Practice
Statement 2.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the revised Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010. The
amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within the scope
of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the acquisition
date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For a levy that would be
within the scope of HK(IFRIQ)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies HK(IFRIO)-Int 21
to determine whether the obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay the
levy has occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments also add an explicit
statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a
business combination.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments and revision in the future will have an impact on the financial
statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
with an associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the equity method, any
gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not contain
a business are recognised in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors” interests in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses
resulting from the remeasurement of retained interest in any former subsidiary (that
has become an associate or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit
or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or
joint venture.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these amendments
may have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future
periods should such transaction arise.

HKFRS 17 and amendments to HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts

The new standard establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4
“Insurance Contracts”. The standard outlines a ‘General Model’, which is modified for
insurance contracts with direct participation features described as the ‘Variable Fee
Approach’. The General Model is simplified if certain criteria are met by measuring
the liability for remaining coverage using the Premium Allocation Approach.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of this standard
in the future will have an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of standards, including:

. HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
which permit a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to
measure cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by its
parent, based on the parent’s date of transition to HKFRSs.

. HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees included in the “10 per
cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise
a financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or received between the
entity and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the entity or
the lender on other’s behalf are included.

. HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend Illustrative Example 13 to remove the
illustration of reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor in
order to resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives that might arise because of how lease incentives are illustrated in
that example.

. HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement to exclude taxation cash
flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a present value

technique.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the application of the
amendments in the future will have an impact on the financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair vales, at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

(c) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi (‘RMB”), while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$). As the Company is
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the directors consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt Hong
Kong dollars as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation currency. All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the
Group. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-
date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by
the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, if any, is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis
is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from
equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition
date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit
or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present:
(i) power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control
is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change
in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(c) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued)

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is objective evidence
that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are
carried at cost less impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable during the
year.

(d) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
from goods sold or services provided, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The
Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below:

154

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

4. FEFHEER®

(0 HMEXR @
BMEABDNEAEDEAR BILBME QAT EA
AP WRHRAESMAEBEBGHE
AEEEFENRBEREH TLEHEE  EBEX
EERBMERTNRENEESE T UES &
FEERMEZFER-

FEFEEBMERT ZENRZEEREF RE
BERTEAREENBELADEARER ST
Bl - RER G EENKREERGBME QAT A
REGERABERATNREERHE -EXREHBIE
IREFMEBEEERENRSE A GRIR N B

0.0

MEE RS ENNERNEAERRBEEWBE R
EE -BRARHAERAAEBNERZEEER
BEXTE ABMEATNREAE MARKEAT
ZREDEBENTEERS BIZEAEMIFER
BEEMARNSAMKENRAEETAERS

RERBDZHHRRER  RBEATDNRER
AR ERE WH) 7R -MEAREERLX
NRRERBWREBRR B AR

(d) UWARES

WATH % B HE S R IR MRS 2 SRS
BZARESE TR REERRRIE
FEERDWABBRS  EWA RSN 5
e BERREENEARERDEE , REX
EESEEFHETAFEER sFmUT -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

()  Ssales of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the asset.

For property development and sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time and there is no enforceable right to payment from
the customers for performance completed to date, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has present right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

(ii)  Sales of contact lens products

Customers obtain control of the contact lens when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers accepted
the contact lens products. There is generally only one performance obligation.
Invoices are usually payable within 90 days.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)  Settlement fee and clearing service income

Under HKFRS 15, settlement fee and clearing service income derived from
commercial and individual customers with the Electronic Money Institution license
is recognised when the relevant services are rendered. The Group charge a fixed
amount of service provided and recognises as revenue in the amount to which the
Group has a right to charge and corresponds directly with the value of performance
completed.

(ivy Computer equipment leasing service

Under HKFRS 15, computer equipment leasing service income derived from
commercial and individual customers is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered. The Group charge a fixed and variable amount of service provided and
recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to charge and
corresponds directly with the value of performance completed.

(v) Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sREMTSIRARMEE
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of
expected residual value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
Machinery 10 years
Server equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements Over the terms of lease or 3 years,
whichever is shorter
Buildings Over the terms of lease or 40 years,

whichever is shorter

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the
periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant
and equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets
for their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised
in profit or loss on disposal.

(f)  Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases) are required
to be capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)  Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability should be recognised at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
shall be discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall use
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease
term that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liability
by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
(ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications,
e.g., a change in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease payments or a
change in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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sREMTSIRARMEE
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Internally generated intangible assets (research and development costs)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it
is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

it is technically feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum
of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss (if any), on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits
are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (see
the accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a prorate basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Properties held for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business are included in current assets and stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, and
other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties held for sale
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

() Land development expenditure

Land development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
The cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the development of relevant
projects such as road construction, demolition, resettlement work.

(j)  Financial instruments

()  Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are Solely Payment of Principal and interest
(“SPPI".
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

()  Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The
Group only has the following type of debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
the cash flows represent SPPI are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the
Group could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s
fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade receivables and financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables, borrowings,
certain preference shares and the debt element of convertible loan note issued by
the Group are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v}  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

(vi)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and
not designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the ECL provision
measured in accordance with principles of the accounting policy set out in 4(j)
(ii); and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result
of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(k) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and necessary to make the sale.

() Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit before tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

166

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

4. IE@HEZ% (&)

I #ImE @
ﬁﬁﬁ@&ﬁé%?ﬁ%$ﬁé&%12%ﬁﬁ
B BRERNENFTRAZAEREME R 2
B = RRHE D - FT B BRI R Z 8 — R R IR
JERRIBE (S o (i BRI s A P BE B LUR SN2 5 7
R 2 R R A2 2R RIPR A RI R R R 2 2R — AR 2R

RAIEIEIRIAE E o (W ER R = 2RI R

—BEARERFR G WEHEF 2 %Zﬁé
RER EBEHRIN MEL  RIARELERE
BEREBRN TR LI HERR Z2ET5 BT

REDHEMESL  RIEEREBESBENTHRER -

BB AR REEABDRERRZERNERE
BREREDIELERAS R W H A5 B
AR Z R 2 B0 MERR Z2EE A R 2RA
PIAER O 2 1B RABHISN - W R F IR B e 1
mARMZ P RRREEEE Z RIERIBEET
5 RAEAER BRHERRGF A HE) BERE
Bz M@ BB ERRTRHR N A Rk 2k &
[E18F > 75 SR IEIE I IR B & ©

LLﬁEEEZ%@@ﬁ%ﬁ¢%XﬁﬁWﬁ%
FEF A EHERREF AT CI 2RI E
éﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁo

BERAEENAERRBERNRAREENE
ESRPBRZREXAE TURKREHAREHE
HEBELHIEZMEK (RE) BEE

ﬁ%%%%@%mﬁﬁééﬁéﬁzﬁﬁEZE
NEEZRBTRR

B R RIERM IR R m s B Hth 2|
WS RN AN ERZIEEBRERI £
IEER T B A ESERR IRA DR G E 2|
W sk BRI m AR c LA R E B S HET
e G 5t R B M A 4 2 B #AFR T8 5 IR SE AR TR
EOMBRESARBGH G EER-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency
of the primary economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end
of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of the group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the translation reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in the translation reserve.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

(o) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related cost are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivables.

() Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee henefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service.
Short term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render
the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
following assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;

. intangible assets;

. interests in associates;

. properties held for sale;

. prepayment; and

. investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated
as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under
that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset or CGU (see Note 4(g)), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which will probable result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(s) Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if
that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

() The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)~ One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an

associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is
a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

(t)  Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share
options granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in share option reserve.

At the end of reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of option that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities,
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group
makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating unit to which the asset is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount rate applied will
result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision previously made. The
Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication
that property, plant and equipment may be impaired. Details of property, plant and
equipment is set out in note 13.

(ii) Impairment of properties held for sale

The Group’s properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$1,802,459,000 as at
31 March 2022 (2021: HK$1,976,719,000). The net realisable value is the estimated
selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated cost of completion
(if any), which are determined by the management of the Company based on
best available information and latest market conditions. Where there is any
decrease in the estimated selling price arising from any changes to the property
market conditions in the PRC, there may be write-down on the properties under
development for sale and completed properties held for sale. Details of properties
held for sale is set out in note 19.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iii) Net realisable value for properties for development, properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
Properties for development, properties under development and completed
properties remaining unsold at the end of each reporting period are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value for properties for
development and properties under development is determined by reference to
management estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to completion. Net
realisable value for completed properties held for sale is determined by reference to
management estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable variable selling expenses. During the course of their assessment,
the management will also make reference to property valuations conducted by
independent qualified professional valuers based on comparable market prices. The
management are required to revise these estimates if there is a change in market
condition or demand. If actual market conditions are less favourable than those
projected by management, additional adjustments to the value of properties for
development, properties under development and completed properties held for sale
may be required. As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale are HK$693,533,000 (2021:
HK$636,366,000) and HK$1,108,926,000 (2021: HK$1,340,353,000) respectively.

(iv) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to taxation in the PRC and Hong Kong. Significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing
of the related payments. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will have impact on the income tax and/or
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(v}  Land appreciation taxes

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT") is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including land use rights, borrowing costs and all property
development expenditures.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(v}  Land appreciation taxes (Continued)
Those subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in property development
business in the PRC are subject to land appreciation taxes, which have been included
in income tax expenses in profit or loss. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various PRC cities and the Group has not finalised its LAT returns
with the relevant tax authorities in respect of certain property development projects.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities based
on management’s best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax expenses and provision for land appreciation taxes in the period in
which such determination is made.

(vi) Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost

Management estimates the amount of loss allowance for ECLs on financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial asset. The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
after taking into consideration of expected future credit loss of the respective
financial asset. The assessment of the credit risk of the respective financial asset
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash
flows are different from expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal
of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies are as follows:

(b) Critical accounting judgments

Financing arrangements for hotel business

The Group has entered into certain hotel-room sales agreements whereby the Group
has determined that it retained the control of hotel. Accordingly, the Group has
recognised the hotel as property, plant and equipment (Note 13) and the deposits
received as other borrowings (Note 24(a)(i)). If the Group had determined that it
lost control of the hotel following entering into the sales agreements, then the
alternative accounting would have been to exclude the hotel from its consolidated
statement of financial position and recognise the deposits received as contract
liabilities. The determination of whether the Group has retained the control of hotel
depends on an assessment of the relevant arrangements relating to the finance
arrangements and this has involved critical judgements by management.
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6. REVENUE 6. WA

The principal activities of the Group are (1) property development; (2) hotel business;  ANEEBIEEEF AR QBEISEETR 0)
(3) international business settlement; (4) contact lens business; (5) leasing and B[R LR ;@B REBES O)HERE ST
trading of computer equipment business and (6) financing business. Further details B4R BEXEF R ORIEEF BHEAEETEX

regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 7. BHE— TR BN MR o
2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHBA
Sales of properties THEYI= 292,042 75,733
International business settlement services Bl PR s S AE E RS 9,878 7,842
Sales of contact lens THEREIRIR 2,159 1,829
Leasing and trading of computer equipment HELEEEHRE 219 -
304,298 85,404
Revenue from other sources HtkAKIR
Financing service income R EARFS WA 118 17
304,416 85,521
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Timing of revenue recognition MESRUL A B9 B
Goods transferred at a point in time R E R ERE R 294,201 77,562
Services transferred over time PR ARFS BV RS P 10,097 7,842
304,298 85,404
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by different
business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s executive directors, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has identified the following reportable segments.

Property — Developing and selling of commercial and residential
development properties, car parking spaces including undertaking of

primary land development activities, in the PRC.

Hotel business — Hotel development and provision of hotel management

services in the PRC.
International — Providing settlement and clearing services for commercial
business and individual customers.

settlement

Contact lens Manufacturing and sales of disposable contact lens in the
business PRC.

Leasing and trading Providing encrypted distributed storage space in Hong

of computer Kong through leasing of servers and trading of

equipment computer equipment.
business

Financing business — Provision of finance through money lending services,
finance leases, leasing, factoring and other related

services.

Following the newly started up leasing and trading of computer equipment segment
in current reporting period, the CODM considered that the property development
segment, hotel business segment, international business settlement segment,
contact lens business segment, leasing and trading of computer equipment segment
and financing business segment are the main businesses lines and reportable
operating segments of the Group.
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results
For the year ended 31 March 2022

7.
(a)

SEERS @®
DEWAREE

BE_E__F=-BA=+—HILEE

Leasing and
trading of
International computer
Property Hotel bhusiness  Contactlens  equipment Financing
development business  settlement business business business Total
HER
it  REERE SEAEE
MERE  EERE  BRESR B =EEE  HEEH ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TERT TERT THET THET THET TERT
Revenue WA
External sales and HIMEE R AR
segment revenue 292,042 = 9,878 2,159 219 118 304,416
Segment (loss)/profit N8 (518) /&F) (34,340) - (41,265) (40,598) 129 (19,607) (135,681)
Unallocated corporate ROBE AR EE
income, net 2,935
Bank interest income RITHIEWA 856
Loss before taxation BRIAIEE (131,890)
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7.  SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DERE @
(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (a) DEEWBMARELS @
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BHE_Z_—H=-A=+—HIEE
International
Property Hotel business Contact lens Financing
development business settlement husiness business Total
EflzS ERIRE
MR BIEEH [EESE e RE%EH ez
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET TET TET

Revenue WA
External sales and HIMEE RDEUA

segment revenue 75,733 - 7,842 1,829 17 85,521
Segment loss DR (8.925) — (39.471) (13,752) (60,509) (122,657)
Unallocated corporate expenses KB AT ER (18,989)
Bank interest income RITFBUWA 3,524
Loss before taxation BRIRATES 1B (138,122)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same as A& KAl MO AN Tt R EREFEN Dt
the Group’s accounting policies. SRAR[E] ©

|

Segment results represent the results from each segment without allocation of ~ DIEHBIER NIE 24 > Wkt RO E D RIT
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, unallocated other HE R (BIEEEMS) ROEEMUTA ~ Kk
income, and unallocated other gain and losses. This is the measure reported to the ~ DECEMIN G REEB LA TEEERTER
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. WE RO RRIRIEBERZ A
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DHEERET®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) NEEER&AE
2022 2021
- E—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE

Property development Ly ESE 1,857,115 2,045,944

Hotel business BIE T 206,445 188,472

International business settlement Bl ELEE 5,087 19,643

Contact lens business PR R TS 548,938 452,949

Leasing and trading of computer equipment business ~ THERE St SR HER 16,784 =

Financing business PRE 36 17,689
Total segment assets DIEEELEER 2,634,405 2,724,697
Unallocated assets RAPDECEE

Bank balances and cash RITHEERIRE 522,507 632,707

Other assets Hih&EE 2,939 6,088
Total unallocated assets RPECEELEEE 525,446 638,795
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 3,159,851 3,363,492
LIABILITIES =K
Segment liabilities DEEAE

Property development YRS (1,970,272) (2,098,072)

Hotel business EF“ W (143,101) (139,118)

International business settlement PR (18,883) (45,822)

Contact lens business Bgﬂ/ﬁﬁi%ﬁ?z (300,592) (230,884)

Leasing and trading of computer equipment business ~ THE & BB st B8 275 (34)

Financing business AR (32) (24)
Total segment liabilities bapEi=Kricks (2,432,914) (2,513,920)
Unallocated liabilities Kok a®E

Other liabilities Hth&E (6,868) (8,071)
Total unallocated liabilities Kok a®E (6,868) (8,071)
Consolidated total liabilities e BaEiRE (2,439,782) (2,521,991)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DEBRET®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) NEEER&E®®
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources ~ FAEEZRDIBRIBRDEHE RO MS ©
between segments:
«  all assets are allocated to operating segments other than bank balances and + FREBEEEDERELEDE CRITEEFRIR
cash and other assets not attributable to respective segments; and SURTBREDEZ EMEERIN s &
« all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than other payables  « FIEEREERPERELENE FBRE D8
not attributable to respective segments. Z HAFETARIBRRIN) ©
(c) Other segment information ( HfhpEER
(i)  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment (i) HESERFFGEHSEEERTAZ
assets: TREE -
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_ZT-_—_F=-HA=+—HLEE
Leasing and
trading of
International computer Reportahle
Property Hotel business  Contactlens  equipment Financing segments’
development business  settlement husiness business husiness total  Unallocated Total
HER
Eil3 B RE EBEINEH DES:]
MERE  EEEE  BREAE ¥%  RGEE  HEER SBEE FHE ELE ]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT F#wT FHT F#T F#wT FHT F#wT F#w FHT
Additions to property, RENE BERSRE
plant and equipment - 12,414 9 93,321 11,486 - 117,315 12 117,327
Depreciation of property, ME BERREBZITE
plant and equipment (352) - (250) (8,735) (51) - (9,388) (2,842 (12,230)
Impairment loss on intangible assets  EF/ B E BB = = (44,773) = = = (44,773) = (44,773)
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ Ef/BEHH = = = (149) = = (149) = (149)
Write-down of properties FEMENA
held for sale (24,355) - - - - - (24,355) - (24,355)
Impairment loss on trade and BN E ZIRBREMER
other receivables, net RENEBETE - = = (50) = = (50) (883) (933)
Impairment loss on loan ERESREREEE
receivables, net - - - - - (17,294) (17,294) - (17,294)
Gain on deconsolidation BIERANENBARZ
of subsidiaries W& - - 16,811 - - - 16,811 - 16,811
Government grant HNER - - - 4,156 - - 4,156 = 4,156
Finance costs BEMA (1,511) - (598) (3,129) - - (5,238) (193) (5431)
Income tax expenses FgMms (13,182) - (99) - - - (13,281) = (13,281)
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sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DERE @
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (0 EHthoEER @
(i)  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment (i) FrESESAHGEEXITEEERTAZ
assets: (Continued) MER (@
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BHE_Z_—F=ZHA=+—HILEE
International Reportable
Property Hotel husiness  Contact lens Financing segments’
development business  settlement business husiness total  Unallocated Total
ER RS EES:
MERE  BEEEE  BEE %  HMEEE HEAE KN Fak

HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$O000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$ 000
TET TAT TAT TER TAT TAT TER TAT

Additions to property, plant and FENE BEREE

equipment 568 5131 1,148 81,300 - 88,147 3,943 92,090
Depreciation of property, plant and ME--BEREEZITE

equipment (583) - (2,081) (3,400) - (6,064) 2,477) (8,541)
Amortisation of intangible assets BV EERY - = = (74) S (74) = (74)

Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment  FEU & 5 BR 18 R EL A1 FE UL
loss) on trade and other receivables, FRIBRERERR

net (RIERSIE) 2% 196 = = (78) = 118 575 693
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net ~ FEUTE ?’Aﬁfﬁiﬁ?ﬁ@gﬁ - = = = (57,397) (57,397) = (57,397)
Impairment loss on property, plant & ME BERRERESE

equipment - - 8,177 - - 8,177 - 8,177
Write-off on trade and other receivables ~ Hi$5/E Ut & 57 IR 1B R EL A

FEERIE - - (5,632) - = (5,632) = (5,632)
Government grant SE=E! 163 - - 7,690 - 7,853 508 8,361
Finance costs RERA (1155) = (857) (425) = 2.437) (142) 2,579
Income tax (expenses)/credit B (%) /1B % (2,847) = = = 919 (1,928) = (1,928)
(i)  Information about geographical areas (i) MEEHER

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external  F&RZFFIAEBRKBINEEENIMAKRIEREE
customers and non-current assets other than financial instruments, prepayment and ~ ZE (&Rt T B FEFUBRIELERIBES E (5 EIF

deferred tax assets (“Specified non-current assets”). TRENEE) BRIN) Do
Revenue from external customers Specified non-current assets
(by customer location) (by physical location)
REIIMBERBIUA IBEERBEE
BRERUERSD) (RERUESDS)
2022 2021 2022 2021
—EC B —F g BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FAET FAET
Hong Kong 5H 219 = 11,922 3,318
PRC (domicile) FRET (B 1E3h) 294,319 77,679 481,452 391,117
Others HAth 9,878 7,842 - 34
304,416 85,521 493,374 394,469
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tR e MR R MIEE

31 March2022 —E-="F=A=+—H

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. SDERST®
(c) Other segment information (Continued) (0 EHthoEER @
(iii) Information about major customers (i) FEFRER

Revenue from one customer (2021: one customer) of the Group’s property REXREEYEBPESEN—RER (CEZ—
development segment accounted to approximately HK$49,776,000 (2021: 4 : —&&F) IR A A%449,776,0008 T (Z =

HK$61,952,000), which represent 10% or more of the Group’s revenue. ——%F 1 61,952,000787T) > (HANE B WA BI10%
BlEe
8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HfthlA - WmmkE5E
2022 2021
—E== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Bank interest income RITHA B WA 856 3,524
Government grant (note) BNEL (55 4,156 8,361
Exchange gain/(loss), net ERUE (B8R 358 735 (904)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment loss on trade ~ FEUY B S ERTE % EthFEURBRIE
and other receivables, net (Note 20) (REESIR) R EEIE P58
(i 5%20) (933) 693
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37(a)) HENB R (TsE37() 22,705 =
Parking service income FERFBUA - 280
Rental income HEWA 1,307 231
COVID-19 related rent concessions COVID-19tERAFE =B E - 287
Others Hith 240 858
29,066 13,330
Note: Mg :

The government grants to the Group represents the foreign investment subsidy received during 435 7 = B W T B BSOS 9 B 1B 320 o
the year.

1 82 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited BIE@EE&EHERERA



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sR e MR R MIEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

9.  FINANCE COSTS 9. BB
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Interest on FME
— bank borrowings —RITE™ 11,956 12,854
— other borrowings —HMER 63,489 66,765
— lease liabilities —HE&8E 791 999
76,236 80,618
Less: amounts capitalised in BT RIBEBEARCEERE
— Properties held for sale —FEYE (54,101) (68,120)
— Construction in progress under property, plant and —E - -BERRBEBEIEEILR
equipment (16,704) (9,919)
5,431 2,579
Borrowing costs capitalised during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 arose FREE_ZE " _FT_—F=H=+—HIt

from borrowings specifically for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets.

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

BEEZMERPEE-

10. FRIGIAX

FEZERNERRED R B ERFERGER

2022 2021
—E-C T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET
Current tax in PRC HE Z BNHER 18

Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") SR (TEMERY - (1,153)
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") T ER (T ER) 14,972 7,795
14,972 6,642

Current tax in Lithuania 17 %8 2 BNHERR 18
EIT TSR 99 -
Deferred tax (Note 18) RIEFRIE (HI5E18) (1,790) (4,714)
13,281 1,928
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tR e MR R MIEE

31 March202 —E=-=F=H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the income of the Group
neither arises in nor is derived from Hong Kong during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

The PRC EIT is calculated on the applicable tax rate on assessable profits, if
applicable. The applicable EIT rate for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2022 is 25% (2021: 25%).

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:

10 Fﬁ #ﬁﬁ;ﬁi’i(“a

£ Eﬁ?ﬁﬁgﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ#ﬁ@i”&)\ » G 4
BEENBRIELERB-

TECEMERNZERH N 2 BEAREAHE
WEE) BE_T__F=-—A=+—HL=F
B AERTENBAD ZBRALCEMSRRE
#25% (ZBZ—45 1 25%) ©

AEEZ SRR EGEEm REMEE YT
RFTE 2 FRIRAIRSIB 2 HARIN T ¢

2022 2021

—E-C —B_—FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Loss before taxation FRF AT ES 18 (131,890) (138,122)

Tax calculated at the domestic income tax rate of 25%  IZZAMM RIS IR IR R 25% st & 2 T (32,972) (34,531)

Effect of difference tax rates of subsidiaries operating in X EAth =] ‘E’@Eﬁ%ﬁ B AR

other jurisdiction MEEBIEE 149 1,597

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose AORAESZZ MBEEE 16,640 25177

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RIERRIERIE 2 B E 14,492 1,890

LAT T HIIZER 14,972 7,795

Income tax for the year KEEZFTEHR 13,281 1,928
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of certain unused tax losses due  F3 7R 2 H A AR A 0] 7858 » A ML E R E T 5k

to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The deductible temporary differences
can be carried forward indefinitely except for certain tax losses from PRC subsidiaries
will be expired in the coming few years. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The Group is required to prepay LAT and EIT in accordance with the relevant PRC
tax rules in respect of pre-sale of property development projects. As at 31 March
2022, no prepaid LAT and EIT in respect of contract liabilities (2021: HK$2,050,000),
which has been presented as deduction against the tax liabilities of the respective
subsidiary in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FAREIE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): FREEENRE GA) -
2022 2021
—g_C =T —fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Directors’ emoluments (Note (a)) EEME (T5E@Q) 3,028 2,778
Other staff salaries, wages and allowances HEME T #He  TERER 41,350 37,329
Other staff retirement scheme contributions Hh8 T 2R RFEIHR 1,766 1,071
46,144 41,178
Less: staff costs capitalised in properties held for sale B REMEEREZEBTIMA (577) (1,507)
Total staff costs BT A4 45,567 39,671
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses AT WEERKA 272,878 59,563
Auditor’s remuneration BTN S 2,394 2,280
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment YR RS R EEE (MEE13)

(Note 13) - 8,177
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net (Note 17) FEU B EBIEEE (i17) 17,294 57,397
Impairment loss on intangible assets (Note 14) B EREEE (E14) 44,773 _
Write-down of properties held for sale B E DM 24,355 -
Write-off on trade and other receivables MESFEN B SR TE K EHfth FE UK BR IS = 5,632
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) 473 « Bg 5= R 3 (8547 88 (Fff:13) 12,230 8541
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) WA S EEN (Wi4) 149 74
Short term or low value lease expenses CHiS R EEAERX 687 1,521
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 37(b)) RIS AENB AT Z WHE

(B3 5E37(b)) (16,811) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME -HBEREE NG - (745)
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sRE TS ERERMIGE

31March2022 —E-="F=8=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 11.
Notes: Mk -
(@) Information regarding directors” and chief executive’s emoluments (a)

Directors’ and the chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the

FAEE @

EMEShkESTHRAEBMEZER

RIFER LHRARAEFIREZEETRES

applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, is as follows: THABFAMESHIUWT :
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
HEIH
wnsE BiEBE  RIRETEIMHER 4z
BE—_S-_ HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended 31 March 2022 =A=+—BLEE FHT FHET FHET FHET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS WiITES
Yuen Leong == - 960 - 960
Chan Siu Tat (note (iii)) PR/ (B k(i) - 1,400 18 1,418
Sub-total INE - 2,360 18 2,378
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FFHMITES
Yap Yung ] - 200 - 200
Wong Kin Ping (note (ii)) T3 P 5E() - 200 - 200
Chen Lanran PR & - 200 = 200
Liu Yu (note (iv)) 2R (%) - 50 - 50
Sub-total /st - 650 - 650
Total “azE - 3,010 18 3,028
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31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) . FAEE®
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)
(@ Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) @ EREERESTHAEMESZBER (@)
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
e I8
biok FiERE RIRETEIERR “ERE
HE_ —&F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2021 =H _—|— HIEFEE FAET FAET FHET FAET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HiTES
Yuen Leong RE - 960 - 960
Chan Siu Tat (note (iii)) Bek vz (BT 52 (i) - 700 1 711
Hu Jianjun (note (i)) HRIEE (FIEE() = 500 507
Sub-total /Nt - 2,160 18 2,178
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS FFHITES
Yap Yung =31 200 = = 200
Chan Siu Tat (note (iii)) PRIz (BT & (i) 84 = = 84
Wong Kin Ping (note (i) F2 B 5E() 116 - - 116
Chen Lanran YR 200 = = 200
Sub-total /et 600 - - 600
Total “a%E 600 2,160 18 2,778
Notes: M5k -
i) retired on 31 August 2020 () RIZEZZEFENB=+—HRME

(ii) appointed on 1 September 2020

(i) re-designated from Non-executive Director to Executive Director on 1 September

2020

(iv)  appointed on 1 January 2022

The emoluments of executive directors disclosed above were mainly for services in
connection with the management of affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company or its subsidiaries.

(i) RIZEZZFAB—RHESRE

(i) NIZTZENA—HRFNTEFRE

RATES

vy WRIZZZZ

EXRBEZHTEEMET IR RHNE

F-A—HEZE

AR AEREHRMMRES

BAER

EXPRRZIFRITERTME D EZS RKEFD
TRBHEMBAR ZEFRMZ RS-
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31 March2022 —E-="F=A=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. FREE®
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)
(b)  Five highest paid employees b) HEREHER
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three directors (2021: one rEFBRLRSHALTBE=2(CE—F:
director), whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining —2)EBEE FEZHFMEN LXHE -HEFME
two (2021: four) highest paid employees are as follows: (CE—F 0% ReFHEEZMNSWT :
2022 2021
—ZE- BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERZER 2,500 5,238
Retirement scheme contributions BRORETEIHRR 18 35
2,518 5,273
Their emoluments were within the following bands: WEZFHMNAFEUTEHER :
2022 2021
—z== BT
number of number of
employee employee
BTAH ET A%
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,00178 75 % 1,500,00078 75 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 22,000,00078 75 - 1
2 4
During the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no emoluments were paid by the REEZE_FRIE—F=A=+—HIL
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or FE - AEETEAEEIALESHA LM
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director had waived EAME EAREMATPNIMARERF 22
any emoluments during both years. B REABBEAEE - NEZMEFERNSEEM
EEWETAME-
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sR e MR R MIEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company

is based on the following data:

12. BRREHE
FREEBEANEBESREAGEEDRUTEES

BEHE

2022 2021
== —ZT 5
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Profit and loss taF) R 518
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company R st EEREAREIEZ AT
for the purposes of basic loss per share A ANELENEE (119,137) (132,284)
2022 2021
-2 B —F
Number of shares &8
Weighted average number of shares BARstBEeRELRGIE
for the purposes of basic loss per share R INAE 9 84 20,319,072,320 20,319,072,320

No diluted earnings per share were presented as there were no potential ordinary

shares in issue for both years.

HRMEFETEETEETEER RIUER
SgREERT -
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31March2022 —E-""F=-F=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. MIE - -BEKRRHE

Furniture
and office Motor Leasehold  Construction  Right-of use Server
Buildings  equipment vehicles Machinery improvements in progress assets  equipment Total
iR
BF WAERE HE HE  HMERE GEIR FRAEZE  ARB%HE g
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEn TR TAT TiEn TR TAEL TEn TR FAEL
(notefa) (note (), (b))
(GEC) N GEENO)
cosT 58
At 1 April 2020 AZEZFENA—H 18793 30737 2585 = 4370 170612 113,162 = 340,259
Additions HE - 490 775 1537 = 84,251 5,037 = 92,090
Disposals HE (502) 0) = = = = (11,739) S (12,47)
Write-off bk = (84 = = (4370 = S S (4.454)
Exchange adjustments EREE 1337 2138 280 77 - 16,712 7477 - 28,021
At 31 March 2021 RIE_—F=F=1+-H 19,628 3275 3,640 1,614 - 575 113937 = 443,669
Additions HE = 616 5 74468 = 30702 = 11486 17327
Disposals HE - (30) - - - - - S (30)
Transferto land and buildings ~ ERALHRIET 102,665 = = = = (102,665) S = =
Transfer to properties held for sale  EEAZEYE (19.928) = = = = = = S (19.928)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries & [E&E S ASRKBAT
(Note 37(b) (Ht3E37(0)) = (6,018) = = = = (1,095) = (7,113)
Exchange adjustments ERAER 1,646 834 124 1,022 - 6,833 3,077 = 13,536
At31 March 2022 AZEZ2EZR=+-H 104011 28,677 3,819 77,104 - 206,445 115,919 11,486 547,461
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 177 & R iBi{E
At 1 April 2020 RZE-ZEMA—H 928 29,503 2,125 - 4370 - 10,135 = 47,061
Eliminated on disposals RHE R (37) = = = = = (11,739) S (11,776)
Impairment loss REEE - - - - - - 8177 - 8,177
Provided for the year KEERE 468 3 133 7 = = 7125 = 8541
Write-off g = (84) = = (4370 = S S (4.454)
Exchange adjustments ERHE 89 2,063 214 4 - - 636 - 3,006
At 31 March 2021 é_g: #=F=1+-H 1448 3205 2472 76 - - 14334 - 50,5555
Eliminated on disposals RHERHH = (30) = = = = = = (30)
Provided for the year rEERE 665 621 04 5129 = = 5,539 52 12230
Transfer to properties held for sale @ AEENE (1672) - - - - - - (1672)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries % ?Eé)\ﬂﬁffﬁr_" Af
(Note 37(b) (W5E37(0)) = (5,920) = = = = (1,095) S (7,015)
Exchange adjustments ERER 2 813 95 69 - - 353 - 1358
At31 March 2022 RIEZZE=A=+-H 469 27,709 2,791 5,274 = = 19,131 52 55,426
CARRYING VALUES REE
At31 March 2022 AZEITEZRAZH-H 0 103542 968 1,028 71,830 - 206,445 96,788 11,434 492,035
At31 March 2021 AZE_—#=B=1+—H 18,180 1,050 1168 1538 = 271575 99,603 = 393114
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13. ME--BERSZE ®

Notes: Mk -

@  Asat 31 March 2022, land use right (included in right-of-use assets) and construction (@) MR-Z_"F=B=+—H > t#MEHAZE GtA
in progress are pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings of HK$225,526,000 FRAREE RERLIREDIIRRIEAKXERIR
(2021: HK$131,212,000) and other borrowings of HK$143,101,000 (2021: T 1&20225,526,00038 75 (5 = —4F © 131,212,000
HK$139,118,000) respectively. BIT) REMAER43,101,00087T (Z 2 - —4F

139,118,000 7T) FUIE(R ©

(o)  The following table summarised the right-of-use assets capitalised by nature of (b)) TFREMIZIEMEELEESCHNERESE
underlying assets:

Right-of-use assets

EREEE

Buildings Land use right Total

EES T fERE e

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FAET FAET

0] (iii)

Carrying values, at 1 April 2020 RIE_EFNE—HZEEEE 10,194 92,833 103,027
Additions R"E 5,037 - 5,037
Depreciation e (4,024) (3,101) (7,125)
Impairment loss (ii) BB RS IE() 8,177) = (8,177)
Exchange adjustments PE R A% 212 6,629 6,841
Carrying values, at 31 March 2021 RIE-_—F=A=1+—HZKEE 3,242 96,361 99,603
Depreciation E (2,802) 2,737) (5,539)
Exchange adjustments (E A% = 2,724 2,724
Carrying values, at 31 March 2022 RIB- —H#=RB=+—HZKEE 440 96,348 96,788
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31March2022 _E-_"F=H=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0

(if)

The carrying amount of land use right represented a parcel of land acquired by the
Group in the PRC for operation of contact lens business.

During financial year ended 31 March 2021, the directors considered there were
impairment indicators on the property, plant and equipment used in international
business settlement segment due to unfavorable future prospect caused by the
outbreak of COVID-19 in Lithuania in 2020. Accordingly, the directors conducted a
review on impairment assessment on the relevant CGU to which the related property,
plant and equipment belong.

For the purpose of impairment assessment, the management considers that the
recoverable amount of the relevant CGU is determined on the basis of the value in
use calculation which is higher than its fair value less costs to sell. The value in use
calculations use cash flow projections based on the latest financial budgets approved
by the Company’s management covering a period of next 5 years representing the
remaining useful life of the property, plant and equipment at a discount rate of 15.3%
at a zero growth rate. Impairment loss of HK$8,177,000 was recognised in the profit or
loss in last financial year ended.

13.

MISE -

(i)

(i

4;%)% I 5 Be st (@)

THMERRZIREEAAEEREERTREE
B R EEE R — IR IR

HE_ZE-_—F-A=-+—HIEMBEE &=
BA AR S TERF UM IREECOVID-19EE
R EALE BARBEEEDEMBAYE-
BEREZHELRBENR At  EECS A
ME- -BERLEGBFBARRESELBEMETH
B AT o

MEEIEMS  SEBRAEERESEEE N
Za B EERTEEREEMET  FHE
BEeREAABEREERA stEEREEM
ARSREBANRERAATDSEEEH AR
=BT OYE - -BEREZEZRERAE
BEH) 2RIV HEBEE B153%2hIRERE
EMEXFAHE - BEL—MBEFEILLZHERIE
8,177,000/ 7T E 5L 1B m P HEER o

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings, carried at fair value with (i) RS REFHNESEES Gt THESH
remaining lease term of: BARETIR WM
2022 2021
—s-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
— Between 10 and 50 years —10E508 96,348 96,361
— Other properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated cost —78 & F 5 A E 4 %
RITE R ATER 440 3,242
96,788 99,603
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sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS . BICEE
Computer Settlement
software platform Total
SHEME G EETS 4azE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TFAT TAT
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(MF3E@) (M3 5E (b))
cosT D%
At 1 April 2020 N ZETEFMB—H 59,186 59,186
Additions NE 1,364 = 1,364
Exchange adjustments b 7SR EE 69 = 69
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 ‘é:%:—fﬁzﬁ =+—Hk
—ET—FMB—H 1,433 59,186 60,619
Additions nE 95 44,773 44,868
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRIEREARWB AT - (59,186) (59,186)
Exchange adjustments b 2 S 42 586 628
At 31 March 2022 A EF=RB=+—H 1,570 45,359 46,929
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT HEE R R E
At 1 April 2020 AR TZFMA—H - 59,186 59,186
Charge for the year FARXZ 74 - 74
Exchange adjustments B 2SR 4 - 4
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A BT —F=Z/A=1+—HK
2 —FMA—H 78 59,186 59,264
Charge for the year FRRAXZ 149 = 149
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRIEEBARWB AR = (59,186) (59,186)
Impairment loss (Note h(iii)) BEETE (B sEbii) = 44,773 44,773
Exchange adjustments bE 2SR 4 586 590
At 31 March 2022 A _E - _F=H=+—H 231 45,359 45,590
NET BOOK VALUE RERE
At 31 March 2022 A EF=-RF=+—H 1,339 - 1,339
At 31 March 2021 wW_E—F=F=+—H 1,355 = 1,355
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nﬁF

BRIGHRME

31 March202 —E=-=F=H=+—H

14.

Note (a

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
):

Computer software was acquired to assist factory’s manufacturing production and
management. It's intellectual property rights which have finite useful life and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

Note (b):

(0

(if)

(i)

194

Prior 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent software
company to assist the Group in developing a settlement platform for connecting with
the systems of the central banks and commercial banks of the countries along the
“Belt and Road Initiative”. During prior years, the sums paid and payable by the Group
pursuant to the agreement was USD7,600,000 (equivalent to HK$59,186,000).

During previous financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised a full
impairment loss in relation to settlement platform due to lack of substantive results
arising from memorandums of cooperation and framework agreements signed with
a number of potential cooperative banks and financial institutions. As mentioned
in note 37(b), on 21 February 2022, the Group deconsolidated the results, assets,
liabilities of the International Business Settlement Limited (the “IBS HK”) and its
subsidiaries. Therefore, the aforesaid fully impaired settlement platform was thereafter
deconsolidated from the Group.

In August 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent software
company to assist the Group in developing network for cross-border settlement, trade
and financial services between Russia or Eurasia and China. The Group paid deposit
totaling HK$24,373,000 to the software developers. Further, in March 2021, the Group
also engaged another third independent party to develop a cross-border settlement
system in connection to the Central Bank Digital Currency (‘CBDC’) and invested at cost
of HK$20,400,000.

As at 31 March 2022, due to military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and
economic and political challenges of China that create uncertainties on International
Business Settlement Segment (“IBS segment”), the management of the Group concluded
that there was an impairment indicator and conducted an impairment assessment on
recoverable amounts of a CGU of the IBS segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined by the management of the Group
based on value in use calculation. That calculation was determined based on the
financial budgets approved by the management of the Group covering a 5-year period
and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.35%. The recoverable amount is based on certain key
assumptions, including estimation of future revenue growth.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined that
the recoverable amount of the CGU of IBS segment is nil and lower than the carrying
amount. The impairment amount has been allocated to the intangible assets (cross-
border settlement platform and the settlement system in connection to CBDC) such that
the carrying amount of asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less cost
of disposal, its value in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation and the
allocation, a full impairment loss of HK$44,773,000 (2021: nil) has been recognised.

Up to the date of this consolidated financial statements, there are no revenue generated
from this CGU.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sR e MR R MIEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

15. PREPAYMENT

15. FE{GFRIE

2022 2021
-z T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Prepayment for acquisition of: WM TIEE 2 A RIE !

— Machinery and equipment (note) — iR e (s 242,520 263,810
— Software — & - 14,247
242,520 278,057

Note: fIsE -

The Group, as purchaser, entered into a series of machinery and equipment purchase
agreements with independent providers. Pursuant to which the Group agreed to
acquire contact lens production line in the PRC at total considerations of USD37,421,000
and RMB42,601,000 (together equivalent to approximately HK$367,859,000 (2021:
HK$357,200,000)). Amounts of USD32,209,000 and RMB33,471,000 (together equivalent to
approximately HK$315,780,000) have been paid by the Group as at the end of the year and
of machinery equivalent to approximately HK$73,260,000 was ready for use and settled by
prepaid amount. The remaining of approximately HK$52,079,000 will be payable upon the
completion of installation of machinery and equipment.

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

AEE (FAER) BB HERI L — R TR
HBHEERZ KL AEBERBRUAEMRE37,421,0005
TR AR 42,601,00070 (F8 57 & ££49367,859,00078 7T
(== —4 1 357,200,0005870) ) WEE R ERIES AR5
FEB -NEHL REEBX32,209,000E TR AR
33,471,0007C (FEEH A H49315,780,00058 75) K EEHRE
12 #973,260,00078 7T B I BT (62 A ML AR SRS B o
HER#952,079,00078 7T FE A 16 17 B sR 5 R B e AR B 2 11 o

16. RE AT 2w

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Note 37(a)

FzE37(a)
Cost of interest in associates RERE A B 2 # a2 AL 56,648 56,648
Disposal of associates HEBRES AT (56,648) -
- 56,648

Share of post-acquisition loss and other W BERBLEMEZEEA
comprehensive income:

Impairment loss charged to profit or loss RIEFFH RN EEEE (56,648) (56,648)
Eliminated on disposal AL EE B T BN 56,648 =
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tR e MR R MIEE

31 March202 —E=-=F=H=+—H

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Fastmind Investments Limited and Acme
Day Limited (“Mining Group”) made a loss due to (a) pre-operating loss: the Mining
Group incurred expenses for preparing for commercial operations which will start
after successful completion of the exploration and evaluation stages; and (b)
impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, amounting
to approximately HK$24,236,000, mainly due to decrease in metals market prices by
comparing to previous year. Interests in associates was fully impaired as at 31 March
2015 and no further share of loss of the associates is recognised by the Group up to
the date of disposal.

In May 2021, the Group disposed of all equity interests in Mining Group at a
consideration of HK$23,400,000. The Group recognised a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary of approximately HK$22,705,000 (Note 37(a)).

Set out below are the associates of the Group:

16. MEE AT ZH#ER @
HE_Z-—AFE-BA=-+—HLEEE FERE
BRARAKREZEHBBRAR (REEE)) 2185
B BN )EEREE  FEEERERETER
INER R RIZIEIS R RS EREESEL
Z2H% ROEEARBBTFFEESBHIHBES
THRER BV EERME -BRERREBEZRHE
E5184924,236,0008 c M _E—HE=ZF=+—
H RBEAB RS TBERE it A&EEH
BEEHEHRYERE—DPRIDEGHE LT ZE
o
N_Z-—F 1A REELIE23,400,000% 7T
HERBEEEZ 2R E AEERTHENWB
A TR E£922,705,00058 7T (Fi5E37(@a)) ©

FEFEBZRATFHIWT ¢

Effective
Place of Issued and equity interest
incorporation/ fully paid up attributable to
establishment/ share capital/ the Company
Name of associates operation registered capital as at Principal activities Legal form
AR B, BRAIRESHE
YNGR A Bx/EMEEx  ARAARGERKE TEER EERT
2022 2021
—E_C —E_-F
Indirectly
&
Fastmind Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 27%  Investment holding of Private limited liability company
BHRREERAR ) 10057T mining operation MABRAT
REEBZREER
Acme Day Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 27%  Investment holding of Private limited liability company
EHBRAT B 100%7T mining operation MWABRAT

REEBZRERR

RHEER AEERFAREERADRERA
RABMFZRECFEAFREEERNB AR Z—
HIFITEMZER

Before the disposals, the Group’s shareholding in Fastmind Investments Limited and
Acme Day Limited had been pledged for a bank loan borrowed by Mining Group’s
subsidiary company.
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31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

17. LOAN RECEIVABLES FEUW &R
2022 2021
k- oo —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Loan receivables A= 143,230 139,843
Interest receivables FEUSF] B2 7,487 7,278
150,717 147121
Less: Loss allowance (Note (b)) R ESEBHE (EE(b))
Stage 1 —R — (35)
Stage 2 R - -
Stage 3 =4k (150,717) (129,454)
Carrying amount of loan receivables FEU S EEmEE = 17,632
Current portion included under current assets HAREEEZBIEZ Y = (17,632)
Amounts due after one year included under S AJEREEE Y — BB EEHIE

non-current assets

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, all loan receivables were secured by collaterals.

The customers are obliged to settle the amounts according to the terms set out in
relevant contracts. Interest rates are offered based on the assessment of a number of
factors including the borrowers’ creditworthiness and repayment ability, collaterals
as well as the general economic trends. The Group’s loan principals charged interests
at rate approximately 6% to 15% (2021: 6% to 15%) per annum.

The Group’s management considers that the fair values of loan receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts.

(@) Ageing analysis
Ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the loan drawdown date and before loss
allowance, at the end of reporting period is as follows:

N B _HERE_—F=RB=+—H"MA
EWERG LU IR mIER

BRARBHEBASAEINNEREERRAIE
METLRBBHZERE (BREERANEERE
FMEEN B AEBREEKEE) NTHERE &
EENEREREREFLOMEI% (CE-—5F .
6%ZE15%) BIFZUSERF] B o

FEBREEERN BRERNAAEEHRE
BEUEERER-

(a) BREGDAR
RIS BN ERER A RHEBIRRFR
ZEWERZRE DT ¢

2022 2021
- 22—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFHET

Over 1 year Be—F 150,717 147,121
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tR e MR R MIEE

31 March2022 —E-="F=A=+—H

17. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(b) Movement in impairment losses
Loss allowance for loan receivables during the year was recognised as follows:

ﬁﬁl&ﬁém\ (#&)
(b) RERIEEE
FNREWERNBEEEERUT .

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
—& 4 =&
Lifetime

ECL not Lifetime

12-month credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total

EEEE BiEE

12ERTEE RENZE RENZH
FEEE TREEEHE FHREESE “gE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FHET FHERT
At 1 April 2020 R_Z-_BENA—A 131 - 64,357 64,488

Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired HEBEEHEERENZIETER
EEEIE
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss  F 1835 FRI0BR AR E K518 (101) = 57,498 57,397
Exchange adjustments bE 0 sR 5 = 7,599 7,604
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A _E_—F=-A=+—HK

“ZE”_—FmMA—H 35 - 129,454 129,489
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss  F 1835 FRI0BR AR E K58 (36) = 17,330 17,294
Exchange adjustments SRR 1 - 3,933 3,934
At 31 March 2022 A E_"HF=RB=+—H - - 150,717 150,717

For year ended 31 March 2022, an increase of loss allowance of approximately
HK$17,294,000 (2021: HK$57,397,000) was charged to profit or loss as an
impairment.

Loan receivables bear no credit term. The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to
monitor the Group’s exposure to credit risk through regular reviews of receivables
and follow-up actions taken on overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group recognised
impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4.

198

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT

BE_Z__HF-R=+—HLEEE FEEE
AN%917,294,00078 75 (— &~ —4F © 57,397,00078
7o) » W IE R EA R E DR o

Ry EREIAERR 2EEEHEENER
R BB EMEERWIRIET A HI AR B HEX
RETHEEAEENEERMKRMO - A EH
FREER—EERBENERETERNG A
P EE4PT I & SHEUGR > A B RESNRERE °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Deferred tax assets recognised and movements during the current and prior years

18. REMRIBEE

RAEFERBEFECHRDIELERBAEEUK

are as follows: BRESENINT :
Profit sharing
from land
development
LAT expenditure Total
TR
THIEER bkl baig ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
(note a) (note b)
(Fiz%a) (P Eb)
A1 April 2020 B REMA—H 11,288 20,062 31,350
Credited to profit or loss STABE 1,437 3,277 4,714
Exchange adjustments ERAz 897 1,631 2,528
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 %:?:—Ezﬁ:+—5&
“E"—FWA—H 13,622 24,970 38,592
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss uﬂ')\/ (kkB) = 3,743 (1,953) 1,790
Exchange adjustments TR 439 689 1,128
At 31 March 2022 AT &#ZB=+—H 17,804 23,706 41,510
Notes: iz
(@ Balance represents taxable temporary difference arising from provision of LAT. @ RIS EREEELEZERRRREEE

(b)  Starting from 2010, MM EFEEEBE X EBMABIRAE (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui (b)) BIZ—

Real Estate Group Company Limited*, “Liuzhou Zhenghe”) has been engaged in land
development project and in previous years before Liuzhou Zhenghe was acquired
by the Group, 4 parcels of land developed by Liuzhou Zhenghe were put on public
auction and acquired by Liuzhou Zhenghe itself for property development purpose.
Liuzhou Zhenghe shared the related profit with join developer and paid tax on the
shared profit. On the Group’s consolidation, this shared profit element was included in
properties held for sale and eliminated. The related tax paid on this shared profit was
treated as deferred tax assets and will be released when the related properties are sold.
As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s deferred tax assets arising from profit sharing of the
primary land development project amounting to approximately HK$23,706,000 (2021:

HK$24,970,000).

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

T —4F © 24,970,000 7T) ©
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31 March2022 —E-="F=A=+—H

19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

19. HEME

2022 2021
—E== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Completed properties held for sale EENTEYE 1,108,926 1,340,353
Properties under development for sale BEHEZEPYZE 693,533 636,366
1,802,459 1,976,719
Carrying amount of properties under development for ~ FBEISEH 2 FIEHE L RPYIFE 2
sale expected to be completed: BREE -
— within one year ——FRN 693,533 636,366

As at 31 March 2022, no properties held for sale (2021: certain properties held for

sale with carrying amount of approximately HK$146,246,000) were pledged to secure

certain borrowings granted to the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, write-down of completed properties held

for sale due to defects found in certain units of approximately HK$24,355,000 was

recognised (2021: nil). Aforesaid defective completed properties are sold during the

year.

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

ATE T TEZRA=Z+—H UEFEYE(CE
——F  ETEREELNA146,246,0008 T EY
¥) BEFIER (EARERRNEETERZIER

BE_T__FZRA=+—HLFE CHER
RETEUSFENREMBACERTE L’F?/J¥’J

24,355,000/ 7 (- —F :
BYERERBEEL -

T) o FRREE R

FEUL B 2 ARIA F H {th FE UL AR IR

2022 2021

—E-= —=—_F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FHET

Trade receivables FEUR & 7 BR1E 2,422 1,387
Less: Loss allowance R ESIEEE (135) 82)
2,287 1,305

Other receivables and prepayments: HhEURERIB R T =E ¢

Other deposits Hithiz& 8,034 7,365
Other tax prepayment HMRISTE(I FRIE 9,945 5,993
Other receivables HihpEURERIE 7,520 6,856
Other prepayments HMFE=IE 17,227 3,300
45,013 24,819
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31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables for property sales, debts are due on the dates of delivery of
properties but settlements are made by agreements on time allowed for collections.
The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit
risk through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up actions taken on overdue
accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a
certain amount. The Group and the Company recognised impairment loss based on
the accounting policy stated in note 4.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables after loss allowance of the Group, presented
based on the date of delivery of properties or goods to the customers, at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

. B E ZRERHEMEWARE @
%ﬁﬁﬁg BB EKEZRERY =M HA
ZE BRREHEMEEE W BBt
AEBEEFIEENEREER  BATHESREI
IRIENE RLim AR AR B IR EURETTEN R R A E RS
ERRHO AEBRHABEER—TEEBEEEN
BEETERTE BRI st S K
EERARNEERAERIE-

R|BERR ERAEARMPERNEREHRZ
FEEGRBRERRZBREZREBEZRED
FEZWTF -

2022 2021

—E== B —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#ET FHT

91-180 days 91ZE180H 2,287 1,305

Movement in loss allowance of trade and other receivables of the Group during the
year are as follows:

FRAEERWEZRBEREMBUIREZ BE
BHEEFHIOT

2022 2021

s —E 5

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 April REE—H 1,346 2,045
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables FEWE ZRIBR HMEINERIE

BERE 1,016 78

Reversal of impairment loss previously recognised B OIBERRIRERE (83) 771)

Exchange adjustments b AR EE 3 (6)

At 31 March R=B=+—H 2,282 1,346

The balances of other deposits and other receivables are not past due. The Group’s
management considers that the credit risk associated with these receivables is
minimal but a general provision for impairment loss is provided for as in the
aforesaid.

Hithig® R HMEWARIEZ SR I KRB - A&
EEEERA ARLEREIREZEERRT
R BEW EXFrtslrER B 2 —iREHE o
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31 March 2

fATEER R IEE

022 _E-~"F=H=1+—H

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES

21. FRUWRIERRIA

2022 2021

—E-C BT

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FEx

Factoring receivables R RIETRIE 70,079 69,484

Interest receivables FEUFI B 2,516 2,495

72,595 71,979

Less: Loss allowance (note (b)) B BB REHE (UEE(D)

Stage 1 —#R - -

Stage 2 4R - -

Stage 3 =% (72,595) (71,979)

Current portion included under current assets FFACRENE E 2 BNEREE 5 = =
As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, all factoring receivables were secured by accounts W _E-__FN_F_—F=HB=+—H A

receivable

of the debtors with interest rate of 6.5% (2021: 6.5%). The Group has

recourse right on the debts in the event of default. However, the collaterals are not

permitted to sell or re-pledge by the Group.

(@) Ageing analysis

Ageing analysis of factoring receivables based on the loan drawdown date and

before loss

allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows:

FEWRIBFRIE S U FE R E TS A BRRVEIR I8 > £ 7
KE65% (CE-—F 1 65%) ofHBIREL K&
EHESEEERE - R EIRR A EHEE
EHESNEMIKTF

(@) BREGOHR
R|ERR > BN EREN A RsHREBRE AR
2 EWRIEBRIRZ RE DT -

2022 2021
=== B —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Over one year HaiE— 72,595 71,979

202

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited El@E2EEZERARAT



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sREMTSIRARMEE

31March2022 —E-_"F=8=+—H

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued) . FERRERIE @
(b) Movement in impairment losses (b) AEBIEE
Loss allowance for factoring receivables during the year was recognised as follows: FREKFRIERIBEZ BIEEERDOT !
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
—4R —#k =%
Lifetime
ECL not Lifetime
12-month credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
WEEE

HEN BiE&EREE

12BR7EA  RHEHE NEHEHS
FEER FEGE (FE6R weE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET

At 1 April 2020 RZZ2ZEFMNA—H - = 128,849 128,849
Derecognised ”\JJ:EE B - - (63,110) (63,110
Exchange adjustments fE R = - 6,240 6,240
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 A TE T —F=ZHA=1+—HK

=2 —FMA—H - = 71,979 71,979
Exchange adjustments fE A% - = 616 616
At 31 March 2022 A _E_"F=RB=+—H - - 72,595 72,595

Factoring receivables bear no credit term. The Group’s formal credit policy in placeis ~ FEW(RIBFIBEFAEBHH - AEEDHIEEDR

to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit risk through regular reviews of receivables 15K » BB T BB EWIRIBI FLA AR B

and follow-up actions taken on overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed — FREVER¥EITHI LT AEBNEEREH ZK%

on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group recognised EHFFEER—EERYENTRETER

impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4. o BB SF4FR L F SR > A& Eﬁ%@ﬁﬁﬁ?
o
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22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Restricted bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits amounting to approximately HK$361,000 as at 31 March
2022 (2021: HK$351,000) mainly represent the proceeds from pre-sale of properties
with the restriction of use for settlement of construction costs for relevant property
project, which will be released upon the completion of the relevant project.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits carry interest at prevailing market rates which
range from 0.3% to 0.35% per annum as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 0.3% to 0.35% per
annum).

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2022, bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits which carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.22% (2021: 0.01% to 2.20%) per annum with an original maturity of three months
or less.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the bank balances and cash are

22. ZIRHIRITER RT
ZIRBIRITER
RIEBEZZFE=B=+—H ZRHEIBTERD
361,000/ 70 (& = —4 351,000/ 70) » FEI578
EMENFRERIE RARANRZNBRYEER
HEENE ZRRNERER R T EMER

TEFRRE

RIE - _F=B=+—H ' AEEZRHIRT
FRRNATF03%E035% (CE - —F | FHENF
03%ZE0.35%) = IBITHIREF R B o

RITHEERIRE

RIBZZHF=A=+—8 RITEERRESE
BEAEEMFEEZHERETEHEA=BAR
MUF o #FBFMENF0.01%E0.22% (ZFEZ—
F 1 0.01%E2.20%) 512 Z FGHRIRITIER ©

RBEEHR BOTEFERREEETIUZER

following amount denominated in currency other than the functional currency of ~EBRE X INFEE LN 2 EHESHE Z FIE ¢
the respective group entity:

2022 2021
T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
HKD BT 111,203 148,536
United Stated Dollars (‘USD”) 7t (MEm)) 406,574 403,007
Euro (“EUR’) BT (TBR7Tl) - 9,879
517,777 561,422
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

FEft B 2 ARIAE R H Ath FE 1 AR IA

2022 2021
—E-C BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables (Note (a)) FE{TE ZER1B (MI5E(@)) 289 1,870
Accrued construction cost to contractors ERA SR BT EEM A 262,973 376,495
Interest payables EAFIE 143,897 91,698
Amount due to third parties NS =HHE - 10
Other payables (Note (b)) HhpERIE (FI5E(D)) 74,704 122,492
Other tax payables HMENRIE 128,440 121,596
610,303 714,161

Note (a): Fi5E(a):

The following is an ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on the date
of materials received, at the end of the reporting period:

RREHFR BERBREMH BRZ ~EEECE SR
BRZREDTETWT :

2022 2021
—E-C TET—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET AT
0—90 days 0&90Hd - 363
91-180 days 91Z180H 289 1,507
289 1,870
Note (b): B EE(b):

During the previously financial year ended 31 March 2021, IBM (China) Co., Ltd (“IBM China”),
a company who provides computer software engineering services to the Group to develop the
platform for Next Generation Settlement Network (“NGSN”) in international business settlement
segment, filed an arbitral claim against a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group for payment of
outstanding service fees of USD2,983,000 (approximately HK$22,619,000) plus interest due to
late payments and related legal fee. The disputes was caused by disagreement of acceptance of
works between IBM (China) and the Group over the phase completion on NGSN platform.

During the year, the amount of other payables arised from outstanding claim was
deconsolidated (Note 37(b)).

REE_S-_—F=ZB=+—HLEL—BEFBREE &
PR3 (PE) BRAE (NBM (FE) 1 —FRAKRE
ERHABERBG TERFSUNEEEEEESER
B3 N — B 45 B 4948 Next Generation Settlement Network
(TNGSN ) FEMAE)) HHAERN—RE2EWBA
EIREPERER > BERZ A E R 2B AR # 2,983,000
ZE 7T (%922,619,00078 7T) LUK FR 774 %60 BR 1< =R i 22 A2 B9 A
BREMEEER - 4UHMERZIBM (FE) BAER
FANGSNIE & HOBE ER M4 08 T BG IRIZ 12 0 Il ©

RER RARREENWEMEMKRBELR LGS AR
(MFE37(h)) ©
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24. BORROWINGS 24. &
2022 2021
—E-C T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Bank borrowings, secured (note (a)) BIERRETER (F5EQ) 233,080 198,180
Other borrowings, secured (note (a)) BiIEFEMER (@) 143,101 139,118
Other borrowings, unsecured (note (b)) IR EANERR (b)) 466,546 454,227
842,727 791,525
Carrying amount of borrowings repayable: FEZ T HIEREENERRERE !
Within one year —FR 654,872 636,369
More than one year, but not exceeding two years BE—F BRrEBEWE 110,907 61,098
More than two years, but not exceeding five years BEmE BrBBRE 76,948 94,058
842,727 791,525
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities B RBIBRE TN FIE (654,872) (636,369)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities ERBERBIE NIRZIIE 187,855 155,156
All borrowings were denominated in RMB during both years. PREEER FIEEBFHEUAREEHE
The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings are as HARIAEEE EMXERZEERF X Z SHE W
follows: B s
2022 2021
—E=-= —ZT 4
Effective interest rates BEF=E 3% — 18% 3% —18%
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24. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The followings show the carrying amounts of assets pledged to secure the bank and

other borrowings provided to the Group:

24.

MISE -

(@)

1E TA \g
RAEEZIRITRAMERFEREAZBRAFEE
BOBREIEHIIMT :

Carrying amounts of assets pledged for

FTFFIRE BRI E ERIRE(E

Bank Other
borrowings borrowings Total
RITER HAth &R ek

(note (i)

(X))
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2022 WZEZZ#=H=+—H FET FET FET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) -~ B Rk s (EE13) 200,358 75,350 275,708

At 31 March 2021 RIEZ—F=B=1+—H

Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) #@% BB Re skt (TaE13) 179,465 68,800 248,265
Properties held for sale (Note 19) HEYE (fEE19) 146,246 = 146,246
325,711 68,800 394,511

(i) As at 31 March 2022, hotel rooms of HK$75,350,000 (2021:

HK$68,800,000) are

pledged as security for one of the Group’s other borrowings of HK$143,101,000 (2021:
HK$139,118,000) at a fixed rate of 6.5% per annum.

(b) As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s unsecured other borrowings represent:

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$8,503,000 (2021: HK$8,266,000) provided by
independent third parties with interest at a fixed rate of 18% per annum;

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$23,944,000 (2021: HK$23,944,000) provided by
related party of non-controlling owner of the Company’s subsidiary with interest

at a fixed rate of 3% per annum; and

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$434,099,000 (2021: HK$422,017,000) provided
by EFAIEMB¥EEBEGRAE (Guangxi Zhenghe Industrial Co., Ltd*), the
former related party of Liuzhou Zhenghe with interest at a fixed rate of 12% per

annum.

*The English name is for identification purpose only

RIEZZFE=R=+—H"75350,00087T (=

T~ —4F 1 68,800,0007870) 2 HERREBIRFME

AREREP—E6 5%E EEMN KT BEREM

f&38143,101,00058 70 (ZE ——4 139,118,000
70) BUIE{R o

RIZZZF=F=+—H FAEEERREM

fETREE -

0] FI8 1 55 = 75 1R B S S f5 2X8,503,000
BT (TR —F :8,266,00087T) » RET
FEFFR18%:T B ;

iy AHERBNBABIFZRES ANBEEA
TR ALY IR IR (B R023,944,0008 7T (&
T —5 1 23,944,00058 70) 0 FEEEFZE3%
FEG R

(i) HEAENSXEBMBRLIE (WINIE
MZAa BB AL BENERBER
434,099,000787T (ZT = —4F : 422,017,00078
70) > FEE E M E12%51 2 o
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 25. FABKALTIRE

(a) Name and relationship of related parties (@) PBABEALTZHIBREAG
Name Relationship with the Company

ey BT ZM%

Long Grand Limited Ultimate holding company

RBERAT BRRER AT

Liuzhou Huagui Property Development Co., Ltd Non-controlling owner of Liuzhou Zhenghe

(“Liuzhou Huagui”)

WINERE B ERERRAT (THIMER)) W IEM Z IR TER A

Unicon Optical Co., Limited (“Taiwan Unicon”) Non-controlling owner of Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited

BIREAZRNEBERAT (T8 EEIME) BERBMEARERABDZIFHEREE A

() Amounts due to non-controlling interests (b) FE(TIEFEHIRE = RRIE
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEE ZHHRT ~ B
and repayable on demand BEREZEREE
— Liuzhou Huagui — 1PN EEAE 60,446 58,737
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest bearing FEE S 1EG IR
and repayable on demand 518 KRB ERER
— Taiwan Unicon (Note) —&BErE (s 24,646 23,960
85,092 82,697

Note: The amount is subject to floating rate interest per annum which is based on benchmark ~ FfizE | ZFUEZIE B R EIRTEEN XBENTHER
interest rates of commercial banks. it B o
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued)
() Amount due to ultimate holding company

25. FAEEANLIREE @

(0 EBfYREZERARREA

2022 2021
—E-C BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEE ZE ~ FEHE
and repayable on demand BEREZEREE
Long Grand Limited EBERAE 1,645 1,666

(d) Related parties transactions

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other member of key management of the
Company during the year were as follows:

(d) FAEKALRS

FTEEBASZHRM
FABDEERTEEEABZHEMBUEFRZH
BT

2022 2021

S B —F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Short-term benefits ZHRE#] 5,510 5,260
Retirement benefit scheme contribution BIREFIFTEHRR 36 53
5,546 5,313

The remuneration of key management is determined having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Considerations in respect of properties sold are received in accordance with the
terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, certain portion are received on
or before the date of delivery of the properties to customers which is recorded as
contract liabilities.

TEBEABZHMD2EEMNA LT ZEM KRS
GEBEE -

26. GHNRE
BEEMEZABREBEAERE B HE 2 ARUED
ATEoRBERAXAYMELHIZATUE A
RIEEHER

2022 2021
—g_C =T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
Contract liabilities arising from property MERBEFELE 2 GNEE
development business 865,629 891,651
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 6. EHNEE®W
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2021 AR —FA—H 891,651
Revenue recognised for the balances included in the contract MEtAEY ENEBE 2GR UA
liabilities at the beginning of the year (158,586)
Increase for the cash received for the balances where revenue is  FLEE P9 i R FESB IR A 2 45 £4 B W BRI ER S 18 11
not yet recognised during the year 107,702
Exchange adjustments b 2T 24,862
At 31 March 2022 R ZEZZF=RB=+—H 865,629

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the amount of sales deposits received expectedtobe W _E - _FK _EFE_—F=H=+—H 7888

recognised as revenue after one year is nil. BN —FEEDARANBKEHEEREAS
27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HHEBR
2022 2021
—s-— -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
At 1 April REA—H 10,461 10,447
Additions wnE - 5,037
Interest expense B 791 999
Lease payments GEN=—ENEN (7,067) (6,542)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIEGREARWB AR (562) =
Exchange adjustments PE A% 79 520
At 31 March R=B=+—H 3,702 10,461
Future lease payments are due as follows: RFEEMHRZ B ROT :
Minimum
lease
payments Interest  Present value
RIEAE TR FE HE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2022 RZE__H#=A=+—H FTHET FTHET FTHET
Within one year —FR 3,891 (189) 3,702
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued) 27. HEEBE®
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Present value
RIEREMN FE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2021 RZE”_—-%=A=+—H TR FET FHERT
Within one year —FR 7,062 (790) 6,272
After one year but within two years —FREMERN 4233 (222) 4,011
After two years but within five years MERBRER 182 @) 178
11,477 (1,016) 10,461
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
Number
of shares Amount
ahR 4= +%8
HK$'000
TFHET
Authorised: EE -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FRREE0.0018 T ZiEAR
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 ’::’E:;ﬁﬁlﬂlﬁ —H-
B2 -A=+—HK
—TET"HF=ZH=+—H 498,000,000,000 498,000
Non-voting convertible preference shares SREETE T MR
of HK$0.001 each A AR AT h%
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 é:%:%ﬁmﬁj —HB»
T HF=A=+—HkK
2 H#=-F=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000
500,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITRERE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each EIREE.001B T ZiEE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 ATETEFOHA—H-
2 H=-A=+—HkK
BT F=R=+—H 20,319,072,320 20,319
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29. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the shares and share premium of the then holding company and the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the group reorganisation on 25
May 1993, together with the amounts transferred from share capital and share
premium account as a result of the capital reduction taken place in August 2001, less
dividends paid, amounts utilised on redemption of shares and amount eliminated
against accumulated losses.

30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

29. EHNRER
AEECBERGAEHERATZ BOEER
B REREAASNER—AA=ZERA-+EA
E@MBAFMBTRHZEEZZE ERER
TZ—F )\ B YR A R A R AR AR
ZEHIE R BT IR B ~ BB (51 8% 15 BT AR 1A SR
SR IB T HIE

30. IRERERERMF
MEEHELEZBRHER:

Amount
Amounts due to
due to ultimate
Interest  non-controlling holding
Borrowings payahle interests company Lease liabilities
IR BARRER
fa i 3NEE) REETIE YNGIE(E] HEaf
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TET THT TET AT
At 1 April 2021 RZB_—&£MmA-AH 791,525 91,698 82,697 1,666 10,461
Changes from cash flows: ReEnELE !
New borrowings raised WEEREN 97736 = = = =
Interest paid BHE (26,513) = = (791)
Payment of principal portion of SRRESRLEHD
the lease liabilities - - - - (6,276)
Advance B = = 68 = =
Repayments B (68,889) = = 1) =
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSMEZEPRE 28,847 (26,513) 68 21) (7,067)
Interest incurred F’%‘ HFE = 75,445 = = 791
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRIEREARNB AR - - = = (562)
Exchange adjustments [?CDH% 235 3,267 2327 = 79
At 31 March 2022 RZBZ_#=A=+-H 842,727 143,897 85,092 1,645 3,702
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (Continued)

30. REREBMEBRME @

MEEPEEZARHR: @

Amount
Amounts due to Amount
due to ultimate due to
Interest non-controlling holding third Lease
Borrowings payahle interests company parties liahilities
FEFTFEEES] BfRAER REE=A
&R FEfIFIE HEmmIE NSIE FRIE HEAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TET TET TERT TET
At 1 April 2020 —E-ZENBA-H 620,476 73,178 76,277 1,675 745 10,447
Changes from cash flows: Renegs .
New borrowings raised MEERT 73,198 = = = = =
Interest paid BRAFE = (17,912) = = = (999)
Payment of principal portion of E'Zfﬁﬁgﬁ%$$§|3ﬁ
the lease liabilities - - - - - (5,543)
Advance i - - 804 = = =
Repayments B (34,582) = = 9 (752) =
Total changes from financing
cash flows MEREREZ LR 38,616 (17,912) 804 9 (752) (6,542)
Interest incurred FERTRIR = 79,619 = = = 999
Additions HhE = = = = = 5,037
Transferred from other payables B Rt IRIEEE 32,324 = = = = =
Transferred from interest payables ~ EFET 7] B &3 49,879 (49,879) = = = =
Exchange adjustments iR A% 50,230 6,692 5,616 - 17 520
At 31 March 2021 RZE_—#=F=+—H 791,525 91,698 82,697 1,666 10 10,461
31. COMMITMENTS &I
2022 2021
—E== B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Commitments contracted for acquisition of ERWEYE  BE &
property, plant and equipment BT AR 52,079 93,390
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

32. AAR

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FEx
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities granted FhiZ FREEYES H
to purchasers of the Group’s properties BB RRITIREZER 517,488 489,776

Note:

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks
in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties.
Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage loans together with
accrued interests thereon and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the
Group is then entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer
obtained the individual property ownership certificate.

The Group’s management, with its assessment of the current and outlook of the market,
perceives that the possibility of default in mortgage loans by home buyers is remote and, in
the event of default, the liabilities caused to the Group will be minimal as the loss will be
adequately mitigated by the proceeds recovered from the sales of the repossessed properties.
Accordingly, no provision is made in the accounts for the guarantees.

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 5 September 2014, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting, the Company announced a
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive to the
employee or other individuals of the Group (the “Participants”) and the Scheme will
be expired on 4 September 2024. Under the Scheme, the Directors is authorised to
grant options at a consideration of HK$1 per option to the Participants the Directors
may determine in its absolute discretion, has made valuable contribution to the
Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issuable under the Scheme cannot
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company. The total number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme is 1,903,907,232 shares, representing
approximately 9.37% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of this report.
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FEEPETRITEE Z RIBRBRMER  ZFIZB
MEW AR EBYEE ]I RIBE R - RIEHE
RZFR HREEDHERZBEN £EEREEHD
RITEEENEFERNZRBERERARBHF B R
FEASR MAERERERZEBRNEZZEME
o ERAREERZBERE N ABES W ES
RS EREERBER

REHHERRASRE AEBEERRE R BRE
B RIZIGERA R SRR A HIREL At
EEBEYEFMRCINAETIER 7T 0 BEEE > Bt
FEMSENEEREMFEMY - EiL > wERERE S
IEREHIREE -

33. HERRHESTE

ATE—OFNBRABE REBEARTRENRKRE
AELEBT ZERBR  AADEH—IEER
HEEHE (T5181) » UmAaEENESE R EMEA
(r20E)) RERE, AEBNR 2 ZHUFENA
OHEm o RIGstE)  EFEEER S ERE
BrzRENESI RN EECBEESAER
EHEREMNSEERHEBERE LERBEAA
Eil 224

R BT FRITZRERDHEFRFBRAEA
BB #ITIRA 2 30% 5t B IE T~ ) (31T HIAR 1D 48
731,903,907, 2322 B8 15 > HER A QBN AR S
HHAE 847 ID 4R B 19499.37% ©
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued to each eligible Participants
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Scheme), within
12-month period cannot exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the proposed date on which the option is being granted unless prior shareholders
approval obtained.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date
the offer together with the payment of nominal consideration of HK$1 per option by
the grantee.

The exercisable period of the option is determinable by the Directors at their
discretion. The expiry date of the option may be determined by the Directors which
shall not be later than the last day of the ten year period from the grant date.

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors and shall be at least the
highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the grant date; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

No option has been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group
contributes lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,500 per month per person
to the MPF Scheme, which is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC Government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the schemes
is to make the required contributions under the schemes. For each of the two
financial years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, no contribution was forfeited (by
employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) under the retirement benefit schemes which may be used by the
Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

33. RBigiEstEl (@
PRIEEIGAIRRFAHE  IM12E R HEARE ST
RigREGERZHERTZROBH (BE
BT ZETRERERTEBRE ~EBEL
ARANEREHBREEABRITRAZ1%

REBREZOD I IEE AHES30A AR AE
AN T EnBREIEBTZRERE

BR AR HEAT S AR B RO B T E < BRAR MR 5 2 2
AMEEEE  BEA LB BB+ FHR
>®%—Ho

THEEHESEERTESERUTRSE (@)
REBAMRPIEAREEMBZROETHE;
(P EFRE R L EE XIS ARE
Bk 2 FHERMIRHE; ROERBRMDEE-

BRI BRIt R o

34. BRABEFIEHE

AR 2 T 5 2 A 0 BRI U AR
S8 (BESHE]) -BWSHBIZAERS
REZAENBE TASHAERZESR
B AEEREMHFERAZUREAEH1,50
B2 REEBRAS B TRAD
BIEHRASRE2 R

AEBZHEEEATEBRNRIIZEARSER
RBHAETEI Z AL 8 - FEIM B2 B BmRKER
FEEHIEHFEETE DL ZH®E FARERE
MzBE2 - RIBFEEHRERNAERER G I
BB zH-—SE-BE_E__EKR_T"—
FZA=Z+—HBIMERTBFESS  RAEH
FHEIIE T AR W R BTHEERETZEMH
MEHEBAIERLFANEES RIBENHEM) A H
AEERMINEERRFEE Z EAIHER
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings
as disclosed in Note 24, offset by bank balances and cash and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. In managing
the Group’s capital structure, the management will also monitor the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings to ensure compliance with financial covenants.

35. BEZERERE

FEBEEEES UEFRAEBRZBRERGE
HUFEEELAEE RANTEBEREHA
RAEZBREZ FEMAKRRFMEAMEER 4
EEBIERER AR BAFER -

FEBZEARBOEER TR (HPEEWE
244X T fER WIRTT T RIS UkER
AHEANEBERED (BRERTREKRER) -5
EEAEEZEARE BEEETREERTK
HifEMZ ERBERURRET T2

2022 2021

—E-= T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Borrowings LR 842,727 791,525

Bank balances and cash IRTTEEREE (522,507) (632,707)

Net borrowings fERCF 28 320,220 158,818

Equity attributable to owners of the Company KAV B AELER 673,461 774,334

Net debts to equity FEHER 47.55% 20.51%
The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this EBBEUFFAREER T EREE - EAETH—

review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the new shares issues and share buy-back as well
as the issuance of new debt.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

36. ®FLTH
(a) Z=RtTE%ER

2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Financial assets EMEE
Assets measured at amortised cost/loans and receivables & IHAtENEE B K
(including bank balances and cash) FEUWARIE (BIEIRTTHEE KIRE) 540,709 670,992
Financial liabilities E =Nl
Liabilities measured at amortised cost BBIER At ENEE 1,004,457 959,835
Lease liabilities HEaRE 3,702 6,272
1,008,159 966,107

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include factoring receivables, loan
receivables, trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash, restricted bank
deposits, trade and other payables, amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amount due to an ultimate holding company, borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of
the Group through internal risk assessment which analyses exposures by degree
and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk (including currency risks and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Directors manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b) TREREREBFERBE
FEEZTESHT AEOERRMRIERIE  EBUK
B BB ZREARHAMBWERE RITER
RFE ZREBTER BUEZRERHEAM
FEAERIE S B IFEER R ERUR B REER
AEMEfERRIBERE - LEEMTAFE
DRIREEN AR

EXZEBREARTL REERTZEEBE DT
Bl BERAEEAAERZEMARZE/MEA
o FRREBETSRAR (BEETRERRFIXR

Rk ~MEERBEORENE SRR o T EIURIE
ZERBZHR - EFEERERILFRRE > X
Bl R BE 2 B B2 8 Rt ER BUE = FE I
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

()  Foreign currency risk management

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk in relation to HKD, EUR and
USD arising from foreign currency bank balance and cash.

The carrying amount of the Group’s material foreign currency denominated
monetary assets/liabilities and inter-group foreign currency balances at the end of
respective reporting periods are as follow:

36. ERIT A (®

(b)) THEAMREEBERBE @®

iy SMEERERE
AEBRTEEEMNSRITEERREFM3IREH
BT BT R ETZINE R S

AEBNTEINESHBEZEREE SERER
BISMBERRN S REMARZREEDT -

2022 2021
—E-C —B_—FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET

Assets BE
HKD BT 111,203 148,536
EUR BT - 9,879
usD E7T 406,808 403,007

The Group currently does not enter into any derivative contracts to minimise the
currency risk exposure. However, the Directors will consider hedging significant
currency risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in HKD, EUR and USD
against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2021: 5%) increase and
decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2021: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used in directors” assessment of the possible reasonably change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items as well as inter-group foreign
currency halances and adjusts their translation at the year ended for a 5% (2021: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A negative number indicates an increase in loss
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currencies. For a 5%
weakening of the RMB against the relevant currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on loss for the year.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
()  Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

36. ERIT A (@

(b)) THEAMREEBERBE @®
i) SMERBRER (@
BEED T (8)

2022 2021
- E—fF

HK$’000 HK$'000

TExT FEx

HKD against RMB BILTRARK (5,560) (7,427)
EUR against RMB MR AR = (494)
USD against RMB ETRARE (20,329) (20,150)

(i)  Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and
other borrowings (Note 24).

As the bank balances and restricted bank deposit interest rates have limited
fluctuation over the year, management of the Group are of the opinion that the
Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented on bank balances and restricted bank deposits.

(iii)  Credit risk management

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECL for factoring receivables, loan receivables, trade receivables, other
receivables and other deposits as at 31 March 2022. The average expected loss rate
is derived from the gross carrying amount and loss allowance as at 31 March 2022
after taken into accounting of the collaterals, historical default rate and forward
looking information.

) FERBEE
A EERSEMETHRETREMER s
24) ZARERIEER

RER ARRTEFERZRERITERIERK
HER AEREEERATERAZZHER
FMEREARBREBRE AL WARZFEREIRITHE
FRERGRITERZERED

i) EEEAREE
TERHEMAEER S —F=A=+—0
PR IBEIE PR R R S AEIE  HAth
FUEIER iR S MAS 2 SRR REHE
BB I o CHRIERS  BPBORRA
EHER THERBEREER S E=
B=+— B @EEEREBEEEN
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. TRIT A @

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) (b) HFREMREEBERBEK (@&
(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued) (iii) EERMEIRE (@&
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARS 1R 3R HERREE EeiaRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2022 RZE__#=RA=+—H FERT FET
Factoring receivables B RIERRIR 100% 72,595 72,595
Loan receivables EWE™ 100% 150,717 150,717
Trade receivables FEU & 5 BRIE 5.6% 2,422 135
Other receivables HhpEWERIE 17.8% 9,143 1,623
Other deposits Hhigs 6.1% 8,558 524
243,435 225,594
Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR E R IREE BERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2021 RZBE_—F=RA=+—H FERT FERT
Factoring receivables FE USRI RIS 100% 71,979 71,979
Loan receivables W ERR 5.89% — 88% 147,121 129,489
Trade receivables e EE 6% 1,387 82
Other receivables Hi U ERIE 10.5% 7,659 803
Other deposits Hitige 5.9% 7,826 461
235972 202,814
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

The changes of the ECL rate is mainly taken the following factors into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly subsequently:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the marco-economic
environment;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse changes in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligation.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the factoring receivables, loan
receivables and trade and other receivables. Management has performed in-
depth due diligence reviews of the financial background and creditability of the
counterparties who owe debts to the Group.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise bank balances
and cash and restricted bank deposits, arises from possible default of the
counterparty is low. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has placed these
deposits with banks and financial institutions of high credit.

Management has a formal credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk
is monitored through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up enquires on
overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group's different customer bases.

36. ERIT A (®

(b)) THEAMREEBERBE @®

(iiiy EERRERE @&
ETHEERREEHERERRERN BHEE
BEEXEHTEERUTEHRE

- ZREEEREZERIFEHRERERL,

- B MBREEBR CRANABSETA
R TEHE WA A EREBNENEE
T4 ;

- EBAKERRZEBERNBEHBAERLE, &

- EHEANEE -CEAKMRREHERNE
HNEARIFEE EREBAEEEHHN
FENRRE T

75 B R 2R B R U IRIBRNIE ~ RN B U B UK
B REREMBURENEERR EEREE
HEXRFTEREBENHFHIHMTERREEE
TRABHES-

FEBHEMEREE (BEBRTEFREEZUR
RRHETER NEERARREHFHENN
FIREMRE -NBRERR  AEEERZEER
FERGEERSNIRITRER/EE-

EEEHET EXRNEHIE DEBTHEE
FEURTE R S AR B IR B R B L E A
5o AL BEFTEER—E B AUBNE ST
fE ARG

FEBENUERN 2 RRMESHBRNSETHRRE
BREEERWEZRENGEER BARNAE
EELEESERERTARATEEFENE
BEAFEREEZE  RILBERARRENEE
BREASE—TSENEERNTREFE-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

36. TRIT A @
b)) ETHEMEEEEZEREER @
(iiiy EERRERE @&

Trade receivables FEWRE ZERIE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TERARS IR = HEREE 5181 A
% HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2022 RIEZZHF=H=4+—H FHET FHET
1 -3 months past due BENEMES 5.6% 2,422 135
Trade receivables W E ZARIE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHRARS IR MREREE E51E R
% HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2021 A B —F=FA=+—H TFHET TFHET
3 -6 months past due BHBE6ME A 5.9% 1,387 82

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of
independent customers that had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no loss allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Loan receivables

Collaterals are obtained in respect of the Group’s loan receivable which made
up to approximately 100% (2021: 81%) of the total loan receivables before
impairment as at 31 March 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of collaterals
for the Group’s loan receivables which are machineries, growing trees and
elevator based on their prevailing market prices or valuation by market approach
amounted to approximately HK$123,071,000, equivalent to RMB99,871,000 (2021:
HK$130,892,000, equivalent to RMB109,259,000).

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to obtain loans from the Group
are subject to management review. In the event of default or failure to repay any
outstanding loan amounts by the customers, the Group will proceed with the sale
of collaterals. In order to maintain the credit risk at desirable level, the Group’s
average loan-to-value ratio was kept below 50% to ensure the recoverability of the
outstanding loan amount. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s exposures
under unexpired loan contracts were secured by the pledged assets of the customers

36. ERITA @

(b) ERAMBEEEEREER ®

(i) FEREERE (&

ERE

7 62 [ /B LR S R AS ﬁ#m’ﬁm_vii

=R=+—HRERMEWEREEEL100% (=

T—F181%) oRIEIHFE=ZA=+—8" $

EEEWRE TR B BAR R P ER R

ERETHBERIEHTBLIHENBERRAR

E4975123,071,00078 70 > 18 E 7 A K #599,871,000
7T (CTT T —4£ 1 130,892,00058 70 FHE R AR

109,259,0007T) ©

FEBNBERAAEREEFAERERZERY
ARREENE MEFAHERIAREFEBETMAR

BNZERSH ~EEREERRL AER
FEERRPEBREKE  REBFHEREMBELE
HERFS0% AT U RIEBIREN 2 B EEE
RIBZZERZZEZI—F=R=+—8 &2
AE/EERES AEERERIBZERSE

as follows, at fair value/net assets value: NIEAZR ZIRWMEEWNT !
2022 2021
== T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Biological assets EEE 123,071 130,892
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b)
(i)

Factoring receivables

Credit risk management (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a high concentration of credit risk

as all receivables were due from six parties as at 31 March 2022. In order to minimise

the credit risk, the Group obtained guarantees from related companies of the third

parties, who agreed to provide guarantees of the factoring receivables to the Group

in case of default. The directors consider that both the third parties and its related

companies have sufficient financial capacity to repay the factoring receivables.

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the collaterals under unexpired factoring contracts

are not permitted to sell or re-pledge by the Group in the event of default by the

debtors.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan receivables, factoring

receivables, trade and other receivables during the years is as follows:

36. RIT A (&

(b) =HEAMREEBERBER @)
(i) EEEKRERE (@)
JEWRIEZIE

R-B-__F=ZRB=+—R'"/TEREREBEE
B AEEEFABWIRIESRB/NBEI AT
MmEAESEETNEERR A THRERBEE
B xEBEE =S ZEBADESER S
=HRBRAEEONER TRERKRERER T E
ERUER - EFIR/BZN REMRBLBEHEAR
R BEE N BB BRI IR

RIE- —FRE-_—F=A=+—H 1R
BARFBRESN BEABRNRAATAER
HENBIRPZIEFRC

RIREWE R BURIZERIE BN E S RER
HMEWARTE A FEE BB HEREEFHUOT ¢

HK$'000 HK$'000
TFET FET
At 1 April 2020 S _EB_BFINA—AH 195,382
Impairment losses recognised during the year KEFEEERRDBERE 57,484
Reversal of impairment loss recognised before B OIBERRRERE 771)
Derecognised & IETERR (63,110)
Exchange adjustments bE 0 sR 13,829 7432
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 \C:’;:—fﬁiﬁzwL—EiEz
B —FMNA—H 202,814
Impairment losses recognised during the year KEEEERRDBERSE 18,310
Reversal of impairment loss recognised before BEBERTIRERE (83)
Exchange adjustments PE R 4,553 22,780
At 31 March 2022 B _HF=B=+—H 225,594
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Contingent liabilities

For properties held for sale which are subject to pre-sales agreements, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing
of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up
to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank holding the
mortgage may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and
any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain
the customer’s purchase deposit and sell the property to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of bank balances and cash deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31 March
2022, the Group has borrowings of approximately HK$842,727,000 (Note 24) (2021:
HK$791,525,000).

36. ERIT A (®

(b)) THEAMREEBERBE @®

(iii) EERMEIRE (@&

BYAE &

MEEERZERETN 2 HFEYMEMS > AEE—K&K
MELAEEYEMETREMEH ZIZIBER
ZERARITRERER BEREEReSWER
BEBZ70% M8 A RERABREERIZIB
FOARERBZRITHERAEEEERER
Z2ERREREBEAFE - RZEBRT K
EETINRERZEERESRHEYZE LD
REEBBRTENZ2EMRIB-RILEMS  EE
RAAEBRZEERBEERER D

(ivy RHEERKRER

TEEBERETRE I E AEEGEERERE
EERARHZRITEGFRIAEKTE  UBLRE
EreERHEESRRARREERERIZFE-
BEERERITEMZERER  FRNREREST

54}7$ o

AREBRBEREARDESTZEERR
B _F=ZA=+—H AEBRZEX
#7842,727,0008 ¢ ([5t24) (ZEBEZ—F:
791,525,00058 7T) ©
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. TRIT A @

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) (b) ERAMEBZFEEEREE @
(iv) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (ivy WEEEREERE (@
Liquidity table BB ER

TRFVNEFEBFTESRERZHBRTEHF
HeZRNDIREBEAEBENAREREESHMER
ZRFPEPZEMBERATRRERERER

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its
non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.

Weighted On demand Total
average or within 1t02 25 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
HED T FRRE
As at 31 March 2022 RZB_"#=ZRA=1+-A AT H|= R—ER 152 2555 SENE MELE REfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn Ti#n TiEn TiEn TR TR
Non-derivative financial Liabilities: FTEERaE!
Trade and other payables B 5 RBRAMETRE 74,993 - - - 74,993 74,993
Amount due to ultimate holding company EIREERAGTE 1,645 = = = 1,645 1,645
Amount due to non-controlling interests [E(IERGIE BB 85,092 - - - 85,092 85,092
Borrowings, fixed rate & BEEHE 10.5% 585,703 96,259 215,765 - 897,727 842,727
Lease liabilities fEaRE 10.0% 3,801 - - - 3,891 3,702
751,324 96,259 215,765 - 1,063,348 1,008,159
Financial guarantee contracts: HBEREH .
Maximum amount guaranteed (Note 32) RRERSE (H:32) 517,488 - - - 517,488 -
On
Weighted demand or Total
average within 1t02 25 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
BRERY, FRREE
As at 31 March 2021 RZBZ-#=A=1+-H IET IR = R—5R 122 1B5E SELLE MERE REE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR TAR  TEr  TER  TER
Non-derivative financial Liabilities: FHTEsReR:
Trade and other payables B85 RBREAMETRE = 79758 = = = 79,758 79758
Amount due to ultimate holding company I REERARRE - 1,666 - - - 1,666 1,666
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FE(IEERIEG B = 82,697 = = = 82,697 82,697
Borrowings, fixed rate a0 BRERE 10.5% 636,369 77451 106495 S 820315 791525
Lease liabilties REEE 10.6% 7,062 4233 182 - 11477 10461
807,552 81,684 106,677 - 995,913 966,107
Financial guarantee contracs; HBEREN.
Maximum amount guaranteed (Note 32) REEFREE () 489,776 = = = 489,776 =

The above liquidity table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
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37(a). DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into agreement with one
of the non-controlling interest, Vintage Gold Management Limited, to dispose of
its interest in a 90% indirectly owned subsidiary, Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited,
which was an investment holding company controlling interests in associates (Note),
at cash consideration of USD3,000,000. The disposal was completed in May 2021
and the Group recognised a gain on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately
HK$22,705,000.

Net assets of Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited at the date of disposal are as follows:

37(a). HEMEBAE
BHE_Z - _F-RB=+—HULEFE Fx&EH
HEAP IR mEE éi@ﬁrﬁﬁ@ja?4
Wik URIBE SR BEA3,000,000E T HEEHS
—XEERERIO%E R EUMTF’&TJ%HJ%}’“HxE
RAB (—REGHE QAR ENEEZER AR
(Meh)) IR - ZHESER -2 —F4
B RAEEBRILEMNBLRINUEL
22,705,00078 7T ©

BRERERADNHEAHNEEFENT !

HK$'000

TFET
Cost of interest in associates RBERT 2 EmZ AR 56,648
Impairment BE (56,648)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE -
Cash consideration received BWEIREAREB 23,400
Less: Net assets disposed of B BEHEBETE =
Less: Amount due from a subsidiary waived B BRREW—RITB AR ZFE (695)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEK BB MG 22,705

An analysis of net cash inflow of bank balances and cash in respect of disposal of a
subsidiary is as follows:

ERHENBABNRTEERRENREERA
FEAOMUT ¢

HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration received BUWEIREE 23,400
Net cash inflow of bank balances and cash RITEFEAIRENIRERAFE 23,400
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37(a). DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

37(a). HEMBAR @

Note: B 5T
31 March
2022
=
=H=+—H
HK$’000
FHET
Cost of interest in associates REE AR 2 #m 2 AR 56,648
Share of post-acquisition loss and other comprehensive income  FE{SUR BB 5B R E 2 EURA (56,648)
Disposed of during the year FRALE =

37(b). DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 November 2021, IBS HK, a subsidiary of the Group, was put into winding up
petition by a creditor in The High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Court”).

On 21 February 2022, IBS HK was informed that the Court has made an order
(the “Order”) to accept the petition for the winding up of IBS HK. The provisional
liquidators were appointed in relation to the winding up of IBS HK.

Accordingly, the Group had deconsolidated IBS HK and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) as the Directors considered that the
Group’s control over Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had been lost. The net liabilities of
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries at the date of deconsolidation were as follows:
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37(b). DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37(b). #RIHFEESAKRMEAR @
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost are as follows: HEXZFHIRNEELRBEN U T !
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB R 98
Intangible assets mEEE =
Trade and other receivables FEN B 5 AR 18 I LA FE UK BRIE 88
Bank balances and cash RITEFERIES 15,999
Trade and other payables B ZRIBREME([TIRIE (32,434)
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FENE R B A TRIE 145,464
Amount due to intermediate holding company FE B ER A B FIE (254,568)
Lease liabilities HEaE (562)
Net liabilities deconsolidated BIEEREARNEEE (125,915)
Net liabilities deconsolidated BIEFREARNFEE (125,915)
Add: Amount due to intermediate holding company 1 BERARENPEER AR ZHIE
waived 254,568
Less: Amount due from a fellow subsidiary waived B ERREWRRNEB AT ZRIE (145,464)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries LIRS AREB AR 2 W m (16,811)

An analysis of net cash outflow of bank balances and cash in respect of HARIRIGEEARKWBATNEITEERIESH

deconsolidation of subsidiaries is as follows: WEMEPFEINUT -
HK$'000
FHET
Bank balances and cash deconsolidated BIFES ARNIRTEERIRE (15,999)
Net cash outflow of bank balances and cash RITHEFEAIREINIRE R P EE (15,999)
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

38. AT ZMFERRR K HE

COMPANY
2022 2021
—E=Z 2"

HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZKE 124 89,819
Property, plant and equipment M- MEKREE 249 2,768
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E =] 284,677 164,289
285,050 256,876

Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEUNE 5 R Eth R IR AR 1B 1,149 1,111
Bank balances and cash IRITHEERERS 507,412 546,610
508,561 547,721
Current liabilities REAaE

Trade and other payables FET B 5 RIB R BT ERIE 2,077 2,174
Amounts due to subsidiaries I B AR FIA 45,357 1,068
Amount due to ultimate holding company I REER A B IE 1,645 1,666
Lease liabilities HEas 220 2,511
49,299 7,419
Net current assets MENBEEFE 459,262 540,302

Non-current liabilities ERBMERE
Lease liabilities HEESE - 220
Net assets BERE 744,312 796,958

Capital and reserves B R (et
Share capital (Note 28) B (Fi5E28) 20,319 20,319
Reserves HE 723,993 776,639
Total equity Mg 744,312 796,958

On behalf of the board of directors

Yuen Leong
R
Director

EF
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 38. AR Z BB RREEHE @
COMPANY (Continued)

Reserves B
Capital
Share Share redemption Accumulated
Capital premium reserve losses Total
fg s RIDEE BFRBCGHE REtEiR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FTET TET TET
At 1 April 2020 RZIZ2ZZEMAE—H 20,319 9,009,799 3,781 (8,222,769) 811,130
Loss and total comprehensive income FRBEREZAEKRALLEE
for the year - - - (14172) (14,172)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZB_—F=A=+—H
kZEZ-FNA—H 20,319 9,009,799 3,781 (8,236,941) 796,958
Loss and total comprehensive income FRBEEREEWRALELE
for the year - - - (72,965) (72,965)
At 31 March 2022 RZE-"F=B=+—H 20319 9,009,799 3781 (8,309,906) 723,993
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. XEBFERBATI Z:FE
(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (@ ZTATRZHEBAR

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are as follows: KRB ZWBABEBNT -

Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
g B#17/
EaL A Hf RS ER A FAREREERE TEER EERR
2022 2021
ZECZf CEC-F
Directly held
BRFE
Surplus Rich Investments Limited The BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Management service to group  Private limited liability
EERUHE /B 1% companies company
REEARRMEERYE MABRAT
Chaoyue Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BHLEERERAT &5/ 5%8 = REER company
BWABRRF
Successtime Limited The BVI/Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
HRBRAT EBRUEE/BE (S BEER company
MABRAT
Longday International Limited The BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
FAHBIRERAR EERUHE /B 1% REER company
MABRAT
IBS Investment Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
B EEEERERRAR R/ BR 1007875 REZR company
BWABRRF
FEMBREREERAR The PRC/The PRC RMB225,063,500 100% 100%  Finance leasing PRC wholly-foreign-owned
(Shanghai Jiajin Financing Lease Co. Ltd*) FE,/ N #6225,063,5007T RERE enterprise with limited
liability
FESNEEERRAT
Rising Vast Limited The BVI/Hong Kong Us$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EHERAE BERYEHE/BE ES REZRE Company
MABRAE
Besting Capital Limited The BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BREEAERAR HERUHE /BB 1% REER Company
BWABRRF
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

39. AEFEFEMBATZHE @

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ ZFTAFZHEBAT
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
ML B#17/
218 e HMRAERE FRFAEHREERE TEER HERR
2022 2021
ZEIZE  IZZZ-H§
Indirectly held
R
Pride Delight Limited The BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
HMRERAT EERUHE /B 1% REER company
MABRAT
Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited The BVI/Hong Kong Us$100 - 90%  Investment holding Private limited liability
ERZERERAR EBRUME/ B 10075 REZR company
BWABRRF
A (B1) CEEBERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB12,500,000 60% 60%  Consultancy service and Domestic company with
(United (Fujian) Enterprise Management e,/ AR 12,500,0007T trading of goods limited liability
Company Limited*) BERELERES BRERAT
N EMEEEXLEEERAR The PRC/The PRC RMB200,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group A,/ A 200,000,0007% MELRE limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAE
EREERERRAT The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Guangxi Changhua Investment Co. Ltd*) HE,/ e AE#10,000,0007T MELR limited liability
BRERAT
ERGEEZERAR The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Guang Yizheng Trading Co. Ltd*) FE,/ AE 10,000,000 MEERE limited liaility
BRBRAF
MNEMEEEXEBERARRES The PRC/The PRC N/A 70% 70%  Hotel service Branch of domestic
TEEEED AR FE,/ i SR company with limited
(Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Zhiye Group Co, Ltd liahility
Wyndham Hotel branch) BRERARZA AR
Jiahe Investment Management Co. Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Money lending Private limited liability
MR EEERRAR BB/ BR 1007875 B8 company
BWABRRF
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

(@) FRBRZKMEBAT @)

39. AEFEFEMBATZHE @

Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
g B#17/
EaL A Hf RS ER A FAREREERE TEER EERR
2022 2021
ZEIZE  IZZZ-H§
Indirectly held (Continued)
RS (&)
International Business Settlement Limited Hong Kong/The PRC HK$10,000 - 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
BREEEEERAT &8,/ TE 10,0007 75 R EEERE company
HABRAT
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co,, Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$234,000,010 70% 70%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EREBRENZERAT BB/ B8 234,000,010 7T BEER company
MABRRA
Fujian Unicon Optical Co.,Ltd The PRC/The PRC USD 30,000,000 70% 70%  Contact lens business PRC wholly-foreign-owned
BEEBMEAZERAT FE,/ 30,000,000% 7 B AR 25 enterprise with limited
liability
FESNEBEERRAR
Chongging Globehill Company Limited The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
BERREERY EB) FRAT FE,/FE A 10,000,0007T B EEEERS company
MABRAE
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 51% - Leasingand trading of Private limited liability
AR (&E ERAE BB/ BR 10,000 7T computer equipment company
HEREESEREZE  AABRAS
“Globebill” Limited Liability Company Kyrgyzstan/Kyrgyzstan KGS 1,000,000 - 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
I'Globebill } Limited Liability Company ST/ S8 1,000,000 8 B EEEHRYE company
SIS BWABRLR
IBS Kazakhstan Limited Liability Partnership Kazakhstan/Kazakhstan KZT 1,000,000 - 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
IATER B, T E S 1,000,00082 %, B EEERE company
iz} MABRAT
UAB “IBS” Lithuania Lithuania/Lithuania EUR 2,000,000 - 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
UAB T IBS J Lithuania MFE%E,/ I HE5E 2,000,000B% 75 R EEERE company
MABRRA
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. ZEFFEMRBATIZEHE @

(Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (a) Z2BEZHBAR @)
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
g B#17/
EaL A Hf RS ER A FAREREERE TEER EERR
2022 2021
ZECZfF CEC-F
Indirectly held (Continued)
RS (&)
Kwok Tin Enterprises Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BEXREEERAT BB/ B8 187T REER company
MABRAT
BNERCEEEFRAR The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Guotian Enterprises Management HE,/ e A E#1,000,0007T REER limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAH
BNE—EERBRRAE The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Guoyi Enterprises Management e,/ A E11,000,0007T RERR limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAT
IBST Technology Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
UEREREITERAR &8/ B8 10,000 7T REER company
MABRAT
BE4E Ot REERAS The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000/ 100% 100%  IBS service Domestic company with
(Yibosiging (Beijing) Technology HE,/ e RMB Nil EIREEEBIRS limited liability
Company Limited*) A E#10,000,00075 BRERAH
/AREZT

* The English name is for identification purpose only
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP
(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group as at

31 March 2022 and 2021 that have material non-controlling interests.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of Liuzhou Zhenghe
and its wholly owned subsidiaries and Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited and
its wholly owned subsidiary, which have material non-controlling interests are set
out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below represented
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

39. AEFEFEMBATZHE @

() BEHERFEGEEZIFZEMBAR

CIE
TREFAERBE_ S __FRE—F=
B=+—HEREAFZHEmZIF2ENBR
EEIEE

INEMRE2ENB AR UREBEMELE
BERRABREEZENBARER EAIFEFIE
m HRaWHENBAN T - UTREMBE
I EEEERN AR BHHNEE-

Ownership
interests and Total comprehensive
Place of incorporation/ rights held by income allocated to Accumulated
Names of subsidiaries operation non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
IR Z NEEIFEFEREZ
MEARAHE SRR S BEEESRET ZEKALE EH ezl
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
k- et g5 IZ2ZZ “E--&F IZEZZ ET-&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR T
Liuzhou Zhenghe and its subsidiaries The PRC/The PRC 30% 30% (14,432) (12,815) (14,714) (282)
IMEMRERBAR FE,/FE
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong
and its subsidiary 30% 30% (6,258) (2,69) 60,563 66,821
ERBMEASZERAS KANEAR &8/ &8
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 131 (157) 759 628
ERBAEAMERFEEGZHEAR
(20,559) (15,664) 46,608 67,167
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. ZEFFEMRBATIZEHE @

(Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- (b)) HEEEKRIEIZFIESZZIEREHREL
controlling interests (Continued) G -RE)

HINEMREZEREBAT :

Liuzhou Zhenghe and its wholly owned subsidiaries:

2022 2021
== T4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue WA 292,042 75,733
Loss for the year FERNEE (47,456) (11,757)
Total comprehensive income 2HEUWALELE (48,106) 42,717)
Loss allocated to non-controlling interests DEEEIEEHIER Z EE (14,237 (3,527)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BEIEEF#DRE - -
Cash generated from operating activities KETHMERE 85,073 51,874
Cash generated from/(used in) investing activities REFEE/ FiR) Re 41 (4,415)
Cash used in financing activities RhEEENFTA Iﬁ% (85,093) (47,654)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 91 G B R 55 ) 11 30
Net cash inflows/(outflows) RERA/ CRd) 358 32 (165)
As at 31 March W=B=+—8
Current assets MENEE 1,815,764 1,988,807
Non-current assets ERMEE 248,562 245,981
Current liabilities VIEIR=N (2,113,373) (2,235,729)
Non-current liabilities EREEE = =
Net liabilities FafE (49,047) (941)
Accumulated non-controlling interests RETIEEFIRR (14,714) (282)
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. ZEFFEMRBATIZEHE @

(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- (b)) HEEEKRIEIZFIESZZIEREHREL

controlling interests (Continued) asEE (@
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary: ERABHRENABERAGKREZEWEBAR :
2022 2021
=== B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue A 2,159 1,829
Loss for the year FERNEE (40,565) (13,708)
Total comprehensive income ESENPN L (20,854) (8,973)
Loss allocated to non-controlling interests DEEEIEEHIER 2 EE (12,170) 4,112)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BIEEF#DRE - -
Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities &SRS FrA) /FrisiRs (89,027) 19,774
Cash used in investing activities KEEEMARSE (56,829) (111,777)
Cash generated from financing activities REEEHFEIRE 110,911 91,960
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEXREEF T &8 11,216 1,963
Net cash (outflows)/inflows R& R/ THmAEEE (23,729) 1,920
As at 31 March W=B=+—H
Current assets RENEE 33,662 30,999
Non-current assets ERFMEE 516,756 447159
Current liabilities MEIEE (160,682) (100,267)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (187,855) (155,156)
Net assets BEFE 201,881 222,735
Accumulated non-controlling interests et IETH R E 60,563 66,821
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40. MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts, no contracts of significance to which

the Company’s subsidiary was a party and in which a director of the Company or

an entity connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the financial year.

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board on 24
June 2022.

40. EFNRZ LHHAGHPFZEKX
fEx

BREFZRBEQN RYBFEERIFR B

BEANGDNB AR ERUBERITNINERS

K TIEAANRESNAEETAREZERER

HEENETEEEARTNERGH

41. REQHRER
HEGORREEAERAN LEEAREE
o

42. HEMFERRK

ZMBRREN S ZFEAA+HBEEES
GHERIREE M
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R FIBHE

RESULTS E¥
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C B IZE-Z —E—NE ZE—)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE FHET FHET FET
Revenue WA 304,416 85,521 393,536 827,848 543,333
Loss for the year attributable to FEME AR
Owners of the Company RABEBA (119,137) (132,284) (175,491) (217,980) (67,640)
Non-controlling interests FEEE IR (26,034) (7,766) (9,347) 6,368 2,470
(145,171) (140,050) (184,838) (211,612) (65,170)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
- “E-—fF ZZT-TFE ZE-hE ZT-N\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEx FHET FHET FET
Total assets BEE 3,159,851 3,363,492 2,973,927 3,317,118 4,541,320
Total liabilities B1EE% (2,439,782) (2,521,991) (1,994,601) (2,214,816) (3,210,644)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 720,069 841,501 979,326 1,102,302 1,330,676
Equity attributable to owners RABHER NED
of the Company s 673,461 774,334 896,495 1,079,790 1,314,039
Non-controlling interests Elsearillrm 46,608 67,167 82,831 22,512 16,637
TOTAL EQUITY MBrEs 720,069 841,501 979,326 1,102,302 1,330,676
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